
Annual Report  
and Accounts 2011www.mouchel.com

M
ouchel A

nnual Report and Accounts 2011



Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011 01

Overview

Overview
Key performance indicators 2 
Financial headlines 2 
Chairman’s statement 3 
Business headlines 3

Business review
Introducing Mouchel 4 
Operations and performance 8 
Business sector reviews 11 
– Highways 11 
– Government and Business Services 13 
– Regulated Industries 15 
– Management Consulting 17 
People 18 
Corporate responsibility and sustainability 20 
Principal risks and uncertainties 24 

COntentS

Governance
Board of Directors 28 
Directors’ report 29 
Corporate governance report 34 
Remuneration report 40

Financial statements
Consolidated income statement 51 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income 51 
Group and Company balance sheet 52 
Consolidated cash flow statement 53 
Consolidated and Company statement  
of changes in equity 54 
Independent auditors’ report to the  
members of Mouchel Group plc 56 
notes to the financial statements 57 
Five-year financial summary 103 
Shareholder information 104



02 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011

Overview

Revenue £m

£551.4m

Cash conversion before 
exceptional costs %

250% 

448.4

656.7
740.6

632.6

07 08 09 10

551.4

11

94 91
69

171

07 08 09 10

250

11

31.4
38.0

32.8

70.3

07 08 09 10

39.3

11

33.0

41.7
47.3

41.2

07 08 09 10

15.7

11

7.4
6.5 6.4 6.5

07 08 09 10

2.9

11

21.0

25.7 26.4

18.9

07 08 09 10

-0.5

11

Underlying operating 
margins %

2.9%

Operating cash flow 
before exceptional items £m

£39.3m

Adjusted earnings per share p

-0.5p

Order book 
(contracts won) £m3

Contract wins and renewals

Performance

£1,425m 

1,500

2,100

1,863 1,824

07 08 09 10

1,425

11

1,400

2,200 2,163 2,171

07 08 09 10

2,172

11

46

33

25

48

07 08 09 10

12

11

Bidding pipeline (potential 
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£2,172m

Contract win rate %

12%

Underlying operating 
profit £m

£15.7m

Financial headlines
• Underlying revenue of £539.6m, 

a decrease of 14.7% on 
2009/10.

• Underlying operating profit of 
£15.7m, a decrease of 61.9%, 
with underlying operating 
margins1 down 55% to 2.9%.

• exceptional items before tax of 
£69.8m, an increase of 54%.

• Adjusted earnings per share1,2 
decreased 102.6% from 18.9p 
to (0.5)p.

• net cash generated from 
operations before exceptional 
items £39.3 m, down 44% on 
last year.

• Year-end net bank borrowings 
increased from £83.3m to 
£87.7m.

• Loss for the year after tax 
£68.6m.

¹ Underlying operating profit, underlying 
operating margins and adjusted 
earnings per share exclude exceptional 
items (including the annual amortisation 
of intangible assets arising from business 
combinations) – see note 3 for full details 
2 Adjusted earnings per share is 
calculated after adding back shares held 
by the employee share trusts to the 
weighted average number of shares and 
adjusting earnings for exceptional items 
(net of taxation) 
3 Pipeline and order book figures 
reduced to reflect sale of rail and pipeline 
design business

Contract wins and renewals

Performance

KeY PeRFORMAnCe InDICAtORS 
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Business headlines
• A disappointing year due to a 

range of factors including UK 
Government measures to tackle 
the budget deficit, disruption as a 
result of takeover speculation and 
underperformance of parts of the 
business. 

• new and strengthened 
management team with the 
appointment of Grant Rumbles as 
Chief executive and Rod Harris as 
Group Financial Director.

• Pursued measures to reduce cost 
base and provide greater stability, 
including the disposal of rail and 
pipeline design business. 

• encouraging start in developing 
Australasia business in partnership 
with Downer, including success in 
three Western Australian highway 
maintenance contracts worth 
£138m to Mouchel over five years. 
now pursuing opportunities on the 
east Coast of Australia. 

• Strategic wins during the year 
included: 
- a contract with the Highways 
Agency (HA), in joint venture with 
thales, to run the national traffic 
Information Service (ntIS), worth 
£28.5m to Mouchel over seven 
years;  
- a five-year extension to our BPO 
partnership with Middlesbrough 
Council worth around £70m; 
- a new 10-year incremental 
partnership contract with 
Bournemouth Council worth £148m 
over ten years.

• Reduced, but strong order book 
(£1.4bn at 31 July 2011). 

• Continuing pressure on turnover, 
margins and pipeline. 

• the Board’s expectations for the 
current year, compared with 2011, 
are significantly reduced.  

CHAIRMAn’S StAteMent 

Mouchel has experienced a difficult year and 
our results have been disappointing. Our 
markets have remained depressed as a result 
of the global economic downturn and as a 
result of Government measures to tackle the 
budget deficit. Mouchel’s business has also 
been disrupted in the year by takeover 
discussions and banking/financial issues 
which have had an impact on our ability to win 
work. even against this backdrop we have 
underperformed, particularly in our 
Management Consulting division and in the 
Middle east. We have much to do.

We understand the climate we now operate in 
and we have continued to manage our cash 
position carefully during the year, to work with 
banks to refinance the business, and to focus 
on service delivery. However, we believe that 
we can do more to improve our own business 
performance. 

to move Mouchel on to the next stage, we 
have made changes to strengthen our Board 
and have appointed Grant Rumbles as our 
new Chief executive and Rod Harris as our 
Finance Director. We are actively seeking a 
new chairman who can lead the company 
through the recovery ahead.

Mouchel has a strong core business – we 
have excellent staff and we provide services 
that our clients need and value. We 
successfully help government organisations to 
change the way they operate – we must 
continue to do likewise by improving our own 
operating model and reducing costs, and we 
now have the management team in place to 
make sure this happens.

We are also pleased to announce that we 
have reached agreement with our lenders on 
the terms of an amendment to our banking 
facilities. (Further details of these amendments 
are disclosed in the Finance Director’s report 
on page 8.)

the short-term outlook will continue to be 
difficult. the markets are not going to change 
overnight and public organisations will 
continue to face cutbacks in spending. this 
presents both a challenge and an opportunity 
for Mouchel as we help public bodies to 
address their own challenges and improve 
their services.  

We have not performed to our potential or to 
our own expectations over the last year. 
However, Mouchel has continued to trade 
profitably on an underlying basis during the 
period. We have leading positions in our core 
markets of Highways, and Local Government, 
and a clear vision to do likewise in Regulated 
Industries. We have the expertise and ability to 
deliver sustainable long-term growth for the 
benefit of all stakeholders.

I am confident that the changes we have 
made to the management team and our plans 
to improve our operations and reduce debt will 
put us in a more stable and profitable position 
in the future. 

Sir Michael Lyons 
Interim Chairman
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Highways business, we plan to retain and 
grow this market sector. We will also continue 
to invest in Australasia and to identify other 
suitable opportunities overseas.

Now that we have secured our financial 
position with our lenders, my focus will turn to 
a strategic review of Mouchel. We will develop 
a strategy that will improve our competitive 
position in the marketplace, but will also plan 
for future changes in the economy. We will 
make sure that Mouchel has the agility to react 
to any given situation – whether it is 
opportunities as we climb out of recession or 
further safeguards should prospects not 
improve for some time. With the continued 
support of the markets, banks, clients and our 
staff, I am confident that we will improve the 
performance of the business significantly.

Introducing Mouchel
Mouchel is an infrastructure and business 
services group that provides design, 
managerial, engineering and operational 
services to support modern society. We work 
with UK government agencies, local authorities 
and with industries regulated by government to 
provide safe and reliable roads, effective and 
well managed local education and civic 
infrastructure, clean water and cost-effective 
energy. Mouchel has helped identify 
opportunities for government to work more 
effectively to deliver improved services and has 
worked in partnership with these same 
organisations to deliver these more efficiently. 

For more than a century, Mouchel has been 
helping to shape and transform the world we 
live in. In 1897, Louis Gustave Mouchel first 
brought the patent for reinforced concrete to 
the UK and, following its introduction, there 
were huge strides in engineering as we used 
our ingenuity to pioneer its use in all aspects of 
construction, such as the first bridges made 
out of the material; the first UK skyscraper (the 
Liver Building built in 1909); the chimneys for 
Battersea Power Station; and, in the time of 
war, floating concrete structures called 

Mouchel has a strong underlying business 
with good people. Whilst performance was 
disappointing last year, I’ve already seen 
enough since I started as Chief Executive in 
October 2011 to feel confident that we can do 
much better. There is some hard work ahead, 
but, based on what I have seen so far, I am 
excited about the opportunities for Mouchel, 
the support we can deliver to our clients and 
the value we can generate for our 
stakeholders in the longer term.

A variety of factors, both internal and external, 
have made the past year particularly difficult 
for Mouchel. The economic downturn and 
Government steps to reduce public spending 
have influenced our results for a second year. 
The business has also suffered from 
disruption as Mouchel was subject to takeover 
speculation and refinancing anxieties which 
have influenced clients’ decisions about 
awarding us work. 

Against this backdrop, Mouchel has failed to 
fully appreciate the effect of the economic 
downturn and has failed to fundamentally 
address some of our declining markets and 
our associated cost base. In addition, we have 
failed to accurately forecast performance 
which has resulted in several downgrades to 
our/market profit expectations. 

To bring about change, we will focus on items 
under our control, such as service delivery, 
our client relationships, our cash position, our 
cost base and the development of our 
pipeline. We have streamlined our operations 
in response to the reduced amount of work, 
but there is much more to be done to ensure 
that our overhead costs are fit for purpose. 

As part of our focus on our core business, the 
rail and pipeline design businesses were sold 
in October 2011. However, following a review 
of our Middle East business, we have decided 
to keep it as part of Mouchel rather than to 
proceed with its planned disposal. Given the 
size and the opportunities for potential growth 
in the region, particularly for our core 

BUSINESS REvIEW
Chief Executive overview

Mulberry Harbours which helped the D-Day 
landings. 

Today, Mouchel continues to transform 
society, but in ways that are less visible. Our 
focus has shifted to bringing innovation and 
efficiency to the management and operation 
of assets as well as to the way we deliver 
support services to public bodies. Through 
our long-term partnerships with local 
authorities and Government agencies we have 
introduced new ways of working which have 
enhanced customer experience, maximised 
value for money, and reduced overall costs. In 
Bournemouth, for example, we are on target 
to help the Council achieve 40% savings by 
2021, which will equate to around £256m over 
10 years. Achieving this scale of cost 
reduction, whilst at the same time maintaining 
and enhancing frontline services, requires 
fundamental organisational changes which 
Mouchel helps to identify and implement. 

Mouchel provides services for the broader 
benefit of society. Our current strategy is to 
focus on our core public sector markets: 
Highways, Local Government and Regulated 
Industries, which will be supported by our 
Management Consulting business-change 
expertise. This enables us to build on our 
market leading positions and our management 
and technical skills to provide excellence to our 
clients. These markets offer the Group the 
potential for sustained organic growth. 

Our ability to build long-term partnerships is 
one of Mouchel’s core strengths and we plan 
to target, win and deliver long-term integrated 
contracts, where we can draw together our 
advisory and consulting skills with project and 
service delivery. This approach has high 
barriers to entry and hence fewer competitors 
and increases long-term business security 
and profit. 

Mouchel’s operations are managed  
across four business streams: Highways, 
Government and Business Services, Regulated 
Industries and Management Consulting. Most 
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of Mouchel’s services are delivered in the UK 
with only 7% of revenue delivered in Europe, 
the Middle East and Australia.

Our Highways business is a market leader in 
the management and operation of highway 
networks, with an emphasis on the use of 
technology to achieve customer outcomes. 
We help clients to deliver improvements 
throughout the whole life cycle of a road asset, 
through innovative and thought leading 
solutions. Our growth in this sector will come 
from exploiting our leading position to win the 
next generation of larger central government 
contracts and the increasing number and size 
of local government contracts. We will 
continue to explore opportunities in the Middle 
East and Australasia.

Mouchel’s Government and Business Services 
business is one of the UK’s largest providers of 
outsourced professional and support services 
to local authorities. We also support other 
public bodies, including the police and fire and 
rescue services through long-term strategic 
transformational partnerships.

Mouchel operates the largest number of local 
government strategic service-deliver 
partnerships in the UK and our plans for 
growth come from extending the number of 
services we provide to our existing customers 
and from winning new partnerships. As 
predicted, we are seeing an increased number 
of local government partnerships being 
procured as councils continue to drive for cost 
reductions and service improvement to deliver 
better outcomes for the communities they 
serve. In existing partnerships we are working 
closely with our customers to help meet their 
challenging budgets. 

Our Regulated Industries business provides a 
broad range of services to UK utility 
companies, and other organisations regulated 
by Government. This includes strategic 
consultancy, asset maintenance, 
multidisciplinary design, modelling and a 
‘one-stop shop’ of engineering and 

environmental services. The business also 
undertakes a number of operational activities 
including leakage detection. 

Following the disposal of our rail and pipeline 
design businesses, our Regulated Industries 
business will focus on the water and energy 
markets, and other specialist areas such as 
geotechnical and environmental services. 
Growth will be achieved by building on our 
strong position of delivering infrastructure 
projects and single services in order to provide 
integrated contracts and long-term service 
partnerships. We are also exploring 
opportunities for our Regulated Industries 
business through our joint venture in 
Australasia.

The Group’s Management Consulting 
business provides professional services 
spanning all our markets in areas of business, 
including transformation, performance 
improvement, efficiency, cost reduction, and 
managed services. Clients work in local and 
central government organisations, health, 
education, transport and utilities.

The Government market for consulting 
services has substantially declined and it is 
expected that this reduced market will 

continue for a considerable time. As part of the 
strategic review of the business, we plan to 
look at refocusing the Management Consulting 
division to concentrate on its core 
transformational capability, which is integral to 
our knowledge transfer processes, helping 
them to win and deliver operational contracts. 

To support our plans for growth, we will 
continue to evolve our operating model and 
maintain our focus on reducing the direct cost 
of delivering projects and services and on 
reducing overheads. We will drive delivery 
excellence and innovation to ensure that we 
have the right solutions at the right price for our 
customers. In summary, we will focus on 
delivering our promises to our clients and 
bringing them best practices from across our 
business and markets.
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Performance and business 
overview 
Mouchel has experienced a difficult year in 
2010/11 and results have been disappointing. 
The Group’s revenue fell by 14.7% to £539.6m 
(excluding exceptional items), while underlying 
operating profit fell by 61.9% to £15.7m. 

Conditions have remained challenging as we 
continue to be influenced by the 
Government’s plan, outlined in the 2010 
Comprehensive Spending Review (2010 CSR), 
to rapidly bring down the national deficit by 
cuts to public spending. Local government, 
which makes up more than two-thirds of our 
client base, has been particularly hard hit by 
the unexpected speed and depths of these 
cuts. We also haven’t performed as well as we 
expected in some parts of the business. For 
example in Management Consulting the 
market has reduced substantially, with an 
associated reduction in revenue and profit; in 
the Middle East we have had difficulties in the 
delivery of a large contract in the United Arab 
Emirates (UAE), which is now nearing 
completion, and there has been a slow down 
in the Abu Dhabi market, which has resulted in 
delays to project start dates.

Our post-exceptional results for this year were 
also hit by an actuarial error which we reported 
in our trading update on 6 October 2011. The 
actuarial error was caused by a third party. This 

meant that a one-off gain on a long-term 
contract was £4.3m lower than we had 
previously expected. It was an isolated incident 
and we do not expect there to be any further 
impact. We have also increased provisions by a 
further £5m for contract risks and for project 
claims to take into account the challenging 
business environment.  

During the course of the year we have 
pursued measures to help manage the 
business, including: reorganising our operating 
structure; implementing cost reduction 
programmes; controlling capital expenditure; 
and focusing on our core business, leading to 
the decision to dispose of our rail and pipeline 
design businesses. Since the financial year 
end, we have:

• completed the disposal of our pipeline 
design business, Mouchel Energy Ltd, to 
Mott MacDonald Ltd for an initial 
consideration of circa £2.55m in cash; and   

• completed the sale of Mouchel Rail to 
Sinclair Knight Merz for £3.4m in cash. 
Mouchel will retain net realisable assets 
(principally trade recieveables and unbilled 
revenue) of a further £2.5m.

We’ve continued to respond to decreased 
turnover by reducing staff costs. Unfortunately 
this saving has been more than offset by a 
reduction in revenue. We refinanced our 

principal banking facilities in January 2011, 
and again in November 2011. This refinancing 
provides the Group with the stability and 
headroom it requires and ensures that we can 
continue to compete in our chosen markets. 

The Group has made an excellent start in 
developing its business in Australasia in joint 
venture with Downer, a leading construction 
company in Australia and New Zealand. The 
joint venture has won a further two contracts 
this year, taking the total to three highway 
maintenance contracts with Main Roads 
Western Australia (worth £126m to Mouchel 
over five years) and is now pursuing 
opportunities on the East Coast of Australia. 
We are actively looking to strengthen the joint 
venture and our broader relationship with 
Downer.

Our new 10-year incremental partnership 
contract with Bournemouth Council (worth 
£148m over 10 years) commenced on 1 
December 2010 and we have been 
encouraged over the year by seeing other 
local authorities preparing for similar service 
transformation, outsourcing and partnerships 
with the private sector. Our five-year extension 
to our business process outsourcing (BPO) 
partnership with Middlesbrough Council 
(worth circa £70m to the Group) commenced 
in June 2011. This extension provides 
improved profitability and reduced risk 
compared with the first 10 years of the 
contract. 

Further strategic wins during the year include:

• a contract with the Highways Agency (HA), in 
joint venture with Thales, to run the National 
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“Mouchel has a good core business  
and is operating in markets with 
strong long-term growth prospects” 

Traffic Information Service (NTIS). This 
seven-year contract (worth £28.5m to 
Mouchel over the period) is central to the 
HA’s role of managing traffic and making the 
most efficient use of the existing road 
network; and

• two major highway design and infrastructure 
planning contracts in Saudi Arabia.

Order book
The Group’s order book stood at £1.4bn at 31 
July 2011 (excluding the rail and pipeline 
design businesses), compared with £1.8bn 
the previous year. This drop in part reflects our 
reduced ability to secure new orders from 
December 2010 to April 2011, when we were 
subject to a number of approaches from 
companies wishing to acquire Mouchel. The 
‘offer period’ proved to be a disruption to our 
staff and to our clients. Uncertainty over the 
Group’s finances has caused additional 
difficulties.  Despite the reduction in bidding 
activity during the ‘offer period’, the order book 
provides good visibility of the Group’s forward 
workload. We have secured nearly £220m of 
new contracts and extensions during the year. 

Pipeline
Our pipeline, which includes only tenders 
where we have been shortlisted to bid, 
together with contract extensions, stood at 
£2.2bn at 31 July 2011 (not including the rail 
and pipeline design businesses) (2010: 
£2.2bn). However, our pipeline is under 
pressure due to the difficulty in securing new 
large local government contracts in our 
current financial position. Nevertheless, we are 
still winning substantial business from our 
existing clients and seeing the number of 
opportunities in our core markets beginning to 
rise. In the wake of the 2010 CSR, a number of 
local authorities are now coming to market for 

‘long and large’ bundled service partnerships 
with the private sector. Given the scale of 
these opportunities, we are focusing only on 
those where we believe that we have 
competitive advantage. 

Following its review by the Department for 
Transport, we have now moved into the final 
stages of the Sheffield PFI highways 
maintenance contract tender, where we are, 
working with Carillion, one of two remaining 
bidders. We are also bidding for highway 
maintenance contracts in Scotland and 
recently have been shortlisted for the HA’s 
Asset Support Contract for Area 10 in the 
North West of England. We are currently 
tracking additional prospects worth £1.0bn, 
which fall outside our bidding pipeline as 
shortlists of suppliers have not been drawn up.

Outlook
The outlook for Mouchel is challenging in the 
short term. Our revenue is likely to be under 
continuing pressure as a result of uncertainty 
last year arising from our financial position and 
takeover approaches which is adversely 
affecting our ability to win new business. The 
economic environment is also putting 
pressure on margins across our markets as 
clients continue to face cutbacks in spending. 
Our new lending facilities give Mouchel the 
necessary stability we need whilst we 
restructure our balance sheet in the first half of 
2012. But the facility also has associated 
costs. As a result of all of the above the 
Board’s expectations for the outcome for 
2012, compared with the current year, are 
significantly reduced. 

I joined Mouchel as Chief Executive with the 
aim of putting this business back on a firm 
footing, so we can move forward with the 
confidence to deliver on behalf of all our 
stakeholders. I will be looking at the Group’s 

business and strategy over the coming months 
and will focus on cash, our costs and our 
customers. I will be reviewing every aspect of 
Mouchel, including the markets we operate in, 
our operating model and our management 
structure. I will be looking aggressively at our 
cost base and particularly at our supporting 
functions and our central overheads. I will give 
an update to the market as quickly as possible, 
and expect to conclude by the time we 
announce our interim results in March 2012.  

I know that Mouchel has good core 
businesses and is operating in markets with 
strong long-term growth prospects. We 
employ thousands of talented and dedicated 
members of staff who help to transform client 
organisations and to deliver excellent services 
to the public. We provide the very services our 
clients need in this climate – to help them to 
maintain, or improve, outputs whilst lowering 
their costs. We now have a management 
team that will make the same changes 
in-house. 

The new management team will take firm and 
decisive action to meet the challenges we 
face. This team will work closely with all 
stakeholders to reduce debt, to restore 
stability and to return Mouchel to growth.

On behalf of the Board 
  
Grant Rumbles  
Group Chief Executive 
29 November 2011
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Group summary
Mouchel has experienced another challenging 
year as the Government reassessment of its 
spending priorities continues to have an 
impact on the Group. Uncertainty over the 
outcome of the refinancing of our bank 
borrowing facilities in the first half of the year 
had a negative impact on the business. 
Speculation about the Group’s financial 
stability led to several takeover approaches 
and between early December 2010 and 
March 2011 the Group was in an ‘offer period’, 
conducting takeover talks with a number of 
parties. This made the first six months 
particularly difficult. With the ending of the 
‘offer period’ we are able to refocus on 
winning new contracts and delivering on our 
commitments. The uncertainty the ‘offer 
period’ caused, together with a tough trading 
environment, had an adverse impact on the 
Group performance, particularly within 
Management Consulting.

As a result, Mouchel suffered a significant 
decline in revenue of 14.7% to £539.6m 
(excluding exceptional items) (2010: £632.6m). 
Underlying operating profit from operations fell 
by 61.9% to £15.7m (2010: £41.2m). 

After pre-exceptional net finance costs of 
£10.7m (2010: £10.7m), underlying profit before 
taxation was £5m (2010: £30.5m), a decline of 
84%. The adjusted loss per share on the same 
basis to was (0.5) pence (2010: earnings per 
share: 18.9 pence), reflecting the decrease in 
normalised profit before taxation.

Exceptional items before tax increased by 
54% to £69.8m (2010: £45.2m), of which 
£21.9m (2010: £17.6m) was a cash cost to the 
Group. Significant items include goodwill 
impairment (£45.3m); amortisation of 
arrangement fees (£7.2m); and amortisation of 
intangible assets (£6.4m). Also included are 
net £4.5m of exceptional items relating to 
contracts. The two most significant relate to 
Holleran and a business process re-
engineering (BPR) contract in the Middle East. 

The BPR contract was a project undertaken 
across four Municipalities in the UAE. The 
project is substantially complete, but a 
number of tasks remain outstanding, and are 
due to be closed out by the end of 2011. 
Contained within the exceptional loss for this 
contract of £3.9m are provisions to reflect 
further costs for completion. In addition, debt 
and work in progress of circa £12m on this 
contract was outstanding at 31 July 2011, 
which has been discounted to recognise that 
monies are not expected to be received until 
the next calendar year. Of the total exceptional 
charge, approximately £12m has been paid 
out in cash during the year. 

The goodwill impairment represents the full 
impairment against the Management 
Consulting business of £41.3m and £4m in 
relation to Gas Experts Ltd. The significant 
downturn in the Management Consulting 
business during the year and the expectation of 
a continued difficult environment for the 
foreseeable future led to the impairment 
provision. On a statutory basis, the loss before 
tax increased from £14.7m to £64.8m.

Underlying cashflow from operations of 
£39.3m (2010: £70.3m) represented a 250% 
conversion of underlying profit from operations 
of £15.7m (2010: £41.2m). After special 
pension fund payments of £7.2m (2010: 
£7.9m), in line with our pension deficit recovery 
plan; net capital expenditure of £4.4m (2010: 
£10.6m); restructuring costs of £21.9m (2010: 
£17.6m) and interest and tax of £9.5m (2010: 
£7.1m), the Group had net bank borrowings of 
£87.7m (2010: £83.3m).

Banking
On 29 November 2011, Mouchel agreed 
amendments to the terms of our principal 
banking facilities (£129m term loan and £35m 
revolving credit facility) which expire up to 31 
March 2014. The purpose of the amendments 
was to avoid a breach of the banking facilities 
which would otherwise have occurred upon 

Underlying operating profit by financial reporting 
segment 

2011 2010 % change

Highways (£m) 4.5 19.4 (76.8)

Government and Business Services (£m) 7.4 15.0 (50.7)

Regulated Industries (£m) 2.0 2.9 (31.0)

Management Consultancy (£m) 1.8 3.9 (53.8)

Underlying operating profit (£m) 15.7 41.2 (61.9)

BUSINESS REvIEW 
Operations and performance

publication of the 2011 Accounts; to provide 
for a £16m increase in the facilities available to 
£180m (repayable on, or before, 28 February 
2013); and to amend covenants with a view to 
avoiding future financial covenant breaches, 
which would otherwise be expected to arise 
prior to April 2013. The amended credit 
facilities comprise:

• a £129m term loan,

• a £35m revolving credit facility, and

• an additional £16m secured revolving credit 
facility (the ‘Top-up facility’) in place until 28 
February 2013.

Pursuant to the amendments, we have agreed 
to pay an amendment fee of £2.25m on the 
earlier of 31 January 2013, and the date of the 
relevant restructuring, to issue warrants over 
5% of the existing issued share capital of the 
Company at a subscription price of 0.25p per 
share, subject to standard anti-dilution 
provisions, which replaces the existing 
contingent obligation to provide warrants to 
the lenders, and to pay an additional fee – the 
equity tracker fee – which is payable upon a 
change of control and that is the economic 
equivalent of 5% of the enlarged issued share 
capital.

As explained (in the Chairman’s statement), it is 
intended that a restructuring of the Group’s 
balance sheet would take place prior to the end 
of the current financial year in the interests of 
the Group and its stakeholders. This 
restructuring may include the injection of 
sufficient additional equity capital to enable a 
refinancing of the business or a change of 
control (the ‘Restructuring’). If the Restructuring 
is achieved by 31 July 2012, then, depending 
on the timing of the Restructuring, either no 
restructuring fee would be payable or a fee of 
between £1.5m and £3m would be payable. In 
the event that a Restructuring is not achieved 
by 31 July 2012, an amendment fee of £8m 
would be payable. Such additional amendment 
fees shall be payable on the earlier of 31 
January 2013 or the date of the relevant 
Restructuring. Pending the repayment of the 
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Group’s banking facilities in full, the restriction 
on dividend payments will remain in place.

The interest margin on the term loan will 
remain unchanged at 3.85%. The interest 
margin on the revolving credit facilities will be 
6.5%, apart from the margin on the Top-up 
facility which shall be at 10%. The provision 
that there will be an increase in the interest 
margin of 2% if an additional voluntary 
repayment of £30m has not been made by 31 
May 2012 has been removed. Furthermore, 
the obligatory repayment of £7.5m, due in 31 
July 2012, has been extended to 28 February 
2013, when the Top-up facility shall also be 
repayable. The new facilities do not contain 
any financial covenants other than a quarterly 
adjusted EBITDA measure running up to 
January 2013, after which time the covenants 
revert back to the original agreement from 
April 2013 (see note 20). 

As a result of the impairment charges arising 
in the year ended 31 July 2011, the directors 
believe the current restriction set out in the 
Company’s articles of association is no longer 
appropriate. The directors will request 
approval at the 2012 AGM to permit the 
current borrowing limit to be exceeded up to a 
maximum borrowed limit of £225m until the 
2013 AGM and to ratify any and all 
infringement by the directors prior to the 2012 
AGM of their duties to restrict the Group’s 
borrowings.

The Board believes that the facility 
amendments demonstrate the support of the 
Banks. The facilities have been constructed to 
provide the Board with time to right-size the 
Group balance sheet, whilst providing 
economic incentives to achieve this right-sizing 
at the earliest practical opportunity. The 
amendments provide the Company with critical 
time to identify and implement value creation 
initiatives to enhance value. Whilst the Top-up 
facility is relatively expensive, the Group intends 
to use it sparingly, if at all, but it provides the 
Group with critical working capital headroom.

Cashflow and working capital
At the operating cashflow level, net cash 
generated from operations before exceptional 
items was £39.3m for the year versus £70.3m 
for the previous year, with equivalent annual 
cash conversion ratios of 250% and 171% 
respectively. The improvement in cash 
conversion ratio was driven by a reduction of 
working capital of £11.2m resulting from a 
combination of targeted UK cashflow 
improvement plans and a reduction in 
revenue. Cash generated from operations in 
2011 was consumed by net exceptional costs 
of £21.9m (2010: £17.6m) relating to this year’s 
charges and amounts provided for in 2010; 
net interest, including interest rate swap 
payments and exceptional finance costs, of 
£12.3m (2010: £9.2m) and capital expenditure 
of £4.4m (2010: £10.6m). The remainder 
relates mainly to pension deficit funding of 
£7.2m (2010: £7.9m). During the year £6.3m 
was drawn down under the loan facility. 

Taxation
The effective charge on profit before tax and 
exceptional items is £5.6m (2010: £9.3m), 
which represents an effective tax rate of 
112.9% (2010: 30.4%). The difference between 
the effective rate and the statutory rate of 
27.33% reflects a corporation tax credit offset 
by deferred tax adjustments arising from the 
change in future deferred tax rates from 27% 
to 25% and an assessment of the 
recoverability of deferred tax assets in the light 
of Mouchel’s losses in 2011. 

Pensions
The Group operates three main defined 
benefit schemes; namely, the Mouchel 
Superannuation Fund, the Mouchel Staff 
Pension Fund and the Mouchel Business 
Services Ltd Pension Scheme. All remaining 
employees, who contribute to a pension, are 
members of the Group’s defined contribution 
scheme. 

Mouchel has admitted body status for a 
number of schemes. During the year, for one 
of these schemes the pension deficit risk was 
passed back to the customer following a 
renegotiated contract on 1 June 2011, leading 
to a curtailment gain.

We account for all of our defined benefit 
schemes under International Accounting 
Standard (IAS) 19 Employee Benefits. 

The Government’s decision to move to using 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) rather than the 
Retail Price Index (RPI) as the inflation 
measure to determine the minimum pension 
increases to be applied to public sector 
schemes has had a significant impact on the 
scheme itself. A £7.7m gain as a result of this 
change has been accounted for within other 
Comprehensive Income.

The IAS 19 charge for the year was £1.8m 
compared with £6.5m last year. The decrease 
was mainly attributable to a £2.2m reduction 
in current service cost, which includes the 

benefit from the closure of the Group’s 
schemes to future accrual with effect from 
January 2011; £0.9m improvement in the 
finance income; and £1.9m curtailment gain 
on third-party schemes (Teesside Pension 
Scheme), which has been included within 
exceptional items.

At 31 July 2011, the total deficit under IAS 19 
was £32.8m compared with £53.0m at 31 July 
2010. The movement in the deficit compared 
with a year ago reflects the credit of £7.7m 
resulting from the change from RPI to CPI, 
actuarial gains in the intervening period and 
contributions made by the Group of £11.6m.  

Dividends
The Group does not plan to pay a dividend in 
relation to the year ended 31 July 2011 (2010: 
2.25p). Following the revision of the Group’s 
banking facilities on 29 November 2011, the 
Board is now unable to pay dividends until the 
banking facilities have been repaid in full.

(Loss)/earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per share decreased from 
18.9p to (0.5)p. Adjusted earnings per share is 
calculated after adding back shares held by 
the employee trusts to the weighted average 
number of shares. Earnings are adjusted to 
exclude amortisation of intangible assets 
arising from business combinations, 
impairments of intangible assets arising from 
business combinations and other exceptional 
items (net of taxation). Basic loss per share 
increased from 12.1p to 61.7p.

On behalf of the Board

Rod Harris 
Group Finance Director 
29 November 2011
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... now we’re managing  
traffic to make your journeys 
safer and more reliable

We brought you roads ...
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SEGMENTAL REvIEW
Highways 

Results
2011 2010 Change from 2010

Revenue (£m) 205.6 254.6 (19.2)

Underlying operating profit (£m) 4.5 19.4 (76.8)

Underlying operating margins (%) 2.2 7.6 (71.1)

Order book (£m) 419 455 (8.0)

Bidding pipeline (£m) 1,184 1,162 1.9

Contract win rate (%) 18 58

Staff numbers 2,588 3,781 (31.6)

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 9 6

Local authorities must cut spending on 
transport by 28% over the next four years. 
Whilst these cuts will inevitably filter through 
(at some level) to the volume of work we 
are doing with clients, we anticipate an 
increase in vertically integrated highway 
services (MAC type) opportunities, which 
we undertake through EnterpriseMouchel. 
In addition to vertical integration, services 
may also be bundled so that a broader 
range of services is delivered under one 
contract. Here, Mouchel retains a 
competitive edge, due to our ability to 
provide a range of services in-house, 
including ‘back-office’ functions, property 
management, parking and other civil 
enforcement duties. Some contracts will 
still come to market as single-service 
professional services, delivered through a 
long-term arrangement. Again, we have a 
successful track record of delivering these, 
for example our network management 
services in Hertfordshire, Lincolnshire and 
Leeds.

Our strategy of using our UK-based 
competence in selected overseas markets 
has been successful in Australasia and we 
expect new opportunities to emerge 
soon. Our DownerMouchel Jv holds a 
market share of around 40% of the 
Western Australian road network and we 
are now focusing on other states. We 
continue to assess other appropriate 
international markets where our skills will 
be valued.

We are undertaking a major upgrade of 
our technology platform used in the traffic 
support business. This software allows 
councils to monitor traffic infringement via 
cameras or hand-held devices used by 
traffic wardens. The upgrade of the 
platform and new functionality will cost 
approximately £1.2m, of which £0.6m has 
been spent to 31 July 2011.

Whilst our medium-term prospects look 
encouraging, we are expecting trading 
conditions in the short term to be difficult. 

On UK local authority road networks, 
EnterpriseMouchel has maintained the 
level of 2009/10 revenues and has 
extended its contract with the London 
Borough of Hillingdon. 

The new venture in Australia performed 
according to expectations and contributed 
revenues of £12m in the year ended 31 July 
2011. We have secured all three of the 
Integrated Service Arrangement (ISA) 
contracts that we tendered in our joint 
venture with Downer for Main Roads 
Western Australia. In New Zealand, for the 
Transport Agency, we have continued to 
provide strategic advice and support for 
the development of a hard-shoulder 
scheme on State Highway 1 between 
Ngauranga and Aotea Quay. We are also 
advising Main Roads Western Australia on 
a strategy to optimise operation of the 
highway network adopting a similar 
approach to Managed Motorways.

Market overview and 
outlook
We continue to focus on the managed 
services market, providing visibility of 
future income streams. Clients are 
developing new procurement models and 
contract forms to drive efficiency. In 2012, 
the HA will introduce its new Asset 
Support Contract (ASC) to replace both 
the Managing Agent Contractor (MAC) 
contracts and elements of the Technology 
Management and Maintenance Contracts 
as these come to market; and Transport 
Scotland is introducing new ‘manage and 
maintain’ contracts (termed fourth 
generation or 4G). Transport for London 
will procure its new contracts by 
collaborating with the boroughs to reduce 
overlap and drive scale and efficiency 
(Transforming London). These should be 
operational in 2013. 

The ASC contracts provide an opportunity 
for growth; and the procurement process 
for Area 10 (North West) has now begun. 
Similarly Operating Company 4G contracts 
are also under procurement in the north 
west and south west of Scotland.

Highways revenue reduced by £49m 
following the 2010 CSR impacts, which 
removed some uncertainty but confirmed 
that public sector spending would remain 
tight. The underlying operating margin in 
this segment fell by 71.1% compared with 
the previous year.

The significant reduction in revenue was 
caused by a number of factors, principally 
the reduction in technology sales (circa 
£15m), which was prompted by the cuts in 
Government spending; the end of the 
Government fiscal stimulus (circa £10m); 
cutbacks in discretionary spending within 
transport planning; and lower fiscal 
stimulus as a result of the 2010 CSR (circa 
£24m). The operating margins associated 
with these activities vary considerably 
from 7-20%, resulting in a large reduction 
in underlying operating profit. In addition, 
further provisions were required on a 
number of contracts, further eroding 
operating profit in the year.

Despite this, there has been some success 
and during the year we continued to deliver 
the first operational congestion 
management schemes (Managed 
Motorways) for the HA on the M6 to the 
north and east of Birmingham. In addition, 
we are developing similar schemes on 
other parts of the M6, and on the M3, M4 
and the M60. Our TranServ joint ventures 
secured extensions to our North West 
Scotland Operating Company contract 
and to our City of Westminster contract. 
Contract extensions have also been 
secured for our professional services 
contracts with five local authorities: 
Shropshire, Wiltshire, London Borough of 
Southwark, London Borough of Hillingdon, 
and Bournemouth and Poole. The A11 
Thetford Bypass scheme, where we are 
designers to Birse Civils Ltd, has been 
given the go-ahead following the 2010 CSR 
and we have mobilised this contract. 
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... now we’re developing  
innovations in service delivery 

We brought you  
innovative buildings ... 
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SEGMENTAL REvIEW
Government and Business Services

Results
2011 2010 Change from 2010 

Revenue (£m) 218.5 231.3 (5.5)

Underlying operating profit (£m) 7.4 15.0 (50.7)

Underlying operating margins (%) 3.4 6.5 (47.7)

Order book (£m) 863 1,115 (22.7)

Bidding pipeline (£m) 917 796 15.2

Contract win rate (%) 6 37

Staff numbers 3,877 4,101 (5.5)

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 6 8

We are able to leverage the scale and 
innovation of our support services 
infrastructure to guarantee rapid and 
sustainable cost reduction. We are 
working with local authorities on new 
delivery models that will transform frontline 
services and continue to address 
problems of unemployment, skills 
shortages, poor health, poor economic 
growth and housing shortages.

Whilst our services remain in demand by 
clients in the public sector, the overall 
severity of government cuts will have an 
inevitable impact on the volume of work 
we deliver next year.

The short-term outlook is uncertain as 
discretionary spend could be further 
reduced to meet spending reductions 
imposed on councils by Government. In 
some cases, councils are willing to reduce 
scope and levels of service to achieve 
reductions which would adversely affect 
our margins.

Government and Business Services 
revenue has decreased by £12.8m 
compared with the previous year as 
councils implement the Government’s 
austerity cuts and discretionary spend is 
reduced. Our focus has been on working 
with existing clients to help meet these 
challenges.

Consequently, the underlying operating 
margin in this sector fell to 3.4% (2010: 
6.5%) - a reduction of 47.7%. Although we 
have seen a significant reduction in capital 
project work, particularly in property 
services, we have seen growth from 
supporting our existing customers with 
their transformation programmes, which 
has also led to the transfer of additional 
services to Mouchel.

In Lincolnshire, we have managed the 
Council’s workforce change programme 
to help it achieve the significant budget 
reductions required under the 2010 CSR. 
We are working in partnership with 
Bournemouth Council to deliver its £256m 
cost reduction programme over 10 years. 
Whilst this is a key strategic relationship for 
Mouchel, the contract is expected to 
generate little margin in the first year or so 
of operation as investment in service 
transition and improvement is undertaken. 

In Oldham, four new services have been 
transferred to Mouchel; and in Milton 
Keynes we have signed a contract 
through our joint Working Better Together 
programme, which will deliver an 
additional net cumulative £18.1m of 
savings to Milton Keynes Council.

We see an increasing drive within local 
authorities to working in partnership to 
deliver the challenging budget savings 
that have been set and we believe this 

trend will continue for the coming two 
years. This will be at the core of our 
growth for the next three years, 
developing existing partnerships and 
adding new ones to our portfolio.

Market overview and 
outlook 
Local authorities are experiencing an 
unprecedented level of change resulting 
from cuts in public expenditure, 
demographic change and increasing 
public expectations. There is a clear drive 
towards a more local approach and 
greater focus on citizen and community 
outcomes. Achieving this change requires 
a shift in the way that councils provide 
services and how they engage with the 
private sector. We are already working 
with local government leaders to map out 
new ways of working that meet the 
challenges facing local government 
finances and to find innovative solutions 
that enable the transformation of their 
whole organisation. We also see that an 
increasing number of councils are looking 
to private sector partnership and risk 
sharing.

Our business process outsourcing 
activities are in demand, with almost every 
local authority pursuing service 
transformation strategies, rather than 
simply cost savings and service cuts. 
While our work in the local authority 
property sector has been scaled back as 
a result of the reductions in school 
building, refurbishment and maintenance 
expenditure, there is greater stability in our 
long-term contracts and service 
partnerships – these contracts are also 
our best source of growth, as a result of 
service expansion or extension.
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... now we’re managing and 
operating the water supply  
to lower costs for consumers

We brought you reservoirs ... 
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SEGMENTAL REvIEW
Regulated Industries

relationships that will enable success in 
2015 and beyond.

Our operational opportunities continue to 
come to market, where we are a leading 
provider of leakage and metering services. 
Changes in legislation provide significant 
opportunity for work on private drains and 
sewers, which came into water company 
ownership in October 2011. Smart 
metering provides opportunities for our 
operations division through the 
programme of making ‘smart’ 53 million 
gas and electric meters across the 
country by 2020. 

Mouchel’s ability to work across the supply 
chain, together with our technical 
capability, will enable us to offer a 
compelling proposition to energy retailers. 
We are actively engaging the industry and 
expect to be tendering opportunities soon. 

We are also pursuing international 
opportunities, especially on the back of 
the Downer relationship in Australasia. 
Early indications show that there is an 
attractive operations and maintenance 
market that would benefit from the 
combined skills of the two companies.

In engineering and environment, we have 
developed an integrated business that 
delivers multi-disciplinary schemes in a 
sustainable manner. There are significant 
opportunities in the pipeline, such as land 
referencing for the proposed high-speed 
rail link between London and the Midlands 
(HS2) and continued work on Thames 
Tideway, as well as opportunities with 
Eirgrid in Ireland. This underlines our 
strategy of external growth in this market, 
where we have traditionally serviced our 
Highways partners. 

volumes in the near term are subject to 
some uncertainty as customers delay 
spend from one period to the next and 
margins continue to come under pressure.

Results
2011 2010 Change from 2010

Revenue (£m) 82.5 87.6 (5.8)

Underlying operating profit (£m) 2.0 2.9 (31.0)

Underlying operating margins (%) 2.4 3.3 (27.3)

Order book (£m) 98 147 (33.5)

Bidding pipeline (£m) 60 183 (67.2)

Contract win rate (%) 8 55

Staff numbers 1,292 1,681 (23.2)

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 14 11

Regulated Industries revenue has reduced 
by £5.1m compared with the previous 
year. A number of factors have caused 
this decline: lower volumes in the rail 
sector (circa £5.0m) with the completion of 
the Jubilee Line upgrade project, slow 
down in the Abu Dhabi market, decline in 
the ground engineering and environment 
business in line with the Highways segment 
decline, and fewer major projects relating 
to water asset management. Also, the 
workload relating to AMP5 has been 
slower than expected during the year.

Underlying operating margins also fell as 
pricing on framework contracts became 
very competitive. Consequently the 
operating margin in this segment fell to 
2.4% (2010: 3.3%).

In Regulated Industries, our workload with 
the water companies continues to increase 
as the water industry’s capital programmes 
for 2010-2015 (forming Asset Management 
Plan 5 (AMP5)) progress through feasibility 
and design stages. Our environment teams 
also work closely with the Highways 
business and therefore have been scaled 
back in line with the reductions in that 
market. 

We are working for most UK water 
companies through our various AMP5 
water company frameworks and continue 
to be a major provider in this field. Our 
activities cover capital design, asset 
management and operations. A key 
highlight has been helping Thames Water 
to meet its stringent leakage target in 
demanding conditions.

The energy and insurance business has 
continued to trade well despite the 
economic backdrop and has recently 
been appointed on the G35 Framework 
for National Grid. Energy’s largest project 
for National Grid, the Critical National 

Infrastructure project, has seen the civil 
engineering team double in size to meet 
workload requirements.

The rail business saw a reduction in 
turnover from prior years with a resultant 
fall in underlying profit due to fewer major 
projects being undertaken. Since 31 July 
2011, the rail and the pipeline design 
businesses have been sold (in October 
2011). The turnover of these two 
businesses for 2011 was £16.3m, with a 
combined operating profit of £0.1m. 

The engineering and environment business 
has won some significant external 
commissions in the last year, notably 
providing Scottish and Southern Energy 
and the Oil and Pipeline Agency with 
environmental services, and a huge 
increase in the workload of the Thames 
Tideway Land Referencing project. These 
three projects will provide revenue of £3m. 
The business has also been appointed to 
the Homes and Community Agency 
multidisciplinary framework.

In the Middle East, performance is stable, 
although the Abu Dhabi market remains 
flat. We are increasingly confident in the 
prospects for our business in the Middle 
East, building on our strong relationships 
and capabilities.

Market overview and 
outlook 
Following the disposal of Mouchel’s rail 
and pipeline design businesses after the 
year end, our Regulated Industries division 
will focus on the water (operations and 
consulting) and energy markets, as well as 
other specialist areas such geotechnical 
and environmental services. 

In the water business, we are now setting 
our sights on the water industry’s 
investment programme for the period 
2015-2020 (AMP6) and developing 
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with teachers to raise  
the standard of 
teaching 

We brought you schools ... 
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SEGMENTAL REvIEW
Management Consulting

school framework. We are also one of 
only six companies to have won a place 
on both Lots within the 2011 project 
management education advisory 
framework.

UK utility companies have experienced a 
recent change in regulation and 
consequently have come under increased 
pressure from their owners to improve 
performance, planning and operational 
effectiveness. Mouchel’s presence in the 
water sector was enhanced this year by 
securing a place on Thames Water’s 
management consultancy framework. 
Similarly, we continue to work with public 
and private companies in the transport 
sector, and on the implementation of 
Mouchel’s NTIS contract. 

The BPR project relates to a BPR contract 
undertaken in the UAE involving the 
review of current business processes, and 
identification and documentation of best 
practice. This project, entered into in April 
2010, represented a significant departure 
for the Group in that this was the first 
contract of its kind we had undertaken in 
the Middle East to establish a Middle 
Eastern consultancy business. The Group 
has disbanded the unit and the losses 
associated with this project have been 
treated as exceptional. There is still 
approximately £12m trade receivables and 
unbilled revenue outstanding. (Note 3 to 
the Accounts gives further details.)

We have developed new relationships 
with a number of private sector funding 
and developer clients who value our 
property expertise together with our 
experience and knowledge of local 
government. Our facilities management 
team had a successful year with wins at 

Results
2011 2010 Change from 2010

Underlying revenue (£m) 33.0 59.1 (44.1)

Underlying operating profit (£m) 1.8 3.9 (53.8)

Underlying operating margins (%) 5.5 6.6 (16.7)

Order book (£m) 45 107 (58.0)

Bidding pipeline (£m) 12 30 (60.0)

Contract win rate (%) 11 55

Staff numbers 268 420 (36.2)

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 15 16

Croydon, and the West London Mental 
Health Trust.  

Market overview and 
outlook
The visibility of the forward workload for 
Management Consulting is poor and 
reflects the short-term nature of contracts. 
Trading conditions within the 
Management Consulting business sector 
are likely to be extremely difficult in the 
short term, with demand for consulting 
reduced generally and clients seeking 
increasing value for money from their 
reduced consultancy spend and moving 
towards more risk-based payment 
models. 

Mouchel will continue to provide cost 
reduction and efficiency services to clients 
and to focus increasingly on our core 
markets of highways, local government 
(including health and education) and 
utilities.  

The health market, in particular, is 
undergoing a period of change following 
the Government’s White Paper on public 
health: Healthy lives, healthy people (July 
2011). If implemented, the proposed shift 
in power from primary care trusts and 
strategic health authorities to local 
communities may create opportunities for 
Management Consulting to provide 
advice on commissioning and change 
services.  

In education, Mouchel has developed 
relationships with academy sponsors and 
will look to extend these further through 
both direct work and projects from the 
DfE frameworks. 

Management Consulting revenue, which 
excludes £11.8m relating to the BPR 
contract in Abu Dhabi, has reduced by 
£26.1m compared with the previous year, 
primarily due to reduced demand 
following the 2010 CSR review (around 
£14m) and Consortium buying framework 
revenue was lower by around £8m.

The demand for our Management 
Consulting services remained depressed 
during the year and led to an exceptional 
impairment charge of £41.3m against 
goodwill in the period. Government 
spending has decreased significantly and 
as a result we plan to refocus the 
Management Consulting division to 
concentrate on its transformational 
services, which we believe continue to 
add value to all Mouchel’s businesses, 
helping them to win and deliver 
operational contracts. 

In local government there has also been 
reduced spending on consulting services. 
However, we were able to maintain 
revenue from our long-term partner 
organisations (through our BPO contracts 
in Lincoln and Bournemouth); our work for 
the Department of Health (DoH), including 
the Centre for Workforce Intelligence (an 
independent agency working on specific 
projects for the DoH and an operating unit 
within Management Consulting to 
determine DoH future workforce 
requirements); and from our major 
projects in Abu Dhabi.

Mouchel has maintained its position on 
the Department for Education (DfE) 
Project Management and Education 
Services Framework and is one of only 
five companies to secure a position on the 
2011 ‘taxi rank’ academies and free 
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Engagement and wellbeing
We have responded to the challenges of the 
last 12 months by reconfirming our 
commitment to making Mouchel a great place 
to work and implementing a series of activities 
that focus on rebuilding a positive future. Our 
goals are to:

• strengthen communication with our monthly 
staff magazine and monthly online video 
messages from the Chief Executive; 

• ‘raise the bar’ on performance by working 
with line managers to ensure that all our 
people have clear objectives and personal 
development plans linked to our ‘career 
builder’ framework;

• reinvigorate employee engagement through 
our Excellence Awards programme, which 
recognises the contribution our people have 
made to the success of Mouchel and our 
clients. 

Occupational health provider 
Santia has recently been appointed as 
Mouchel’s new occupational health provider. 
Santia is the UK’s leading provider of health 
and safety risk management solutions. 

Santia will support Mouchel in the 
management of effective occupational health 
control strategies to reduce absenteeism and 
improve productivity and employee 
engagement – as well as delivering legal 

BUSinESS REviEW 
People

compliance by providing monitoring and 
assessment. As part of the implementation 
plan, Santia will develop and mould the 
service to meet the specific needs of Mouchel. 
Through a combination of on-site and remote 
case management, and online services they 
will safeguard the health and wellbeing of our 
employees and our business. 

Code of conduct and ethics
Corporate and personal integrity is important 
to Mouchel and we apply a strict code of 
conduct across all areas of business activity. 
Our policies on employee conduct, ethics, 
whistle-blowing and fraud set the standards 
we expect of our people. 

Conduct and ethics, and the fraud policies in 
general form part of our online induction for all 
new starters and can be accessed by staff via 
the corporate intranet and staff handbooks. 
Mouchel’s whistle-blowing procedure is also 
available to staff via the corporate intranet and 
staff handbooks.

Diversity and equality
We promote a respectful work environment 
and ensure that diversity and equality are 
considered in relation to recruitment, capability 
assessment and development.  

We measure, benchmark and review our 
performance on an ongoing basis and 
continue to put in place appropriate measures 
where required.

We have seen an increase in the overall 
percentage of female staff in the business; 
40.8% (compared to 28.9% in 2010).

Structure
The organisational structure was changed 
during the year. As part of our strategic review, 
we will be reviewing its effectiveness.

Mouchel’s Executive Management Board 
(EMB) is responsible for the direction of the 
business and is supported by a leadership 
team of 20 senior managers who collectively 
assess and manage strategic issues that 
influence both operational and support 
activities.  The EMB is chaired by the Chief 
Executive, and comprises the Group Finance 
Director, the Human Resources Director, the 
Solutions Director and the Market Leads for 
the principal businesses.
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Board
A number of changes have been made to the 
Board this year. 

Richard Cuthbert resigned from the Company 
on 5 October 2011. As a result of his 
resignation, Bo Lerenius became Executive 
Chairman pending the appointment of a new 
Chief Executive. On 12 October 2011, Bo 
resigned from his position as Executive 
Chairman due to limits on his time as a result of 
other commitments. David Sugden was then 
appointed as interim Chairman on 13 October 
2011. He resigned on 15 October 2011. Sir 
Michael Lyons, has become interim Chairman 
on a full time basis until a suitable successor is 
found. Grant Rumbles was appointed as Chief 
Executive on 13 October 2011. Biographical 
information for Grant can be found on page 28.

During the year, three new non-Executive 
Directors joined the Mouchel Board; Richard 
Rae and Seamus Keating on 4 november 
2010, and David Sugden on 1 January 2011. 
Biographical information for Richard and 
Seamus can be found on page 28.

Mouchel’s Excellence Awards recognise the 
dedication of our people and the high standards 
achieved in their diverse work, as well as 
showcasing some of the exciting and innovative 
projects being carried out across the 
organisation. Shortlisted at this year’s event was 
the impact Partnership’s facilities management 
team (pictured left) for its work on the Heywood 
Sports village in Rochdale. impact is a 
partnership between Mouchel and Rochdale 
Borough Council.

Among the winners was ‘Project Pathfinder’, 
which gave staff at Mouchel’s Unity Partnership 
(a strategic services partnership with Oldham 
Metropolitan Borough Council) the opportunity 
to have their say in the continual improvement of 

the business. ideas from staff were fed back to 
the senior management team and an action 
plan was formulated identifying more than 50 
improvement initiatives, with 25 volunteers 
becoming ‘change agents’ to lead the projects.
 
Several areas have been radically improved by 
Project Pathfinder, including the Unity website, 
intranet, internal communications, staff and 
client relationships, and office accommodation 
– establishing better structures and ways of 
working, as well as improved staff morale.  

Roger Barrett, Operations Director, said, ‘The 
great thing about the project was that many 
members of staff from all over Unity came up 
with ideas for improvement and how to 
implement them.’

Kevin Young, the Group Finance Director for 
Mouchel from 1998 to 2010, left by mutual 
agreement on 31 August 2010. David Tilston, 
who joined Mouchel on 13 September 2010 
as Group Finance Director, left by mutual 
agreement on 17 June 2011. Rod Harris was 
appointed Group Finance Director on 17 June 
2011. Biographical information for Rod can be 
found on page 28.

ian Knight stepped down from his role as 
Audit Committee Chairman on 4 november 
2010, and was succeeded by Seamus 
Keating. ian left the Board on 1 September 
2011, following ten years as a non-Executive 
Director.
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As at 31 July 2011, there were 8,645 people working  
for the Group, including temporary staff and staff 
employed within joint ventures. 

2010 Excellence Awards – Employee engagement, 
recognised for excellence in people management

Rodney Westhead, who joined Mouchel as a 
non-Executive Director in September 2003, 
resigned as Senior independent Director at 
the AGM on 31 January 2011.  As a result, Sir 
Michael Lyons succeeded Rodney as Senior 
independent Director. in so doing he 
relinquished his chairmanship of the 
Remuneration Committee, and the role was 
taken up by Debbie Hewitt.
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Mouchel’s approach to sustainability is based 
on balancing the impact of our activities with 
the needs of our stakeholders and the 
environment in which we operate. Last year, 
we assessed the issues affecting our 
stakeholders and grouped these under three 
broad areas – Marketplace, People and 
Communities, and the Environment. Our 
improved understanding of these issues and 
our own priorities is helping to shape our 
overall sustainability strategy. During the year 
we have placed particular emphasis on finding 
efficiencies in the way that we run our 
business. At the same time we continue to 
ensure that the health and wellbeing of our 
people is maintained and that carbon 
emissions from our operations are reduced 
where possible.

BUSinESS REviEW 
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People and Communities
a. Health safety and wellbeing
b. Employee engagement
c. Diversity and equality
d. Community engagement 

Environment
a. Environment management
b. Climate change and energy
c. Waste and resources 

Marketplace
a. Partners and suppliers
b. Efficiency and innovation
c. Client satisfaction

Marketplace
The UK public sector focus remains on 
efficiency, value for money, improved asset 
use, and remodelling of public services to 
balance long-term budgetary constraints with 
rising public expectations. By ensuring that we 
embed the principles of sustainability and 
value for money in all the projects and services 
we deliver, we help to secure Mouchel’s future 
and improve sustainability in the communities 
we serve. 

Efficiency and innovation  
We have helped nHS County Durham and 
nHS Darlington to understand the business 
processes within their community health 
services and have recommended 

improvements that will increase productivity 
across their organisations. These include 
eradicating activities that add no value, and 
introducing large-scale iT systems to improve 
patient referral/booking processes. Through 
providing key business change support 
Mouchel has helped to ensure the client 
achieved targets for the 18-week wait 
reporting required by the Department of 
Health.

Further examples of client-focused efficiency 
and innovation in service delivery will be 
promoted via the sustainability section of our 
website over the coming year.

Group-wide efficiency measures implemented 
during the year have resulted in £37.5m 
savings to Mouchel. We are confident that the 
processes we have introduced within our 
supply base will identify further efficiencies.

Client satisfaction
All of Mouchel’s core business activities are 
certified to iSO 9001 for quality management, 
which provides the framework for our client 
satisfaction process. Our client feedback 

process is aligned to a number of key 
performance indictors, including 

timeliness and quality of delivery, 
budget management, innovation, 
and safety and environmental 
performance. The average client 
satisfaction index across the 
Group rose by 2% to 82%. 

Partners and suppliers
Mouchel appointed a new Head 

of Group Procurement, Jon Lea, 
in February 2011, with the remit of 

building a central procurement 
function and delivering significant value. 

The procurement team works closely with 
Mouchel’s contract teams to reduce the 

number of suppliers, to negotiate higher value 
corporate agreements and to support bids in 
negotiating the best possible deal with key 
partners. 
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This new role is important to Mouchel and will 
bring a clear line of sight between our 
customers and suppliers, and ensure that the 
Group has a consistent and systematic 
approach to sustainable procurement.

People and communities
The health and wellbeing of Mouchel’s 
employees and of the communities we serve 
is a top priority. Our aim is to provide our 
people with engaging and rewarding careers 
and a safe working environment, where 
diversities are appreciated and a healthy 
work-life balance is supported. We also want 
to give something back to the communities 
we serve, by improving access to public 
services and encouraging volunteering and 
fundraising.

Health and safety
Mouchel’s occupational health and safety 
management system outlines our approach to 
hazard identification, operational control 
systems, emergency management, and 
training programmes. it meets the 
requirements of OHSAS 18001 and is 
registered to the standard through external 
verification by Lloyds Register Quality 
Assurance. 

Our most common incidents involve slips, trips 
and road traffic accidents, and during the year 
we have focused on raising employee 
awareness of these risks through regular 
communications and improvements to our 
management systems. We have continued to 
roll out our safety, health and environment 
(SHE) competency framework in line with the 
institute of Occupational Safety and Health 
(iOSH) standards. This framework includes an 
online competency management system for 
SHE, which provides up-to-date information 
on health and safety competencies of staff; 
and we have continued to roll out our iOSH- 
recognised SHE training programmes to 
senior executives and managers during 
2010/11.

Our online driver risk assessment and training 
programmes to senior executives and 
managers programme – DrivingMonitor – has 
now reached almost 80 per cent of 
employees, and the introduction of additional 
e-learning modules now provides further 
mechanisms to reduce exposure for 
higher-risk drivers travelling on company 
business.

We continue to help clients and partners 
understand the key risks their stakeholders 
are exposed to. Earlier in the year, we 
launched our Construction Design and 
Management (CDM) Regulations 2001 
compliance service. in Hertfordshire Highways 
(Mouchel’s 10-year partnership with 
AmeyLafarge and Hertfordshire County 
Council) we began our ‘CDMimpact’ project 
to improve communication between the 
partners and to bring the Mouchel CDM 
‘community’ closer together.

‘CDMimpact’ centres on a ‘Competency 
Progression Pathway’, which ensures that all 
members of staff working on construction 
projects regulated by CDM receive sufficient 
training to progress along the ‘pathway’ to a 
point determined by their role. Training 
includes safe construction, sustainable design 
and environmental wellbeing. The first step on 
the ‘Competency Pathway’ is a new e-learning 
course developed with training partner 
London Borough of Bromley, which 
culminates in a new CDM nvQ Award for 
senior professionals. The training is also being 
made available to our clients.

in the last year, there were no health and 
safety prosecutions or enforcement actions 
raised against the business. Our group-wide 
accident incidence rate and the number of 
RiDDOR-reportable injuries have continued to 
fall – remaining well below the industry 
averages for our core sectors. 

Number reported
Benchmark AIR  

for industry2

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

Fatalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.6

Major injuries 3 1 0 25 10 0 99

Over three days injuries 18 20 26 155 192 277 363

1 in accordance with standard HSE reporting, the accident incidence rate (AiR) is calculated using the formula: 
(number of accidents/number of employees) x 100,000. The number of employees is based on the average  
headcount for the financial year (11,592 for 2008/9, 10,425 for 2009/10 and 9,402 for 2010/11)
2 Benchmarks taken from HSE Annual Statistics 2010/11 under RiDDOR - Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and 
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations - Rate of injuries in Great Britain by industry and severity of injury 2010/11: 
‘All industries’ averages

Three-year accident incidence rate trends
Accident Incidence Rate (AIR)1
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Although there has been an increase in overall 
reportable incidents, the Group is confident 
that this is the result of improved accident/
incident reporting, and in no case were there 
any indications that its systems and 
procedures were deficient.

Community engagement
We are committed to investing in the 
communities we serve - improving access to 
public services and helping staff to give 
something back to the community through 
volunteering and fundraising. For example, at 
the Unity Partnership, Mouchel’s Jv with 
Oldham Borough Council, members of staff 
nominate a local charity or good cause and 
then organise activities towards its support. 

Similarly, impact Partnership (Mouchel and 
Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council) has 
introduced a Community Benefits Scheme. As 
part of the scheme, two disused classrooms 
at a school in Middleton were refurbished to 
create a facility for local community groups.  

Through both the Unity and impact 
partnerships, we provided 10 work experience 
opportunities during the year, as well as a 
mentoring programme to help local secondary 
school, college and university students. We 
also provide training in the community, 
including apprenticeships across the 
business, and the partnerships have 
employed three local people through the 
Future Jobs Fund Scheme. 

Employee engagement and diversity and 
equality are covered on page 18 of this report.

Environment 
Mouchel’s work often involves protecting and 
enhancing environments, helping our clients to 
manage and reduce their environmental 
impacts and risks. We also seek to limit the 
damage created by our own activities and this 
not only benefits the environment, but also 
helps to reduce costs.

Environmental management
Our Environmental Management System 
(EMS) provides the direction and framework 
for all our activities and is supported through 
role-based training (delivered via an e-learning 
portal and a comprehensive SHE training 
programme). The EMS meets the 
requirements of the environmental 
management system standard iSO 
14001:2004 and is registered through external 
verification by Lloyds Register Quality 
Assurance. 

in the last year, there were no enforcement 
actions against Mouchel relating to 
environmental matters, and we have 
continued to encourage greater levels of 
incident reporting throughout the business to 
ensure better visibility of potential regulatory 
risks within both office and site environments.

Climate change and energy
Stringent Government targets are driving 
clients towards lower carbon solutions, and 
we are using our skills and knowledge in this 
area to reduce emissions associated with their 
services and assets. For example, in 
partnership with our client Bournemouth 
Council, we have established a carbon 
reduction innovation team to help deliver 
innovative and sustainable energy solutions. 
Working with the University and Bournemouth 
and Poole College, the Team, which includes 
a technology advisory group, aims to raise 
£75m of external investment in the 
development of low carbon and sustainable 
products and services for the UK market.

Across the wider Group, we continue to 
measure, target and reduce carbon emissions 
generated as a result of our direct activities – 
predominantly associated with running office 
space and employee business travel. We 
report all UK company emissions in line with 
Carbon Trust Standard requirements. 

Most of our offices are on short-term leases 
and it is not always commercially viable to 
‘retrofit’ them with low-carbon plant or building 
fabric. instead, we have continued to focus on 
more efficient use of office space and on 
ensuring that new equipment, such as iT 
hardware, is energy A-rated. Despite limited 
options for improving carbon reduction 
measures across our estate, we continue to 
monitor and target energy consumption at 
offices where we have the ability to measure 
‘direct’ usage. 

We have also continued to promote more 
sustainable means of company travel and 
have increased the use of our company-wide 
tele-, video- and web-conferencing systems. 
in 2010/11, we completed more than 56,442 
hours of electronic meetings, while reducing 
the average emissions of our fleet vehicles by 
8% for company cars and 5% for commercial 
vehicles. Following the roll out of our company 
car-share scheme, cycle-to-work provisions, 
and an employee awareness campaign, we 
have reduced emissions for business travel by 
40% in relation to turnover when compared 
with 2009/10.

For the fourth consecutive year we have 
participated in the voluntary Carbon 
Disclosure Project (CDP), which benchmarks 
our performance against similar organisations 
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in our sectors, and helps clients to establish 
the carbon footprint of their supply chains.

Company-wide carbon emissions for 2010/11 
were 14.96 tonnes per £m turnover, 
representing an overall reduction of 13% on 
the previous year.

Waste and resources
in support of our commitment to the 
Government Waste and Resources Action 
Programme’s ‘Halving Waste to Landfill’ 
scheme, we have continued to raise 
awareness of waste minimisation 
opportunities through employee 
environmental training programmes, and have 
now introduced more effective guidance 
within our environmental risk assessment 
tools for projects and services. in the coming 
year we will combine our learning resources in 
this area within our CDM training framework, 
ensuring a more consistent approach to waste 
management planning across our business, 
and drive further efficiency savings for our 
clients.

We also publish detailed information on our 
strategy, commitment and performance on 
our website at www.mouchel.com/
sustainability.

For more information about how we are 
engaging with our employees please see the 
people review on page 18.

Premises Total consumption % overall footprint
Absolute emissions 

(tCO2e) 

Electricity (kWhrs) 8,773,567.60 55.88 4,603.79

Gas (kWhrs) 4,200,225.59 1.01 83.62

Travel Total consumption % overall footprint
Absolute emissions 

(tCO2e)

Air (km) 9,497,444 2.70 222.45

Rail (km) 3,586,368.9 0.57 46.94

Road: business mileage 
(miles) 6,396,499 4.55 375.11

Road: fuel cards (ltrs) 1,137,817.65 34.71 2,859.68

Road: daily hire vehicles 
(miles) 801,545 0.58 47.69

Key achievements:
• £37.5m saved through efficiency 

savings identified across the 
company.

• in the last year we have reduced 
absolute carbon emissions from 
office energy consumption and 
business travel by 2743 tonnes.

• For the fourth year running we 
have received a Gold Award 
from ROSPA for our approach 
to health and safety. 

6.46

10.79
6.53

10.47

6.48

8.50

Business Travel

Office Premises08-091 09-101 10-11

11,341 11,121

Carbon emissions relative to turnover  
(tonnes CO2e per £million)

1 Previously published emissions data for 2008/9 and 2009/10 have been adjusted 
within this table to account for changes within DEFRA’s carbon calculation factors

Company-wide carbon emissions for 2010/11
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The identification, assessment and mitigation 
of strategic and operational risks are essential 
components of day-to-day management at 
Mouchel and there are well-defined risk 
management procedures to support this 
process.

The Executive Management Board is 
responsible for assessing strategic risks to the 
business and for maintaining a risk register 
that details suitable and sufficient measures to 
control each area of risk and uncertainty. The 
risk environment varies considerably across 
the business according to the nature of the 
work Mouchel does and the industries in 
which we operate; but this approach ensures 
that we maintain a sound understanding of the 
environment in each sector.

The principal risks and uncertainties affecting 
the business are:

BusinEss REviEw
Principal risks and uncertainties 

Source of risk Mitigating factors

Contract risks

• Contract risk can materialise in not 
operating contracts properly due to poorly 
trained staff, poor service delivery and lack 
of financial and commercial control. A 
number of our contracts are complex and 
vary in scope and length, and may incur 
penalties for non-performance Additionally, 
risks may arise through poor negotiation of 
initial contract terms. 

• Mouchel is focusing on the project 
management culture across the Group and 
initiating a review of both processes and 
systems (including tendering procedures) to 
ensure they are improved to give more 
effective control, assurance and diligence in 
the way we deliver them. 
 

 
Financial risks

• There is a risk that continuing poor 
forecasting could result in inaccurate profit 
expectations and an inability to comply 
with banking covenants. This may impact 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The Group is exposed to risks 
arising from variations in interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates, credit and liquidity. 
The risks relating to variations in interest 
rates arise from long-term pounds sterling 
borrowings at variable rates.

• Group policy is to hedge a proportion of the 
drawn bank-revolving credit facility in order to 
mitigate interest-rate risk. The remainder of the 
risks and their mitigating factors are fully 
disclosed in note 22. Refinancing is outlined in 
Banking on page 8. Additionally more robust 
trend analysis and financial challenge has 
been developed around the forecasting 
process. 
 

 
Counterparty risks

• As set out in note 17 the Group is exposed 
to 72.5m AED in Abu Dhabi as a result of 
the BPR contract undertaken by the 
Management Consulting division of the 
business during 2010 and 2011.

• significant management resource is being 
applied in Abu Dhabi to liaise closely with the 
Client to enable payment to be realised at the 
earliest possible date. 
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“Mouchel’s focus lies largely  
on essential services and vital  
public infrastructure rather  
than capital projects”

Source of risk Mitigating factors

Taxation risks

• Changes to and interpretation of tax laws 
and regulations in any of the markets we 
operate in. The risk is a negative impact on 
the Groups effective tax rate and costly 
compliance requirements and may lead to 
additional tax cash payments.

• Close observation of any intended or 
proposed changes in tax rules together with 
rulings in tax case law both in the uK and in 
other key countries where the Group 
operates. 

 
Pension risks

• The Group’s defined benefit pension funds 
have a material deficit. The Group has taken 
further steps to reduce this deficit by 
ceasing benefit accrual as from 31 
December 2010 for all members who do 
not have protected pension benefits. 
However the deficit is exposed to the risk of 
changes in interest rates and asset values, 
as well as inflation and life expectancy of 
members. 
 
in addition, in respect of any ex-local 
government staff, additional pension costs 
could arise on redundancy or potential 
shortfalls in respect of the transfer values 
that could become payable.

• The Group’s defined benefit pension funds 
are closed to new members except where 
new contracts are won requiring defined 
benefit pensions to be provided. in addition, 
except for ex-local government staff who 
continue to work on their originating contracts, 
benefit accrual ceased as from 31 December 
2010. we actively monitor the funds position, 
taking professional advice, assessing liabilities 
and the trustees are implementing inflation 
swaps to reduce future volatility. The triennial 
valuation as at 31 March 2010 have been 
completed and Recovery Plans to eliminate 
the deficits have been put in place 
subsequent to the year end. 

 
Market and economic risks

• The economic and fiscal pressures that 
affect many of Mouchel’s principal client 
groups – arising from the high public sector 
deficit and a change of government 
domestically together with a depressed 
property market in the Middle East – 
continue to present risks and uncertainties 
for the business, particularly regarding 
Mouchel’s competitive position in the public 
sector.

• Mouchel’s focus lies largely on essential 
services and vital public infrastructure rather 
than capital projects. Furthermore, our 
business is built around long-term contractual 
relationships, which means that changes in 
funding levels can be absorbed through 
progressive transformation of service delivery. 
 
 



26 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011

Business Review

BusinEss REviEw
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Source of risk Mitigating factors

Reputational  risks

• Reduction in confidence in Mouchel as a 
result of the recent performance could 
impact the Company’s ability to bid and 
win new work and retain existing 
contracts. Furthermore, design, 
management and communication errors; 
and accidents, incidents and poor 
stakeholder management, could all 
potentially threaten the reputation of  
the business. 
 
 
 
 

• The Board and the new management team 
has a strong focus on restoring confidence in 
the Group, and in maintain existing and new 
customer relationships. This year Mouchel has 
consolidated its internal and external 
communication teams into a single function 
and strengthened its governance around 
communications across the Company thus 
reducing the risk of communication errors. 
Changes in the management team has also 
resulted in Mouchel’s ability to respond 
quickly and effectively to incidents/crises as 
they arise. it has also enabled greater issues 
management, heading off potential incidents 
or crises before they occur.

 
Safety, health and environmental risks

• safety, health and environmental risks exist 
within all areas of Mouchel’s operations, 
though the nature and severity of risk 
varies considerably between different 
sectors and operational activities. Principal 
health and safety risks include the 
provision and use of motor vehicles; 
working on, or adjacent to, highways and 
railways; and from slips, trips and falls in 
both office and site environments. 
significant environmental risks are 
associated with the management of 
carbon emissions (from office utilities 
usage and business travel), the 
management of physical wastes from its 
facilities, and the procurement of 
responsibly sourced products and 
services.

• Mouchel systematically assesses all safety, 
health and environmental (sHE) risks in 
accordance with uK legislation and industry 
good practice, and operates a combined 
management system that is compliant with 
both OHsAs 18001 and isO 14001 
standards. During the year we have continued 
to develop and improve our policies and 
systems to mitigate occupational road risk, 
and to reduce our carbon footprint. Particular 
focus has been given to improving employee 
competencies in relation to the management 
of sHE issues, including the launch of new 
training resources via the company’s 
e-learning tools. 
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Source of risk Mitigating factors

Business continuity risks

• Risk to the continuity of Mouchel’s 
operations arises from internal incidents 
(such as iT infrastructure failures) and/or 
external incidents (such as flu pandemics 
or acts of terrorism). 
 

• All employees have been issued with ‘crisis 
cards’, which provide them with the details 
needed to mobilise our crisis management 
team. Business continuity plans exist for each 
of our offices and activities, and we conduct 
rehearsals of scenarios that may threaten 
continuity of operations.

 
Organisational structure /  
workforce risks

• The extent of recent staff turnover, and 
Mouchel’s ability to attract and retain 
sufficient numbers of appropriately skilled 
and experienced employees is a risk that 
may result in the company cost base not 
being aligned to business changes and 
evolving organisational initiatives. 
Additionally, the move to a new central 
shared service Centre may result in loss 
of knowledge. 

• Mouchel continues to focus on succession 
planning processes and our professional and 
technical training. The restructuring process 
has left us with leaner management structures 
and the Group has a dedicated change 
management team tasked with ensuring all 
such strategic developments are integrated 
into the new business model. 
 

 
Joint venture risks

• Joint ventures invariably lead to the sharing 
of responsibilities and to more arms-length 
planning, management and control 
systems. The commercial and operational 
actions of Mouchel’s joint ventures could 
result in a level of risk exposure that is 
higher than in Mouchel. 
 
 

• Approximately 39% of our work is undertaken 
through joint ventures with other private sector 
providers, for example Enterprise, Peek, and 
Downer; and with local authority partners 
such as Oldham and Liverpool councils. But 
in practice many of the systems operated in 
these Jvs are based on those developed by 
Mouchel and there are mechanisms in place 
to ensure that we are aware of the actions 
being taken by Jv companies on our behalf.
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Sir Michael Lyons
Senior Independent Director 
and interim Chairman
Sir Michael has stepped in to chair the Board 
until a new Chairman is appointed. Sir Michael 
joined the Board of Parkman Group in June 
2001. He was appointed a Non-Executive 
Director following the merger of Mouchel plc 
and Parkman Group plc in September 2003. 
Sir Michael is the Chairman of English Cities 
Fund and was until recently the Chairman of 
the BBC Trust. He is Chairman of Participle 
Ltd and Tindal Street Press. He is a Non-
Executive Director of Wragge & Co LLP and 
SQW Group Ltd, and was recently appointed 
a strategic advisor to CB Richard Ellis Ltd. Sir 
Michael has undertaken a series of 
independent reviews for the Government 
(including the Lyons Review 2004 to 2007 into 
the future role and funding of local 
government). Sir Michael was formerly Acting 
Chairman of the Audit Commission, Non-
Executive Director of Central Independent 
Television Ltd, and Chief Executive of 
Birmingham City Council, Nottinghamshire 
County Council and Wolverhampton 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Member of:
Audit Committee 
Nomination Committee 
Remuneration Committee 

Grant Rumbles 
Chief Executive
Grant joined the Mouchel Board as Chief 
Executive on 13 October 2011. He was 
formerly Chief Executive at Exova, an 
international Testing, Advisory and Assurance 
services’ business where he worked from 
2008 to 2011. Previously, he was with Serco 
plc for 25 years where he held a range of 
senior management positions, culminating in 
his last four years as the group Chief 
Operating Officer. He was also a Board 
member of Serco Group plc.

Rod Harris
Group Finance Director
Rod was appointed as Group Finance 
Director in June 2011. He was previously 
Finance Director of Carillion Business 
Services, a £1.3bn business support services 
division within Carillion plc and had previously 
held various finance roles at Johnson 
Controls, including that of European Financial 
Controller for Facilities Management. He spent 
his early career in the water industry, having 
qualified as a chartered accountant with 
Robson Rhodes. Rod is a Member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Debbie Hewitt
Non-Executive Director
Debbie joined Mouchel as an Advisor to the 
Board in April 2007 and was appointed 
Non-Executive Director in September 2007. 
She is Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee. She is Non-Executive Chairman 
of Moss Bros Group plc. Debbie is also a 
Non-Executive Director of Redrow plc, NCC 
Group plc, HR Owen plc and Domestic and 
General Ltd and BGL Group. Debbie was 
Managing Director of the RAC Automotive 
Group and held various commercial and HR 
management positions at Marks & Spencer 
plc. She has an MBA with distinction, is a 
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel 
Development and a Parish Councillor.

Member of:
Nomination Committee, 
Remuneration Committee (Chairman)
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Seamus Keating
Non-Executive Director
Seamus joined the Mouchel Board as a 
Non-Executive Director in November 2010 
and is Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
Seamus was appointed CEO for Benelux and 
Chief Operations Officer at Logica Group in 
December 2010. He was a member of the 
Board from February 2002 when he also 
became Chief Financial Officer, having been 
Director of Group Finance since 1999. 
Seamus came to Logica from Getronics, 
where he had been Finance Director of its 
Olivetti Solutions business. Prior to that, he 
had been Finance Director of Olivetti’s UK 
operations, having joined its finance function in 
1989. He is a fellow of the Chartered Institute 
of Management Accountants.

Member of:
Audit Committee (Chairman) 
Nomination Committee 
Remuneration Committee

Richard Rae
Non-Executive Director
Richard joined the Mouchel Board as a 
Non-Executive Director in November 2010. He 
was a Director and subsequently Managing 
Director in the Global Equities division of ABN 
AMRO (later RBS) from 1995 to 2009. Richard 
is an independent management consultant, 
providing due diligence and corporate advice 
to both listed and unlisted companies.

Member of:
Nomination Committee 
Remuneration Committee
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The Directors present their Annual Report and 
the audited financial statements of Mouchel 
Group plc (the Company) and the Mouchel 
Group for the year ended 31 July 2011.

Principal activities
Mouchel Group plc is an infrastructure and 
business services group that provides design, 
managerial, engineering and operational 
services to support modern society. Over the 
last year we have worked with UK government 
agencies, local authorities and with industries 
regulated by government to provide safe and 
reliable roads and railway networks, effective 
and well managed local education and civic 
infrastructure, clean water and cost-effective 
energy. Mouchel has helped identify 
opportunities for government to work more 
effectively to deliver improved services and 
has worked in partnership with these same 
organisations to deliver these more efficiently. 

Business review
The progress of the business during the year 
and anticipated future developments are 
discussed in the Chairman’s statement and 
Business review on pages 10 to 27, which 
provides information about the Group’s 
strategy, its business, its financial 
performance, key performance indicators, the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the 
Group and likely developments.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Acquisitions
The Company did not make any acquisitions 
during the year.

Post balance sheet events
On 19 October 2011 the Group announced 
the disposal of the business and assets of 
Mouchel Rail to Sinclair Knight Merz for 
consideration of £3.4m paid in cash to the 
Group at completion, with the Group retaining 
net realisable assets (principally debtors and 
work-in-progress) of a further £2.5m. See the 
note on page 101.

On 21 October 2011 the Group announced 
the disposal of its pipeline design business to 
Mott MacDonald Ltd, which paid initial 
consideration of approximately £2.6m in cash 
for the share capital of Mouchel Energy Ltd. 
See the note on page 101.

Results and dividends
The Group loss for the financial year after 
taxation and exceptional items amounted to 
£68.6m (2010: loss of £13.5m). The Directors 
will not be paying a dividend (2010: 0p).

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial risk management 
objectives and policies can be found in note 
1u of the Accounting policies on page 62 and 
note 22 of the Notes to the financial 
statements on page 86.

Directors
Biographical details of the current Directors 
and their share interests can be found on 
pages 28 and 50 respectively.

Changes to the Board 
Kevin Young, Group Finance Director for 
Mouchel from 1998 to 2010, left on 31 August 
2010. David Tilston, who joined Mouchel on 
13 September 2010 to succeed Kevin as 
Group Finance Director left on 17 June 2011. 
Rod Harris was appointed Group Finance 
Director on 17 June 2011. Biographical 
information for Rod Harris can be found on 
page 28.

Ian Knight stepped down from his role as 
Audit Committee Chairman on 4 November 
2010, and was succeeded by Seamus 
Keating. Ian Knight left the Board on 1 
September 2011, following ten years as a 
Non-Executive Director.

Rodney Westhead, who joined Mouchel as a 
Non-Executive Director in September 2003, 
resigned as Senior Independent Director at 
the AGM on 31 January 2011. As a result, Sir 
Michael Lyons succeeded Rodney as Senior 
Independent Director. In so doing he 
relinquished his chairmanship of the 
Remuneration Committee, and the role was 
taken up by Debbie Hewitt.

During the year, three new Non-Executive 
Directors joined the Mouchel Board: Richard 
Rae and Seamus Keating on 4 November 
2010, and David Sugden on 1 January 2011. 
Biographical information for Richard Rae and 
Seamus Keating can be found on page 28.



30 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011

Governance

After the end of the financial year, Richard 
Cuthbert resigned from the Company as a 
Director and as Chief Executive on 5 October 
2011. As a result of his resignation, Bo 
Lerenius became Executive Chairman until the 
appointment of a new Chief Executive. On 12 
October 2011, Bo resigned from his position 
as Executive Chairman due to limits on his 
time as a result of other commitments, David 
Sugden was then appointed as Interim 
Chairman on 13 October 2011. He resigned 
on 15 October 2011. Sir Michael Lyons has 
become Interim Chairman on a full time basis 
until a suitable successor is found. Grant 
Rumbles was appointed as a Director and as 
Chief Executive on 13 October 2011. 
Biographical information for Grant Rumbles 
can be found on page 28.

Details of the remuneration of all Directors who 
served during the financial year and their 
service contracts are included in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 50. No 
Director was materially interested in any 
contract of significance to the Company’s 
business or the Group. During the year, the 
Group has maintained cover for its Directors 
and officers and those of its subsidiary 
companies under a Directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance policy, which contains 
qualifying third party provisions, as permitted 
by the Companies Act 2006 (the 2006 Act). 
The policy was in force throughout the 
financial year and at the date when the 
financial statements were signed.

Share capital and change of 
control
The authorised share capital of the Company 
as at 31 July 2011, together with details of 
shares issued during the financial year is 

shown in note 26 of the Notes to the financial 
statements on page 92. During the year, the 
Company’s ordinary share capital remained 
unchanged. The Company’s issued share 
capital consisted of 112,369,719 ordinary 
shares of 0.25p each at 31 July 2011.

The rights and obligations attached to the 
Company’s ordinary shares are contained in 
the Company’s Articles of Association, a copy 
of which can be obtained on request from the 
Company Secretary. The Articles of 
Association can only be changed by a special 
resolution passed in a general meeting of the 
shareholders. There are no special control 
rights or restrictions on transfer or limitations 
on the holding of ordinary shares and no 
requirements for the prior approval of any 
transfers. No person holds securities in the 
Company carrying special rights with regard 
to control of the Company. The Company is 
not aware of any agreements between holders 
of securities that may result in restrictions on 
the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

Each ordinary share (other than treasury 
shares, which have no voting rights) carries 
the right to vote at a general meeting of the 
Company. At any general meeting, a 
resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall 
be decided on a poll. On a poll, every member 
who is present in person or by proxy shall 
have one vote for every share of which they 
are a holder.

The Trustees of the Company’s Employee 
Share Ownership Plan Trusts (ESOPs) have 
waived their rights to dividends in respect of 
1,246,209 shares and do not exercise their 
right to vote in respect of such shares. The 
Company’s employee share schemes contain 
provisions relating to a change of control of the 
Company. Under these provisions, a change 
of control of the Company would normally be 

a vesting event, subject to any relevant 
performance conditions being satisfied. 

The Group’s credit facilities, as disclosed in 
note 20, include a change of control clause 
that requires the Group to promptly inform its 
Bankers of a change of control, as defined by 
sections 450 and 451 of the Corporation Tax 
Act 2010. The consequence of this clause is 
that upon a change of control the banks have 
the option to cancel the credit facilities and to 
declare the facilities, accrued interest and any 
other amounts due under the facility as 
immediately repayable.

The Company is aware of major contracts and 
joint venture arrangements to which it is party, 
containing clauses that, if triggered by a 
change of control of the Company, may alter 
or terminate the contracts or arrangements.

Purchase of own shares
The Company has authority from 
shareholders to purchase up to 10% of its 
own ordinary shares in the market. This 
authority was not used during the year nor in 
the period to 29 November 2011. The Board 
intends to seek shareholder approval to renew 
the authority at this year’s Annual General 
Meeting (AGM).

In accordance with the Companies 
(Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury Shares) 
Regulations 2003, companies are permitted 
to hold purchased shares rather than 
cancelling them. The Board has no current 
intention to purchase shares as treasury 
shares, other than as required for employee 
share schemes.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Name of holder No of ordinary shares % of issued share capital

Schroder Investment Management 22,778,620 20.27

M & G Investment Management 13,845,647 12.32

Hof Hoorneman Bankiers 6,588,567 5.86

Legal and General Investment Management 4,305,244 3.83

Standard Life Investments 4,092,299 3.64

Corporate governance
A report on corporate governance can be 
found on pages 34 to 39. The corporate 
governance report forms part of the Directors’ 
report and is incorporated into it by cross-
reference.

Health & Safety
The Board of Directors is responsible for 
providing health and safety leadership and for 
ensuring that decisions are made consistent 
with the Policy Statement. It will satisfy itself 
that competent resources exist to manage 
health and safety and that adequate resources 
are made available for the Policy to be 
implemented. The Chief Executive is the 
individual identified at Board level with 
responsibility for health and safety.

Corporate responsibility
A summary of the Group’s corporate 
responsibility activities can be found in the 
Business Review on pages 4 and 27. In 
addition, details of the Company’s 
sustainability policy can be found on the 
Company’s corporate website. The Company 
maintains a strong commitment to 
sustainability. Sustainability is a collective 

responsibility which has an impact on the 
environment, communities and customers 
that we serve. We will continue to develop a 
robust and committed policy.

Employees
As at 31 July 2011, there were 8,645 people 
working for the Group, including temporary 
staff and staff employed within joint ventures 
who were using Mouchel systems. The 
Group’s policy is to provide an environment for 
all employees to fully develop their individual 
potential and thereby encourage their 
contribution to the success of Mouchel. The 
Group places considerable value on the 
involvement of its employees and has 
Investors in People accreditation for all its UK 
offices and sites.

Internal communication is a high priority within 
the Group and employees are kept informed 
on matters affecting them as employees and 
on the Group’s financial performance. This is 
achieved through informal and formal 
meetings and various communications. 
Following the announcement of the Group’s 
final and interim results, staff presentations are 

made in various locations across the Group by 
the senior management team. The Group 
uses its intranet to communicate job 
vacancies, Group policies and other Company 
news.

Staff opinions are sought annually via a 
confidential survey. The results of the survey 
are communicated to staff and are reviewed 
and acted upon to make improvements. 
Employees are encouraged to own shares in 
the Company and this is actively promoted via 
the Sharesave scheme.

The Group has a diversity and equal 
opportunities policy and is committed to 
providing equal opportunities to all employees 
and job applicants irrespective of gender, 
race, age, religion, disability or sexual 
orientation.

The Group’s policy and practice in respect of 
disabled persons is to encourage the 
recruitment and subsequent training, career 
development and promotion of disabled 
persons and the retention and retraining of 
employees who become disabled, on the 
basis of their aptitude and abilities. The Group 
also has a policy of ensuring it offers family-
friendly working arrangements. We consider 
requests for individuals to work flexibly to meet 
their needs and the needs of the business. 
Some people also have more formal 
arrangements in place such as part-time 
working and job-sharing. Our flexible benefits 
scheme offers childcare vouchers and the 
opportunity to extend a number of healthcare 
benefits to employees’ families.

Learning and development is critical to the 
success of Mouchel and we have a 
performance management system that 
provides a biannual opportunity for employees 
to discuss their progress and identify training 
needs. We provide our employees with a wide 
range of resources to assist with their personal 
development, which includes a mix of formal 
and online training.

Substantial shareholders
As at 11 November 2011, the Company had 
been notified of the following voting interests in 
its ordinary share capital, disclosable under 
the Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure 
and Transparency Rules:
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Charitable and political 
donations
During the financial year 2010/11 the Group 
made total charitable donations for the year of 
£2,822 (2010: £45,800). 

We have developed a new community 
involvement policy, encouraging our 
employees to form long-term relationships 
with local charities, by focusing on volunteer 
work and fundraising which benefits the local 
community. We believe that these efforts will 
have a significant impact and will build on the 
benefits we are already providing through the 
Group’s contracts with local authorities. The 
Group will, subject to budgetary 
considerations, match both time volunteered 
and funds raised and we aspire to devote time 
and resources to the community.

It is the Group’s policy not to make political 
donations in the UK or overseas and the 
Group has no intention of making any political 
donations or incurring such expenditure in the 
future. However, the Political Parties, Elections 
and Referendum Act (the PPER ACT) and part 
14 of the Companies Act (2006 Act) define 
political parties, other political organisations or 
independent election candidates very widely. 
The Board will therefore seek authority at the 
forthcoming AGM for the Company and any 
Company that is or becomes a subsidiary 
during the period ending on the date of the 
AGM to incur such political expenditure up to 
£100,000 in aggregate in order to prevent an 
inadvertent breach of the PPER Act and the 
2006 Act.

Research and development
During the year, the Group did not capitalise 
any research and development expenditure. 
(2010: £0)

Supplier payment policy
Mouchel Group plc is a holding Company and 
has no trade payables. Group companies aim 
to adhere to the payment terms agreed with 
suppliers. Payments are contingent on the 
supplier providing goods or services to the 
required standard, and purchasing is 
sometimes coordinated between Group 
undertakings. As at 31 July 2011, the Group 
had an average of 30 days purchases owed to 
trade payables (2010: 42 days). This 
represents the ratio, expressed in days, 
between the amounts invoiced to the Group 
by its suppliers in the year to the trade 
payables at year end.

Statement of Directors’ 
responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report, the Remuneration Report and 
the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. Company law 
requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that 
law the Directors have elected to prepare the 
Group financial statements and the Parent 
Company Financial Statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union. Under company law the 
Directors must not approve the Financial 
Statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and the Company and of the profit 
or loss of the Group for that period. In 
preparing these financial statements, the 
Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

• make judgments and accounting estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union (EU) have been 
followed subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the Group and 
Parent Company Financial Statements 
respectively; and

• prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the Company 
will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
accounting records that are sufficient to show 
and explain the Company’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Company and the 
Group and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements and the Remuneration 
Report comply with the 2006 Act and, as 
regards the Group financial statements, Article 
4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. The 
Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the Company’s website. 
Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names and 
functions are listed in the Board of Directors 
on page 28, confirm that, to the best of their 
knowledge and belief:
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• the Group financial statements, which have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
loss of the Group and Company; and

• the Directors’ report which can be found on 
pages 29 to 33 includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group, 
together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties that it faces.

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis.

The Directors recognise that the current 
trading environment and short-term outlook 
provide some challenges to Mouchel. 
However, as set out in this Annual Report, the 
Directors are confident that they have taken a 
number of actions to secure the long term 
prospects of the Group. There has been 
significant restructuring to ensure that the cost 
base is in line with revenue expectations and 
as discussed in note 20 the banking facilities 
with our principal lenders have been 
renegotiated. 

Additionally, as a result of the impairment 
charges of £45.3m arising in the year ended 
31 July 2011, the Directors believe the current 
restriction set out in the Company’s Articles of 
Association relating to the borrowing powers 
of the Group is no longer appropriate.  The 
Directors are requesting approval from the 
shareholders of the Company to vary the 
Group’s borrowing limit by introducing a 
specified maximum borrowing limit. The 
Directors are proposing an ordinary resolution 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 

(AGM) seeking shareholder approval to permit 
the current borrowing limit to be exceeded up 
to a maximum borrowing limit of £225m until 
the 2013 AGM and to ratify any and all 
infringements by the directors prior to the 2012 
AGM of their duties to restrict the Group’s 
borrowings. The Directors have considered 
the possibility of this ordinary resolution 
relating to the proposed variation of the 
Company’s borrowing limit not being 
approved and consider this possibility to be 
remote.

The Directors are therefore satisfied that there 
is sufficient utilisable banking facilities and 
headroom within the banking facilities to 
support the current business for the 
foreseeable future.

Auditors
In accordance with section 418 of the 2006 
Act, having made enquiries of fellow directors, 
each director who was a member of the 
Board at the time of approving the Directors’ 
Report confirms that to the best of his or her 
knowledge, the financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis as, 
after making appropriate enquiries, the 
Directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, there is no relevant audit 
information (ie information needed by the 
Company and Group’s auditors in connection 
with preparing their Report) of which the 
Company and Group’s auditors are unaware 
and that each director has taken all steps that 
they ought to have taken as a director to be 
aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Company and Group’s 
auditors are aware of that information.

During the year under review, the Audit 
Committee appraised the effectiveness of the 
external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP, and the external audit process. The 
Company has procedures and policies in 
place to monitor and maintain the objectivity 
and independence of the external auditors.

The policy requires approval by the Group 
Finance Director and Chairman of the Audit 
Committee for non-audit work. The Audit 
Committee reviews the scope of non-audit 
work. Details of amounts paid to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are set out in 
note 4 to the financial statements. The external 
auditors have confirmed to the Committee 
they have remained independent and have 
appropriate safeguards to ensure their 
objectivity.

Resolutions to reappoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors of 
the Company and to authorise the Audit 
Committee to determine their remuneration 
will be put to the members at the AGM.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held at The 
Lincoln Centre, 18 Lincoln’s Inn Fields, 
London, WCA 3ED on 20 January 2012 at 
11am. The business to be put to the 
shareholders is detailed in the separate Notice 
of Meeting accompanying this Report.

Approved by the Board of Directors and 
signed on its behalf

Amanda Massie 
Group Company Secretary 
29 November 2011



34 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011

Governance

The Group seeks to operate to a high 
standard of Corporate Governance. In pursuit 
of such standards, the Directors robustly 
adopt a governance approach that currently 
complies with all of the provisions of the 2010 
UK Code on Corporate Governance (the 
Code). The Board applied all of the principles 
and provisions of the Code throughout the 
year ended 31 July 2011. Where practicable, 
the Directors seek to comply with guidelines 
issued by institutional investors and their 
representative bodies. A copy of the Code is 
available at www.frc.org.uk.

The Company prepares the Annual Report 
and Consolidated Annual Report to include 
the subsidiary companies as required by 
Listing Rule DTR 7.2.1R.

The Board

Role of the Board
The Board’s principal responsibility is to deliver 
shareholder value and provide an overall vision 
and leadership for the Company, together with 
long-term success. It determines the 
Company’s strategic direction; reviews the 
Company’s operating and financial 
performance; provides oversight to ensure 
that the Company is adequately resourced 
and effectively controlled; and is the primary 
decision-making body for all matters 
considered to be significant to the Company 
as a whole.

There is a formal schedule of matters reserved 
for the Board, which provides a framework for 
the Board to oversee the control of the 
Group’s direction and affairs. These include 
approval of the Group’s long-term objectives 
and commercial strategy; approval of budgets 
and business plans, and oversight of the 
Group’s compliance with regulatory 
obligations. The schedule is supported by 
clearly defined written limits of delegated 
authority across the Company.

Key matters that are discussed and reviewed 
by the Board include:
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• health, safety and environment performance;

• the Group’s strategic plan and strategic 
issues facing the business;

• internal controls and risk management;

• major projects and tenders;

• shareholder matters;

• group budget and financial review; and

• people management, retention and 
succession planning

The Board is responsible for determining the 
nature and extent of the significant risks it is 
willing to take in achieving its strategic 
objective.

Board composition and Board 
balance
The Board comprised 10 members during the 
majority of 2010/11. Two members were 
Executive Directors and the other members, 
including the Chairman, were Non-Executive 
Directors. Collectively, they had a diverse 
range of skills and experience.

The composition of the Board changed on 5 
October 2011 following the resignation from 
the Company of Richard Cuthbert as Chief 
Executive and the subsequent appointment of 
Bo Lerenius as Executive Chairman. The 
composition changed further when Bo 
Lerenius resigned from the Board on 12 
October 2011 and David Sugden stepped up 
as interim Chairman on 13 October 2011. 
David resigned from the Board on 15 October, 
and Sir Michael Lyons, the Senior 
Independent Director, will chair the Board until 
a new Chairman is appointed.

The Board reviews the composition of the 
Board annually and considers that there is an 
appropriate balance of Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors on the Board. Details 
of the roles, backgrounds and other 
commitments of the Directors are shown in 
the Directors’ biographies on page 28.

The Board needs a balance of skills, 
experience, independence and knowledge of 
the Company and recognises that Directors 
need sufficient time to discharge their 
responsibilities effectively.

The Board considers that the independence 
and diversity of the Directors complies with 
the requirements of the Code and ensures 
that appointments are made on merit, against 
objective criteria and with due regard for the 
benefits of diversity on the Board, including 
gender.

Chairman and Chief Executive
The separate roles and objectives of the 
Chairman and the Chief Executive are clearly 
defined in written role descriptions. These are 
reviewed and re-approved annually by the 
Board. The Chairman is responsible for the 
leadership and efficient operation of the 
Board, independent from the Chief Executive, 
for ensuring that corporate governance 
matters are addressed, and for representing 
the Company externally and communicating 
with shareholders when required.

The Chairman holds at least one meeting a 
year with the Non-Executive Directors without 
the Executive Directors being present, and 
ensures a culture of openness and debate 
and adequate time for discussion. The 
Chairman ensures Directors are made aware 
of shareholder concerns, and reviews the 
training and development needs of each 
Director. The Non-Executive Directors’ role is 
to challenge and to help develop strategy.

The Chief Executive is responsible for the 
development and implementation of policy 
and strategy and for the day-to-day operations 
of the Group. He is also responsible for 
chairing the Executive Management Board 
and leads the communication programme 
with analysts and potential investors, providing 
feedback to the Board on a regular basis.
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Independent Non-Executive 
Directors
The Board considers that all of the Non-
Executive Directors are independent of 
management and free of any business 
relationship or other circumstance that could 
materially interfere with the exercise of 
objective, unfettered or independent 
judgment. In determining their independence, 
the Board reviews all Directors’ interests which 
may give rise to a potential or perceived 
conflict, and any circumstances relevant to 
their current or ongoing independence as set 
out in the Code.

Under the strict definitions of Independence 
under the Code, Richard Rae is not deemed 
to be independent until June 2012 due to his 
previous employment at RBS. However, in all 
other respects, the Board considers him to be 
independent.

Each Non-Executive Director serves for a term 
of three years, which may be renewed by 
mutual agreement and annually by 
shareholders at the AGM. Subject to the 
Board being satisfied with a Director’s 
performance, independence and 
commitment, there is no specified limit 
regarding the number of terms a Director may 
serve. New and long-service Directors alike 
challenge and bring broad business and 
commercial experience with independent and 
objective judgment.

Senior Independent Director
Following the resignation on 31 January 2011 
of Rodney Westhead, who served as the 
Senior Independent Director throughout 2010, 
Sir Michael Lyons was appointed to the role in 
January 2011. The Senior Independent 
Director is available to shareholders should 
they have any issues or concerns that they 
have been unable to resolve through normal 
channels, or when such channels would be 
inappropriate, and is also responsible for 
leading the Board’s discussion regarding the 
Chairman’s performance. During the period 
under review, Sir Michael has indeed met with 
shareholders for consultation. Sir Michael 
Lyons is currently chairing the Board until a 
new Chairman of the Company is appointed.

Board process
The Board is responsible for the overall 
strategy of the Group and carries out its duties 
assisted by the Board Committees, for which 
there are approved terms of reference which 
are reviewed annually. The Committees’ 
activities are described on pages 37 and 38.

To enable the Directors to fulfil their duties and 
obligations, all Directors are fully briefed on 
important developments in the various 
business activities which the Group carries out 
and regularly receive information concerning 
the Group’s operations, finances and risk 
factors. The Directors are also frequently 
advised on regulatory and best practice 
requirements which affect the Group’s 
business. Comprehensive papers are 
circulated to Directors in advance of Board 

Meetings eligible to attend Meetings attended

Bo Lerenius (Executive Chairman)2 32 31

Debbie Hewitt 32 32

Ian Knight3 32 32

Sir Michael Lyons 32 30

Rodney Westhead4 16 13

David Sugden5 21 20

Seamus Keating6 28 20

Richard Rae7 28 28

Richard Cuthbert8 32 32

Kevin Young9 1 1

David Tilston10 29 29

Rod Harris11 2 2

1 12 scheduled and 20 additional Board meetings held during the year
2 Resigned 12 October 2011
3 Resigned 1 September 2011
4 Resigned 31 January 2011
5 Appointed 1 January 2011 and resigned 15 October 2011
6 Appointed 4 November 2010
7 Appointed 4 November 2010
8 Resigned from the Company 5 October 2011
9 Left 31 August 2010
10 Appointed 13 September 2010 and left 17 June 2011
11 Appointed 17 June 2011

meetings and presentations made at the 
meetings where appropriate.

The Board is scheduled to meet monthly and 
no less than 10 times a year. In addition to 
normal scheduled meetings, the Board 
convenes from time to time to deal with urgent 
matters. In the year under review, the Board 
met 32 times and held 10 Board Committee 
meetings. The additional meetings were 
necessary given the takeover approaches 
made. The Board also meets at least once a 
year to review the strategic direction of the 
Group. The Chairman and Non-Executive 
Directors meet annually without the Executive 
Directors present.

The table below shows the attendance by 
individual Directors at Board meetings held 
during the year.
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Conflict of interest
In line with the 2006 Act, the Company’s 
Articles of Association were amended to allow 
the Directors to authorise conflicts of interest. 
The Board has adopted a policy and effective 
procedures for managing and, where 
appropriate, approving conflicts or potential 
conflicts of interest. Under these procedures, 
Directors are required to declare all 
directorships or other appointments to 
companies which are not part of the Mouchel 
Group and which could give rise to conflicts or 
potential conflicts of interest, as well as other 
situations which could give rise to a potential 
conflicts of interest.

Group Company Secretary
All Directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary and may, 
in furtherance of their duties, seek 
independent professional advice, including 
legal advice at the Company’s expense. The 
Company Secretary is responsible for 
ensuring that Board procedures and 
applicable rules and regulations are followed. 
The Company Secretary, in consultation with 
the Chairman, ensures that the information 
presented to the Board is not only timely but 
of sufficient quality to enable members to 
make informed decisions.

Board performance and 
evaluation
An effective board is crucial to the success of 
the Group. To assess the performance of the 
Board and its Committees, the Directors 
undertook a formal and thorough evaluation of 
the Board’s performance and that of its 
Committees. Each Director completed a 
detailed questionnaire, the responses to which 
were all reviewed by the Chairman and 
discussed with the entire Board. The appraisal 
questionnaire was wide-ranging and based on 
the process and questions outlined in the 
Code, covering Board and Committee 
performance. The Board considered the 

merits of using an external body to manage 
the performance evaluation process and 
concluded that it remained appropriate for the 
Board to evaluate its own performance. 
However, in line with best practice, it will use 
an external body at least every three years.

The evaluation covered areas such as the 
Board’s role and culture, strategy, current 
issues and performance, risk management 
and controls, Board structure, succession 
planning, Board and principal committee 
meetings. The performance of each individual 
Director was also assessed. The Chairman 
also holds in-depth one-to-one meetings with 
each member of the Board. Separately, the 
Senior Independent Director reviews the 
performance of the Chairman with the 
Non-Executive Directors and then holds a 
one-to-one meeting with him to discuss his 
performance. The conclusion from the review 
was that the Board operated effectively and 
the actions arising from the review were 
particularly focused on the Group’s strategy, 
risk management and internal controls, board 
structure and succession planning.

The outcome of the evaluations undertaken 
over the past five years was also reviewed and 
progress on any actions noted.

Directors’ induction  
and training
Members of the Board receive regular 
briefings by senior executives, the Company’s 
advisors, and other means, to update and 
develop their skills and knowledge, and to 
gain a thorough understanding of the Group’s 
businesses and operations. During the year, 
the Board continued to receive briefings on 
new requirements introduced by the 2006 Act. 
External training is made available where 
appropriate.

On appointment, new Directors receive a wide 
ranging and comprehensive induction 
covering the Group’s operations and the legal, 
regulatory and other obligations of a Director 
of a listed company. The induction includes 
site visits and meetings with key management 
and the Company’s legal and financial 
advisors. The Directors also attend external 
courses where necessary.

Election and re-election  
of directors
All Directors who are incumbent members of 
the Board during the year will be subject to 
re-election at the AGM. In addition, any 
Director appointed during the year is subject 
to election at the AGM after his or her 
appointment.

In accordance with Article 116 of the Articles 
of Association, the Board may appoint a 
Director to fill a vacancy or as an additional 
Director.

Board committees
The Board is assisted in discharging its 
responsibilities through three principal 
Committees: the Audit Committee; the 
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee. In addition to the Board 
Committees, the Executive Management 
Board assists the Chief Executive in 
implementing the day-to-day management 
responsibilities of the Group.

Each Committee is responsible for the 
activities within its defined terms of reference. 
The Chairman of each Committee provides 
the Board with a summary of key issues 
considered at the meetings of the Committees 
and the minutes of the meetings are circulated 
to the Board.

Board Committees are authorised to engage 
the services of external advisors as they deem 
necessary in the furtherance of their duties at 
the Company’s expense. Reports of the 
Committees are set out on pages 37 to 39 
and pages 40 to 50.

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE REPORT 
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The Chief Executive and the Finance Director 
attended the meetings by invitation as 
required.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in 
discharging its responsibilities for the integrity 
of the Company’s external financial reporting; 
the assessment of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the internal financial and risk 
control function; the Group’s accounting 
policies and monitoring the effectiveness and 
objectivity of the external Auditors. The terms 
of reference of the Audit Committee were 
reviewed during the year.

The Committee members have broad 
experience and knowledge of financial 
reporting. Their biographical details can be 
found on page 28 of this Report. The Board 

Audit Committee 
The Committee held five meetings during the 
year and the meeting attendance record is set 
out below.

believes that Seamus Keating has recent and 
relevant financial experience. The Committee 
held five scheduled meetings during the year 
and considered all matters under its remit. The 
external Auditors, the Group Finance Director, 
the Group Financial Controller, the Internal 
Auditor, and the Chief Executive normally 
attend the meetings by invitation. Other 
members of senior management may be 
invited to attend as appropriate to present 
reports.

It is the Committee’s practice at each meeting 
to meet separately with the external Auditor 
and without any members of management 
being present, and to meet with the 
management without the external Auditor 
present to discuss matters relating to any 
issues arising from the audit and matters 
relating to the Auditor’s remit and 
performance.

The Group’s external Auditors have direct 
access to the Committee to raise any matters 
for discussion. 

During the year, the Committee’s activities 
included:

• a review of the Company’s financial 
announcements including the Annual Report 
and Accounts and associated 
documentation, placing particular emphasis 
on their fair presentation and the 
reasonableness of the judgemental factors 
and appropriateness of significant 
accounting policies used in their preparation;

• monitoring the Group’s overall system of risk 
management;

• a review of the effectiveness of the internal 
systems with respect to financial control;

• a review of the Auditors’ independence, 
performance and effectiveness. The 
Committee reviews the work, approach and 
procedures undertaken by the external 
Auditors and recommendations from the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee or the 
Group Financial Director are submitted to 
the Board;

• a review of the arrangements by which 
employees may, in confidence, raise 
concerns about possible improprieties in all 
areas; and a review of the effectiveness of 
the Group’s Fraud policy, the Group’s 
Business Ethics policy, the Group’s 
Anti-Corruption policy and the Group’s 
Whistle-blowing policy. 

The effectiveness of the Committee’s 
performance was evaluated as part of the 
overall Board evaluation exercise during the 
year.

The full terms of reference of the Committee 
can be found on the Company’s website.

Meetings eligible to  
attend as a member

Meetings attended  
as a  member

Seamus Keating (Chairman)1 3 3

Ian Knight (Chairman until 4 Nov 10)2 5 5

Sir Michael Lyons3 2 1

David Sugden4 2 1

Bo Lerenius5 3 3

Debbie Hewitt6 3 3

Rodney Westhead7 2 2

1 Appointed to Committee 4 November 2010
2 Resigned from the Board 1 September 2011
3 Appointed to Committee 9 May 2011, prior to this date attended one meeting by invitation
4 Appointed to Committee 9 May 2011, prior to this date attended one meeting by invitation.   
  Resigned from Board 15 October 2011
5 Resigned from Committee 9 May 2011, after this date attended one meeting by invitation. 
  Resigned from Board 12 October 2011
6 Resigned from Committee 9 May 2011, after this date attended one meeting by invitation
7 Resigned from Board 31 January 2011
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Remuneration Committee
The Report of the Remuneration Committee 
can be found on pages 40 to 50 of the Report.

Nomination Committee
The Committee held seven meetings during 
the year and the meeting attendance record is 
set out below:

The Chief Executive attended the meetings by 
invitation as required.

The Nomination Committee primarily focuses 
on the structure, size, composition and skills 
of the Board to ensure that it compromises 
individuals who are best able to discharge the 
responsibilities required by the Group. It also 
makes recommendations to the Board 
concerning the succession planning for the 
Directors, advises the Board on issues of 
Directors’ conflicts of interest and 
independence, and conducts a rigorous and 
transparent process using external 
consultants for each appointment, including 
taking references when making or renewing 
appointments of Directors to the Board.

Executive Management Board
The Executive Management Board (EMB) 
supports the Chief Executive and the Group 
Finance Director in the performance of their 
duties, including:

• the development and implementation of 
strategy, the Group corporate plan and 
operational plans, policies, procedures and 
budgets;

• the monitoring of operating and financial 
performance on a day-to-day basis;

• the assessment and control of risk;

• the prioritisation and allocation of resources;

• ensuring active cooperation and 
communication between all parts of the 
business;

• monitoring of competitors; and 

• leading and facilitating change and learning 
in the organisation.

The EMB, totalling six members, is chaired by 
the Chief Executive, and comprises the Group 
Finance Director, the Human Resources 
Director, the Solutions Director and the Market 
Leads for the two principal businesses.

Internal control and risk 
management
The Board is responsible for establishing, 
reviewing and maintaining the Group’s 
systems of internal control and risk 
management, and ensuring that these 
systems are effective for managing business 
risks within the Group. This process has been 
in place during the year under review and up 
to and including the date of approval of the 
Report and Accounts.

Following instances of control failures during 
the year, the Group has instigated a detailed 
review of its risk management and internal 
control framework to ensure it is as effective 
as possible for the future, as well as continuing 
to be in accordance with the Turnbull 
Guidance. The framework will continue to be 
reviewed annually as it is designed to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the 
Group’s assets while ensuring that proper 
accounting records are maintained. 

As part of its ongoing process of identifying, 
evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced by the Group during the year, the Board 
has directed that the key focus of the review is 
to ensure that risk management and internal 
control is embedded into the management 
culture. This focus is also to ensure that the 
controls and procedures that operate within 
the framework are followed, and to ensure the 

Meetings eligible to  
attend as a member

Meetings attended  
as a  member

Bo Lerenius (Chairman)1 7 7

Debbie Hewitt 7 6

Seamus Keating2 4 2

Ian Knight3 7 7

Sir Michael Lyons 7 7

Richard Rae4 4 4

David Sugden5 4 3

Rodney Westhead6 3 3

1 Resigned from Board 12 October 2011
2 Appointed to Committee 4 November 2010
3 Resigned from Board 1 September 2011
4 Appointed to Committee 4 November 2010
5 Appointed to Committee 31 January 2011. Resigned from Board 15 October 2011
6 Resigned from Board 31 January 2011
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Board is kept fully appraised of any risks and 
control issues, both operational and financial, 
that arise from the reporting structures within 
the Group. The Board recognises that any 
system of internal control exists to minimise 
the risk of failure rather than to eliminate it, and 
that any system of internal control can only 
provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The risk management of joint ventures and 
strategic partnerships is agreed between the 
parties, and periodic reviews are carried out 
where appropriate. The Audit Committee 
annually reviews the effectiveness of the risk 
management system and its internal controls, 
and reports its findings to the Board.

The Board has overall responsibility for 
identifying, evaluating and managing major 
business risks facing the Group. 
Consequently, it has initiated a robust review 
of the risk management framework and 
control environment, to ensure any future 
developments will continue to embed a 
risk-awareness culture which will be 
maintained within the Group’s Corporate 
Governance.

Strategic control
The Board annually reviews the Group’s 
strategic plan. Progress against the strategic 
plan is monitored at Board and EMB 
meetings. The EMB is responsible for 
delivering and implementing the Group’s 
strategic progress and is accountable to the 
Board in this regard.

Delegated authorities
The Board has set clear terms of reference for 
its Committees, all of which were reviewed 
during the financial year. The Group has an 
organisational reporting structure with clearly 
defined delegated authorities to executive 
management and reporting systems for 
financial results, risk exposure and control 
assessment.

Financial control
The Group continues to develop the most 
effective system for reporting financial results 
to the Board. The Operating Segments within 
the Group prepare monthly results with a 
comparison against budget and forecast. 
Performance is reviewed in depth monthly and 
on a quarterly basis by the Chief Executive, 
Group Finance Director and other members of 
the EMB. Since the appointment of the new 
Chief Executive, a number of control 
improvements have been implemented, 
including compliance statements from the 
operating groups focusing on improving 
assurance and clarifying responsibilities. The 
main feature of the Group’s internal control 
and risk management systems relate to the 
process for preparing the consolidated 
accounts.

Business risks and controls
Each Operating Segment is responsible for 
identifying, evaluating and managing major 
business risks. Procedures are in place to 
ensure that risks are identified from project 
bidding stage through to project completion 
stage and include reviews against key 
performance indicators.

Internal audit
The Internal Audit function has been refocused 
with the external appointment of a new Head 
of Internal Audit during the year. He has a dual 
reporting line to both the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee and Group Finance Director 
and attends all Audit Committee meetings. 
The Internal Audit function’s main focus is to 
provide an independent mechanism for 
monitoring and reviewing internal control 
effectiveness across the Group, as well as 
providing assurance on the effectiveness of 
risk management already in place. Its findings 
and recommendations are reported to the 
Executive Management team with agreed 
corrective actions subsequently followed up, 
all of which are summarised for the Audit 

Committee. Audit plans are developed and 
agreed with the Audit Committee, which 
continues to keep under review the 
effectiveness of work undertaken.

Relations with shareholders
The Board is committed to a continuing 
dialogue with its institutional shareholders. 
Following the announcement and presentation 
of the half-year and year-end results, there are 
a series of formal meetings with institutional 
shareholders. These meetings are a two-way 
dialogue whereby the Executive Directors can 
appraise the investors of the Group’s business 
and future plans and the shareholders can 
communicate any concerns they may have. 
The Non-Executive Directors and Chairman 
are available to attend these meetings. The 
Company’s brokers and financial PR advisors 
provide feedback from the shareholder and 
analyst meetings and present the results to 
the Board.

The Group’s investor relations section on its 
website contains information on the Group’s 
financial results, its corporate policies and the 
analysts’ presentations. Additionally, the AGM 
provides a useful interface with shareholders. 
All shareholders are invited to attend the AGM 
and all members of the Board will be available 
at the meeting to answer questions.

The Company seeks to promote the use of 
e-communications and encourages its 
shareholders to sign up to receive Company 
circulars by email.

Approved by the Board of Directors and 
signed on its behalf.

Amanda Massie 
Group Company Secretary 
29 November 2011
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Context
As referenced in the Chairman’s report, this 
year has been one of the most turbulent years 
in Mouchel’s history. Performance has been 
extremely disappointing and there have been 
a number of changes to the Board, both 
Executive and Non-Executive.

Consequently there have been a number of 
remuneration-related issues which the 
Remuneration Committee has been required 
to deal with. There have been no annual 
bonus payments in respect of the financial 
year under review and there were no grants 
made under the Group’s long-term incentive 
plan, other than an award to the newly 
appointed Finance Director in June, which had 
been awarded as part of his package on 
joining the Company. 

In relation to departing Executives, there was 
no compensation for loss of office paid to the 
former Chief Executive and in relation to the 
two Finance Directors who left during the year, 
the Company has paid no more than their 
contractual terms due to them under their 
service contract (equivalent to six months’ 
salary) together with the value of benefits they 
were due. Furthermore, in line with our policy, 
no compensation payments were made to 
any departing Non-Executive director, 
including the Chairman.

In relation to the newly recruited Chief 
Executive and Finance Director, we have put in 
place packages that have a significantly lower 
fixed cost than those of their predecessors 
and which are heavily geared to improved 
performance of the Company. There will be no 
increases to their base remuneration during 
the current year.

REMUNERATION REPORT

The annual bonus for the current year for the 
new Chief Executive has been set at a 
potential of 150% of salary and structured with 
the option for the Remuneration Committee to 
provide a part-cash and part-shares element, 
with performance targets assessed over the 
year based on PBT, refinancing targets and 
debt reduction targets. This bonus will operate 
for the current year only, at which point it will 
revert to a potential of 100% of salary and 
targets appropriate for the following year.

The next award of long-term incentives under 
our Performance Share Plan will be made at 
such time as the strategy has been 
repositioned, re-financing has been 
successfully completed and the performance 
of the business and share price is more stable.

The Committee has faced a number of 
challenging issues over the past 12 months, 
which have been addressed with diligence. 
We consider that the policy for 2012 is 
sensibly positioned to meet the immediate 
challenges of the business and we will ensure 
that we revert to a more steady state policy 
when business performance has improved.

Overview
This Report sets out the Company’s 
remuneration policy and details the 
remuneration of each of the Directors for the 
financial year ended 31 July 2011. It complies 
with the 2006 Act and Schedule 8 to the 
Large and Medium-Sized Companies and 
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 
2008 (the Regulations) and the UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2010 (in respect of the 
current financial year). In addition, the 
Committee has aimed to comply with best 
practice guidelines, including guidance from 
institutional investors and their representative 
bodies. In accordance with the Regulations, 
relevant sections of this Report have been 

audited. A resolution to approve the Report 
will be proposed at the Company’s AGM on 
20 January 2012.

The Regulations require the Auditors to report 
to the shareholders on certain sections of this 
Report and to state whether those sections 
have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the 2006 Act. The Report has therefore 
been divided into separate sections for 
audited and unaudited information.

Unaudited information
Remuneration Committee’s objectives

The Committee operates under authority 
delegated to it by the Board and under 
specific terms of reference which can be 
found on the Company’s website. Its terms of 
reference are reviewed annually as part of the 
Group’s annual corporate governance review. 
Its key objectives are to:

• implement sufficient levels of remuneration 
to attract and retain the quality of Directors 
required to run the Company;

• ensure that a suitable proportion of 
executive remuneration is linked to corporate 
performance, and that it takes account of 
the remuneration policy applied to all of the 
Group’s employees;

• ensure that the performance-related 
elements of Directors’ remuneration are 
stretching and designed to promote the 
long-term success of the Company; and

• monitor and approve the level and structure 
of remuneration of the management 
immediately below the Executives.
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Remuneration Committee
The Committee held six meetings during the 
year and the meeting attendance record is set 
out below:

 

The Chief Executive and HR Director attended 
meetings by invitation as required.

The Committee has a rolling calendar of items 
within its remit for discussion. In addition, the 
Committee considers issues relating to the 
operation of the remuneration policy and 
emerging market practices. As mentioned 
above, during the year the Committee was 
required to deal with numerous remuneration-
related issues above and beyond the usual 
standing items, and in particular it:

• considered and recommended to the Board 
the Group’s remuneration policy for the 
Executive Directors and such other senior 
managers as it is designated to consider, 
covering terms of employment, basic salary, 
performance bonus, long-term incentives, 
retirement benefits, and other benefits. Over 
the year, the Committee considered the 
extent to which the policy and practice 
needed to reflect the turbulent market 
conditions faced by the Company;

• considered the terms of the incentive plans 
to operate during the year, recognising the 
specific business challenges and how these 
have an impact on the plans to operate for 
the current year; and

• considered exit terms for departing 
Executive Directors and recruitment terms 
for new Executive Directors.

New Bridge Street (NBS) is the independent 
remuneration advisor to the Committee. 
Neither NBS (nor its parent company Aon) 
provides any other services to the Company. 
In addition, the Committee received advice 
from the HR Director and the Group Company 
Secretary.

In accordance with best practice, the Board 
undertook a review of the performance of the 
Committee during the year to assess its 
effectiveness.

Remuneration policy
The Committee reviews the remuneration 
policy on a regular basis against regulatory 
developments and market practices and the 
specific circumstances faced by the 
Company.

The Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee engages in consultation with 
shareholders on remuneration policy, including 
a detailed consultation in November 2010.

The objective of the remuneration policy is to 
attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors 
and senior managers with the relevant 
expertise, skills and qualities to achieve the 
Company’s strategic ambitions and business 
objectives, and to align their interests with 
those of the shareholders. It is designed to 
create and reward a high-performance culture 
within the Company, whilst avoiding rewards 
for failure. The interests of our senior 
management and our shareholders are 
aligned through share incentives and share 
ownership. In circumstances where the 
Company is facing acute business challenges 
it is necessary for the Committee to react as 
necessary to ensure that the policy remains 
aligned to the strategy at all times and does 
not lead to inappropriate payments.

No individual is present when his or her own 
remuneration is under consideration.

In reviewing and setting the remuneration 
policy for the Executives and senior 
management, the Committee takes into 
consideration pay and conditions across the 
Group. It also takes into consideration 
performance on environmental, social and 
governance issues.

The Committee believes that the balance of 
fixed and performance-related remuneration, 
and the mixture of performance targets 
applying to variable elements (which comprise 
a balance of financial performance conditions, 
and for the performance share plan, a 
measure linked to the share price), are 
compatible with the Company’s risk policies 
and procedures and that these do not 
encourage excessive risk taking. In this 
respect, the Committee has taken a number of 
actions to ensure that risk is mitigated, and 
performance appropriately remunerated, for 
instance not making an award under the 
Performance Share Plan in the year under 
review until the business has stabilised (other 
than as was agreed for the Finance Director to 
ensure his recruitment), determining the annual 
bonus metrics for the current year and setting 
base salaries for new Executive Directors at a 
lower level than their predecessors.

Meetings eligible to  
attend as a member

Meetings attended  
as a member

Debbie Hewitt  (Chairman) 6 6

Sir Michael Lyons (Chairman until 9 May 2011) 6 6

Bo Lerenius1 6 6

Rodney Westhead2 3 2

Seamus Keating3 2 2

Richard Rae4 2 2

1 Resigned from Board 12 October 2011
2 Resigned from Board 31 January 2011
3 Appointed to Committee 9 May 2011
4 Appointed to Committee 9 May 2011
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Executive Directors
The remuneration package for Executive 
Directors is made up of fixed and variable 
elements, which consist of base salary, annual 
bonus and performance related long-term 
incentive plans. The policy for 2012 is outlined 
below:

Element Purpose Operation Value - FY 2011/12

Basic salary To provide competitive fixed 
remuneration that reflects the 
value of the individual, his or her 
skills and experience, and 
performance

Reflects the value of the 
individual, his or her skills and 
experience, and performance

Chief Executive - £320,000

Finance Director - £200,000

Annual incentives Motivate achievement of key 
annual objectives

Performance conditions based 
on Group profit,  a successful 
refinancing and reduction of net 
debt

Capped at 150% of salary for the 
Chief Executive and 100% of 
salary for the Finance Director, 
with the option of paying 50% in 
cash and 50% in deferred shares 
redeemable after 3 years

Long-term 
incentives

Incentivise long-term profitable 
growth and stock market 
out-performance

Provide alignment with 
shareholders’ interests

Support retention

Promote share ownership

Co-Investment Plan Will not be operated for the 
current year

Normal grants capped at up to 
100% of salary with vesting 
subject to relative TSR 
performance and financial 
underpin

No awards to be made in the 
current year until successful 
refinancing completed and 
business stabilises

Pension Provide competitive post-
retirement compensation and 
benefits

Employment marketplace Defined Contribution 
arrangement or cash 
supplement

REMUNERATION REPORT

Performance Share Plan
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Basic salary and other benefits
The Committee’s objective is to ensure that 
the basic salary for Executive Directors and 
key senior management is appropriate and 
competitive for the responsibilities involved. 
Salaries are reviewed annually, with any 
proposed change normally taking effect from 
1 August.

The policy for base salary positioning is to take 
into account external advice as to appropriate 
salary levels for each position, the Company’s 
performance, individual performance and 
changes in responsibility. The Company has a 
rigorous personal performance appraisal 
process against which personal, business and 
Group-related targets are set and reviewed.

The Committee’s policy is to set base salaries 
by reference to the median level of an 
appropriate comparator group of companies 
of broadly similar size and business fit. Clearly 
under these turbulent market conditions the 
Committee would not take an overly scientific 
approach to benchmarking on a relative basis.

Pay conditions elsewhere within the Group are 
also taken into account when setting base 
salary increases. The average pay increase 
across the Group from 1 August 2011 was 
0.7% (2010: 1.4%).

In light of the current economic conditions  
and the Company’s financial performance,  
the Committee decided to freeze the salaries 
of the Executive Directors for the financial  
year commencing 1 August 2010 (this was  
the second consecutive year in which no 
increase was made). Therefore, Richard 
Cuthbert’s and David Tilston’s base salaries 
remained at £410,000 and £250,000 
respectively, until they ceased employment on 
5 October 2011 and 17 June 2011 
respectively. 

Grant Rumbles was appointed to the role of 
Chief Executive on 13 October 2011 and Rod 
Harris became Group Finance Director on 17 
June 2011. When considering their 
remuneration packages, the Committee was 
keen to ensure that the base salary reflected 
the reduced market capitalisation of the 
Company and the priority on constraining 
fixed costs, and that a significant proportion of 
total remuneration should be performance 
related. The base salaries were set at 
£320,000 and £200,000 per annum 
respectively. In both cases, the salary levels 
are significantly lower than those of their 
predecessors.

There will be no increases to base salary in the 
current year.

Grant Rumbles and Rod Harris will receive a 
car allowance worth £8,000, fuel allowance 
and other benefits including private medical 
health cover.
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Annual bonus scheme
For the year under review no bonuses were 
payable.

For the current year, the Executive Directors 
will participate in an annual bonus plan that 
rewards performance against challenging 
short-term targets tailored to the immediate 
business priorities.

For the current year only, the bonus 
opportunity for Grant Rumbles and Rod Harris 
will be 150% and 100% of salary respectively. 
For subsequent years, it is currently intended 
that Grant Rumbles’ and Rod Harris’ 
maximum bonus opportunity will be reduced 
to 100% and 75% of salary respectively.

For the current year, two-thirds of the bonus 
will be dependent upon PBT targets being 
met (with 40% of this element payable for 
achieving target performance), with the 
balance split equally between debt reduction 
targets and completion of the Group 
refinancing. The targets are considered to be 
extremely challenging and significantly exceed 
market expectations. The Remuneration 
Committee have the option of awarding 50% 
of any bonus in cash with the balance paid in 
deferred shares, which would vest after three 
years subject to continued employment. 

Neither Grant Rumbles nor Rod Harris will be 
eligible to participate in the Co-Investment 
Plan for 2012/13 (from the outturn of this plan).

The Committee considered that this level of 
annual bonus opportunity for the current year 
was appropriate, as it recognised the lower 
base salaries than both of their predecessors 
(and a lower base salary than would otherwise 
have been necessary to recruit them both), the 
significant short-term challenges facing the 
business and the fact that a long-term 
incentive award would be delayed until such 
time as the business stabilised

Achievement against these targets is reviewed 
and agreed by the Remuneration Committee 
in order for any bonus to be payable. Bonus 
awards to the Executive Directors are 
discretionary (in that, for example, the 
Committee may override a formulaic outturn if 
it would be inappropriate to pay a bonus), 
non-pensionable and non-contractual.

Long-term incentive schemes
Performance Share Plan

This will be the only long-term incentive plan 
operated for Executive Directors in the current 
year.

The Performance Share Plan (PSP) is a 
long-term incentive plan under which 
Executive Directors and other key staff may, 
each year, receive a conditional right to 
acquire shares, the vesting of which depends 
on the satisfaction of demanding performance 
conditions. The value of annual grants is 
capped at 100% of salary. However, in 
exceptional circumstances, such as 
recruitment, annual grants up to 150% of 
salary may be made. During the year, the only 
recipient of a PSP award was Rod Harris. He 
received a grant equal to 60% of salary 
following his appointment as Finance Director 
in June 2011. This was awarded as part of his 
agreement to join Mouchel.

For the 2011/12 financial year, it is intended 
that Grant Rumbles will receive a grant equal 
to 100% of salary and Rod Harris 75% of 
salary. The grant will not be made until the 
Group refinancing is achieved on or by 31 July 
2012, whichever is the latter. 

At the current time, the intention of the 
Committee is that the primary performance 
measure determining the vesting of awards 
should be based on the Company’s relative 
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance 
over a fixed three year period compared to the 

constituents of the FTSE All-Share Support 
Services Sector. In previous years the 
performance period commences on the first 
day of the financial year in which the award is 
made. However, for this award (which will be 
delayed until the financing is complete) the 
performance period will start on around the 
date of the award.

A vesting schedule will apply whereby 25% of 
the awards vest if the Company’s TSR 
performance ranks at the median of the 
comparator group, with full vesting for 
performance at or above the upper quartile. 
Between these points, awards will vest on a 
pro-rata basis.

In addition to the TSR performance condition, 
there will be a further condition requiring the 
Committee to be satisfied that there has been 
a sustained and significant improvement in the 
underlying financial performance. Under this 
additional condition, the Remuneration 
Committee has the discretion to scale back 
the level of vesting indicated by the TSR 
performance condition (potentially to zero) if it 
does not consider that underlying financial 
performance has improved sufficiently.

The Committee will review the 
appropriateness of this performance condition 
prior to awards being made. Should the 
performance target differ from above, major 
shareholders and investor representative 
bodies will be consulted prior to the grant 
being made.

In previous years the Company has operated 
a Co-Investment Plan (CIP) whereby 
participants have been invited to invest either 
all or a proportion of their annual bonus in 
ordinary shares. Invested shares have been 
matched by the Company on a one-for-one 
basis dependent on the extent to which the 
performance conditions are met. This plan will 
not be operated for the current year (ie the 
output from the 2011/2012 annual bonus).

REMUNERATION REPORT
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Other long-term incentive plans
The Company has a number of legacy 
executive share option plans. It has two 
approved schemes: The Mouchel Executive 
Share Option Scheme and The Parkman 
Group 2001 Approved Share Option Plan; and 
two unapproved schemes: The Mouchel 
Unapproved Executive Share Option Plan and 
The Parkman Group 2001 Executive Share 
Option Plan. Executive Directors are not 
eligible to participate in these plans. During the 
year, an award of approved Executive Share 
Options was made to senior management 
and below. The Committee will consider the 
policy for share awards below Board level 
during the current year to ensure that this 
complements the policy at Board level.

Restricted Share Plan

The Restricted Share Plan (RSP) was adopted 
by the Remuneration Committee on 1 
February 2008. It is used where the CIP and 
PSP are not considered appropriate vehicles. 
Executive Directors are not eligible to 
participate in the RSP.

The RSP allows for the grant of conditional 
awards or nil-cost options over shares held in 
trust (through market purchase by the 
employee benefit trust) for a tie-in period, 
normally three years. At the end of the 
three-year period, shares are transferred to the 
individuals subject to them still being an 
employee. The individuals have no voting 
rights and are not the beneficial owners of the 
shares until they are transferred to them at the 
end of the three-year period. The 
Remuneration Committee has the discretion 
to attach performance criteria to individual 
grants if appropriate. 

Savings-related share option scheme

The Company operates an all-employee 
HMRC-approved savings-related share option 
scheme (SAYE). The Executive Directors, while 
eligible, do not currently participate in this 
scheme, as there has not been an issue since 
they joined the Company.

Share usage
The dilution limits under the various employee 
share plans comply with the ABI Guidelines on 
headroom, which provide that overall dilution 
under all plans should not exceed 10% in any 
ten year period in relation to the Company’s 
issued share capital, with a further limitation of 
5% in any ten year period for discretionary 
plans. Against the guidelines that overall 
dilution under all schemes should not exceed 
10%, the Company has only allocated 8.3%. 
In addition, awards may be settled with shares 
purchased in the market and held in the 
employee benefit trust. The trust is restricted 
from holding more than 5% of the Company’s 
issued share capital at any one time.

Share ownership guidelines
To further align the interests of the Executive 
Directors with those of the shareholders, 
Executive Directors are required to build a 
shareholding of at least 100% of annual salary, 
which can also be acquired from the retention 
of vested shares (net of tax and financing 
costs) under the Company’s share plans. No 
time limit has been placed on reaching this 
target.

The Non-Executive Directors are expected to 
achieve a share interest in the Company 
amounting to 100% of their annual fee.

Pensions
Richard Cuthbert was a member of the 
HMRC-registered defined benefit pension 
schemes administered by Mouchel Pension 
Trustees Ltd. His benefit accrual under this 
scheme ceased as from 31 December 2010.

The schemes are contracted out of the State 
Second Pension scheme. Richard Cuthbert 
contributed 7.75% of his pensionable earnings. 
His normal retirement age was 65. He 
accrued benefits on a career average 
re-valued earnings (CARE) basis. Under 
CARE, the pensionable earnings are averaged 
over the pensionable service with the 
pensionable earnings re-valued in line with the 
Retail Prices Index, limited to a maximum uplift 
of 5% per annum.

Rod Harris (who joined the arrangement after 
the year end) currently accrues benefits under 
the Group’s defined contribution arrangement. 
This has matching contributions of up to 10% 
of salary. Up until his resignation, Richard 
Cuthbert also accrued benefits under the 
Group’s defined contribution arrangement and 
received matching contributions of 7.75%. 

David Tilston who joined the Board on 13 
September 2010, and left by mutual 
agreement on 17 June 2011, received 
employer pension contributions of 10% of his 
salary into his Self-Invested Pension Plan 
(SIPP).

Grant Rumbles will be paid an annual cash 
allowance of 15% of salary by way of a 
supplement in lieu of pension.

All Executive Directors’ benefits under the 
defined benefit pension schemes are subject 
to the notional HMRC Earnings Cap.

Only basic salary is pensionable.
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Performance graph
The graph shows the Company’s TSR 
performance to 31 July 2011, measured 
against the FTSE All-Share Support Services 
Index, over the past five years. This is 
considered the most  appropriate index since 
Mouchel is a member of the Support Service 
Sector.

TSR is defined as the return shareholders 
would receive if they held a notional number of 
shares and received dividends on those 
shares over a period of time, assuming 
dividends are reinvested. 

Mouchel Group – Net Total Shareholder Return
FTSE All Share Support Index – Net Total Shareholder Return
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Executive Directors’ service 
contracts
The notice periods for the Chief Executive and 
Finance Director, as stated in their service 
agreements, are twelve months and six 
months respectively.   

Name of Director Effective date of appointment Notice period Date of last re-election 

Richard Cuthbert1 19.09.2003 12 months 31.01.2011

Grant Rumbles 13.10.2011 12 months -

David Tilston2 13.09.2010 6 months 31.01.2011

Rod Harris 17.06.2011 6 months -

Kevin Young3 01.02.1999 6 months 11.12.2009

1 Resigned from the Company 5 October 2011
2 Left 17 June 2011
3 Left 31 August 2010

REMUNERATION REPORT

No service agreement provides for 
predetermined amounts of compensation in 
the event of early termination. Copies of each 
Director’s service agreement will be available 
for inspection prior to and during the AGM and 
are also available for inspection at the 
Company’s registered office during normal 
business hours.The appointment dates, notice 
periods and re-election dates of Executive 
Directors are provided below:
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Name of Director Effective date of appointment Date of election/last re-election 

Debbie Hewitt 03.09.2007 31.01.2011

Ian Knight1 28.06.2002 31.01.2011

Bo Lerenius2 30.01.2009 31.01.2011

Sir Michael Lyons 19.09.2003 31.01.2011

Rodney Westhead3 19.09.2003 11.12.2009

Seamus Keating 04.11.2010 31.01.2011

Richard Rae 04.11.2010 31.01.2011

David Sugden4 01.01.2011 31.01.2011

1 Resigned 1 September 2011
2 Elected 11 December 2009. Appointed Executive Chairman 5 October 2011. Resigned 12 October 2011
3 Resigned 31 January 2011
4 Resigned 15 October 2011

Non-Executive Directors
The Non-Executive Directors have letters of 
appointment stating their annual fee payable 
and their time commitment required. All 
Non-Executive Directors (excluding the 
Chairman) are appointed for an initial term of 
three years subject to satisfactory 
performance and re-election by shareholders 
at the AGM. All the Directors are subject to 
annual re-election at the AGM. Their 
appointment can be terminated at any time 
without any damages or compensation for 
loss of office. Non-Executive Directors’ fees 
are determined by the Board within the limits 
set out in the Articles of Association and with 
reference to payments made by comparator 
companies. The fees were last increased in 
2006.

None of the Non-Executive Directors is eligible 
to participate in the Company’s pension 
schemes, share incentive schemes or receive 
an annual bonus or any payments other than 
fees and expenses.

The Non-Executive Directors’ appointment 
and re-election dates are provided below:

External appointments
Neither Grant Rumbles nor Rod Harris 
currently hold any Non-Executive 
Directorships, and such external roles are 
unlikely to be agreed by the Committee in the 
current circumstances. However, at such time 
as the current business conditions stabilise, 
the Board believes that there are benefits in 
extending the range and experience of the 
Executive Directors by allowing them to 
accept a Non-Executive Directorship 
elsewhere. The Company has in place a policy 
which states that, with Board approval, the 
Executive Directors can hold one external 
Non-Executive Directorship and that the time 
commitment to any external Non-Executive 
Directorship will be annually reviewed by the 
Committee. Any fees earned in connection 
with an external Non-Executive Directorship 
would be retained by the Executive Directors.
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Audited information
Directors’ emoluments
The aggregate emoluments in respect of their roles as Directors, excluding pensions, of the Directors of the Company who served during the year 
are shown in the table below:

Salary/fees Bonus 
Payment in 

lieu of Notice Other benefits1 Total2

2011
£000

2010 
£000

2011 
£000

2010 
£000

2011 
£000

2010 
£000

2011 
£000

2010 
£000

2011 
£000

2010
£000

Executive Directors  
Richard Cuthbert3 410 405 – – – – 12 13 422 418 

Grant Rumbles – – – – – – – – – –

Rod Harris 26 –  – – – – 1 – 27 –  

David Tilston4 192 – – – 125 – 481 – 365 – 

Kevin Young5 21 250 – – 125 – 7 13 153 263 

Non-Executive Directors

Debbie Hewitt 38 38 – – – – – – 38 38 

Seamus Keating6 28 – – – – – – – 28 – 

Ian Knight7 38 38 – – – – – – 38 38

Bo Lerenius8 125 114 – – – – – – 125 114

Sir Michael Lyons9 38 38 – – – – – – 38 38

Richard Rae10 28 – – – – – – – 28 –

David Sudgen11 22 – – – – – – – 22 –

Rodney Westhead12 19 38 – – – – – – 19 38

Total 985 921 – – 250 – 68 26 1,303 947
1  other benefits include such items as company cars, fuel, car allowance and medical insurance. For David tilston, the value of benefits in the year comprised the standard suite of 

benefits, together with a payment in connection with his transition from his interim role with the Company to his permanent appointment to the Board and a further payment in 
lieu of untaken holiday entitlement upon his departure on 17 June 2011

2  total excludes pension contributions, which are shown separately
3  Richard Cuthbert resigned from the Company on 5 october 2011. no compensation was paid in lieu of notice. Richard was paid for his hand over period to 31 october 2011
4  David tilston was appointed on 13 September 2010 and left by mutual agreement on 17 June 2011. the Company exercised a payment in lieu of notice (piLon) clause in the 

service agreement which provided for a payment equivalent to six months’ base salary
5  Kevin Young left by mutual agreement on 31 August 2010. the Company exercised a payment in lieu of notice (piLon) clause in the service agreement which provided for a 

payment equivalent to six months base salary
6  Seamus Keating was appointed on 4 november 2010
7  ian Knight resigned on 1 September 2011
8  Bo Lerenius resigned on 12 october 2011. no compensation was paid in lieu of notice
9  Sir Michael Lyons’ fees have been increased to a pro-rata rate of £300,000 per annum for three months with effect from 15 october 2011, reducing to a pro-rata rate of £200,000 

per annum thereafter, to reflect the fact that he has become full time in his role as SiD leading the Board until a new Chairman is appointed, when his fees will revert back to 
£37,500 per annum

10  Richard Rae was appointed on 4 november 2010.
11  David Sugden was appointed on 1 January 2011 and resigned on 15 october 2011. prior to 13 october 2011 he was paid £37,500 per annum in fees. From 13 october 2011, 

when he took up the position of interim executive Chairman, he was paid a pro-rated rate of £300,000, until he resigned from the role on 15 october 2011. no compensation was 
paid in lieu of notice

12  Rodney Westhead resigned on 31 January 2011
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Directors’ pensions

Accrued 
pension at 

31/07/10
£000 pa

Accrued 
pension at 

31/07/11 
£000 pa

Increase in 
accrued 
pension 

during 
2010/11 

excluding any 
increase for 

inflation 
£000

Transfer value 
of accrued 
pension at 

31/07/10 
£000

Transfer value 
of accrued 
pension at 

31/07/11 
£000

Director 
contributions 

during the 
period 

01/08/10 to 
31/07/11 

£000

Total change 
in value 
during 

2010/11 net of 
Director’s 

contributions 
£0001

Transfer value 
of increase 

less Director’s 
contributions 

£000

Richard Cuthbert1,2 17 18 1 240 273 4 29 12

Kevin Young1 24 26 2 376 435 1 59 19

David Tilston3 – – – – – – – –

Rod Harris4 – – – – – – – –

Grant Rumbles5 – – – – – – – –
1  Richard Cuthbert and Kevin Young were participants of different pension schemes which have differing transfer value bases. Both schemes have introduced new transfer value 

bases, which have contributed to increases in the transfer values. the changes are also due to market conditions over the period and the accrual of benefits
2  Richard Cuthbert defined contributions for the period January 2011 to July 2011 amounted to £5,743. Richard resigned from the Company on 5 october 2011
3  David tilston received a payment of £10,450 in lieu of pension contributions paid into his Self invested pension plan (Sipp)
4  Rod Harris did not receive any amount into pension arrangements during the period to 31 July 2011
5  Grant Rumbles will be paid an annual cash allowance of 15% of salary by way of a supplement in lieu of pension

Directors’ interests in the Co-Investment and Performance Share Plans
The awards over Mouchel Group plc shares held by the Executive Directors under the Company’s Co-Investment Plan (CIP) and Performance 
Share Plan (PSP) are detailed below:

Scheme 
name Date of award 

No. of shares 
1 August 

2010 

Awards 
granted 

during the 
year 

Awards 
exercised 

during  
the year 

Awards 
lapsed during 

the year

Market price 
on award  

date (p) 

No. of shares  
at 31 July  

2011 Expiry date

Richard Cuthbert1 CIP 23.11.2007 16,980 – – (16,980) 428.00 – 23.11.2010

CIP 21.11.2008 11,845 – – – 261.50 11,845 21.11.2011

PSP 23.11.2007 53,718 – – (53,718) 427.63 – 23.11.2010

PSP 21.11.2008 87,904 – – – 261.50 87,904 21.11.2011

PSP 16.11.2009 131,550 – – – 187.00 131,550 16.11.2012

Total 301,997 – – (70,698) 231,299
Rod Harris2 PSP 01.07.2011 – 200,000 – – 60.00 200.000 01.07.2014

Total – 200,000 – – 200,000
Kevin Young3 CIP 23.11.2007 10,183 – – 4(10,183) 428.00 – 23.11.2010

CIP 21.11.2008 7,265 – – 5(2,223) 261.50 5,042 21.11.2011

PSP 23.11.2007 32,947 – – 6(32,947) 427.63 – 23.11.2010

PSP 21.11.2008 53,600 – – 5(16,399) 261.50 37,201 21.11.2011

PSP 16.11.2009 80,213 – – 5(51,278) 187.00 28,935 16.11.2012

Total 184,208 – – (113,030) 71,178
Grant Rumbles – – – – – –

Total – – – – – –

The awards made under the terms of the CIP are made as matching awards, which vest on the third anniversary of grant, subject to performance 
conditions being met and the bonus shares being retained by participants for three years. For CIP awards made on 23 November 2007 and 
21 November 2008, the performance conditions were not met, and accordingly the award lapsed. 

Vesting of awards made under the terms of the PSP is dependent on the Company’s relative TSR performance over a three-year period (with an 
EPS underpin) and continued employment within the Group on the vesting date. For PSP awards made on 23 November 2007 and 21 November 
2008, the Company’s TSR over the performance period was below median, and accordingly the award lapsed. 
1 Richard Cuthbert resigned from the Company on 5 october 2011. All outstanding awards under both Cip and pSp plans lapsed on 5 october 2011
2 Rod Harris was awarded 200,000 shares under the pSp plan on 1 July 2011, subject to a relative tSR performance condition and epS underpin
3  Kevin Young was deemed to be a good leaver under the scheme rules of the Cip and pSp, and immediately following cessation a pro-rated number of awards remain 

outstanding, subject to the achievement of performance conditions
4  Award lapsed after cessation of employment
5 the award lapsed in part on 31 August 2010 based on a pro-rated scale back to the date of cessation of employment. the balance of the award remains outstanding subject to 

performance conditions
6  Award lapsed after cessation of employment



50 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011

ReMuneRAtion RepoRt     
   

 
 

Directors’ beneficial interests
The beneficial interests of the Directors and their families in the ordinary shares of 0.25p each in the Company as at 31 July 2011 were as follows:

20111  
No. of shares2,3

2010  
No. of shares

Executive Directors

Grant Rumbles – –

Richard Cuthbert4 429,148 429,148 

Kevin Young5 800,445 800,445 

David Tilston6 52,000 –

Rod Harris7 – –

Non-Executive Directors

Debbie Hewitt 12,159 12,159 

Ian Knight8 240,000 220,000 

Bo Lerenius9 45,000 35,000 

Sir Michael Lyons 15,760 15,760

Rodney Westhead10 9,844 9,844

Richard Rae11 50,000 –

Seamus Keating12 – –

David Sugden13 135,000 –
1  the mid-market closing share price of Mouchel Group plc shares at 31 July 2011 was 57.94p and the lowest and highest mid-market share prices during the financial year were 

53.25p and 158.75p per share respectively
2  At 31 July 2011, the executive Directors of the Company, as potential beneficiaries under the Company’s employee Benefit trusts (the trusts), were each technically deemed to 

be interested in 1,246,209 unallocated Mouchel Group plc shares held by the trusts (note 30 of the notes to the financial statements provides further information in relation to the 
employee Benefit trusts)

3  these shareholdings are all beneficial interests and include shares held by Directors’ spouses and other connected persons
4  Richard Cuthbert‘s beneficial interests include Bonus Awards held under the terms of the 2008 Cip Richard resigned from the Company on 5 october 2011
5  Kevin Young’s beneficial interests include Bonus Awards held under the terms of the 2008 Cip. Kevin left on 31 August 2010
6  Left on 17 June 2011
7  Appointed 17 June 2011
8  Resigned 1 September 2011
9  Resigned 12 october 2011
10  Resigned 31 January 2011
11  Appointed 4 november 2010
12  Appointed 4 november 2010
13  Appointed 1 January 2011. Resigned on 15 october 2011

There have been no changes to the Directors’ shareholdings between the period 31 July 2011 to 29 November 2011.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf

Debbie Hewitt
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee  
29 November 2011
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Notes

Results before 
exceptional 

items  
2011  

£m

 Exceptional  
items1  

2011  
£m 

Total  
2011  

£m

Results  
before 

exceptional 
items  
2010 

£m

Exceptional  
items1  
2010   

£m 

 Total 
2010  

£m

Revenue 2 539.6 11.8 551.4 632.6 – 632.6

Cost of sales (443.4) (14.3) (457.7) (522.2) – (522.2)

Gross profit 96.2 (2.5) 93.7 110.4 – 110.4

Administrative expenses (80.5) (60.1) (140.6) (69.2) (45.2) (114.4)

Operating profit/(loss) 2,4 15.7 (62.6) (46.9) 41.2 (45.2) (4.0)

Finance income 5 1.1 – 1.1 0.2 – 0.2

Finance costs 5 (11.8) (7.2) (19.0) (10.9) – (10.9)

Profit/(loss) before tax 5.0 (69.8) (64.8) 30.5 (45.2) (14.7)

Taxation 7 (5.6) 1.8 (3.8) (9.3) 10.5 1.2

(Loss)/profit for the year (0.6) (68.0) (68.6) 21.2 (34.7) (13.5)

Basic and diluted loss per share 10 (61.7)p (12.1)p

ConSoLiDAteD StAteMent oF CoMpReHenSive inCoMe
For the year ended 31 July 2011

Notes
2011  

£m
2011  

£m
20103  

£m
2010  

£m

Loss for the year (68.6) (13.5)

Differences on exchange (0.5) 1.0

Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (interest rate swaps):

  – gains recognised in equity2 (1.4) (7.2)

  –  gains removed from equity and recognised in the Consolidated 
Income Statement in the year.2 5 3.6 3.9

28 2.2 (3.3)

Actuarial gain/(loss) on pension scheme valuations 33 10.5 (0.7)

Deferred tax on actuarial movement in pension scheme valuations 16,33 (2.6) 0.2

Other comprehensive profit/(loss) 9.6 (2.8)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (59.0) (16.3)

There is no tax effect for differences on exchange or changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges.
1 exceptional items are disclosed in note 3
2 As referred to in note 1 p(vi), interest rate swaps are used to hedge interest rate risk. the Group designates these interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges. the effective portion of 

changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap is recognised in equity until recycled to the Consolidated income Statement in the period in which the hedged item affects 
financial expenses. Gains/(losses) recycled to the Consolidated income Statement are shown in financial expense (note 5)

3 interest rate swap movement in equity has been split out between gains/(losses) recognised in equity and amounts recycled into the Consolidated income Statement in 
accordance with note 1 p(vi)
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Group Company

Notes
2011  

£m
2010  

£m
2011  

£m
2010  

£m

Assets

Non-current assets

Goodwill 11 64.4 109.7 – –

Other intangible assets 12 50.6 60.1 – –

Property, plant and equipment 13 13.1 16.9 – –

Investments in subsidiaries 14 – – 59.1 258.4

Deferred tax assets 16 14.3 26.5 – –

Loan notes 21 – – – 31.8

142.4 213.2 59.1 290.2

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 17 120.8 141.1 90.8 58.2

Cash and cash equivalents 22, 32 47.3 45.4 – –

168.1 186.5 90.8 58.2

LIABILItIes

Current liabilities

Borrowings 20 (135.1) (0.7) – –

Trade and other payables 19 (124.6) (118.5) (61.1) (7.1)

Current tax liabilities (12.2) (12.3) – –

Provisions for liabilities and charges 25 (3.3) (20.9) – –

Retirement benefit obligations 33 (0.7) (0.7) – –

(275.9) (153.1) (61.1) (7.1)

Net current (liabilities)/assets (107.8) 33.4 29.7 51.1

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 20 – (126.0) – –

Loan notes 21 – – – (51.9)

Trade and other payables 24 (0.1) (0.2) – –

Derivative financial instruments 20, 22 (6.4) (7.7) – –

Provisions for liabilities and charges 25 (4.2) (8.1) – –

Deferred tax liabilities 16 (6.1) (8.3) – –

Retirement benefit obligations 33 (32.1) (52.3) – –

(48.9) (202.6) – (51.9)

Net (liabilities)/assets (14.3) 44.0 88.8 289.4

eQUItY

Share capital 26 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3

Share premium 27 27.9 27.9 27.9 27.9

Other reserves 28 12.1 10.9 9.8 9.8

Retained (loss)/earnings (54.6) 4.9 50.8 251.4

Total equity (14.3) 44.0 88.8 289.4

The notes on pages 57 to 103 are an integral part of the financial statements.  

The Financial Statements on pages 51 to 103 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 November 2011 and were signed on its 
behalf by: 

Grant Rumbles  Rod Harris
Chief Executive   Group Finance Director

Company number: 95369
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Notes
2011  

£m
2010  

£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations before exceptional costs 31 39.3 70.3

Exceptional items 31 (21.9) (17.6)

Cash generated from operations 31 17.4 52.7

Interest element of other loan repayments – (0.1)

Taxation paid (0.6) –

Taxation refunded 3.8 2.2

Net cash generated from operating activities 20.6 54.8

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1.9) (2.1)

Purchase of intangible assets – software and assets in the course of construction (2.5) (8.5)

Special contributions to defined benefit pension schemes (7.2) (7.9)

Interest received 0.4 0.2

Net cash used in investing activities (11.2) (18.3)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Dividends paid to shareholders 9 – (6.8)

Loan facility drawn down/(repaid) net of loan issue costs 6.3 (26.1)

Other loan payments (0.8) (1.2)

Loan repaid by/(to) related party – (0.2)

Finance lease principal payments (0.1) (0.1)

Finance costs paid (7.7) (9.4)

Exceptional finance costs paid (5.0) –

Net cash used in financing activities (7.3) (43.8)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2.1 (7.3)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 August 45.4 52.4

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash held (0.2) 0.3

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 July 32 47.3 45.4
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Group

Notes

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Balance at 1 August 2009 0.3 27.9 13.1 25.9 67.2

Comprehensive income

Loss for the year – – – (13.5) (13.5)

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations – – – (0.7) (0.7)

Deferred tax on pension scheme valuations – – – 0.2 0.2

Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges – – (3.3) – (3.3)

Currency translation differences – – 1.0 – 1.0

Total other comprehensive income – – (2.3) (0.5) (2.8)

Total comprehensive income – – (2.3) (14.0) (16.3)

Transactions with owners

Employee share option schemes:

– sale of own shares by employee share trusts – – 0.1 – 0.1

Share based payments – – – (0.2) (0.2)

Dividends           s – – – (6.8) (6.8)

Balance at 31 July 2010 0.3 27.9 10.9 4.9 44.0

Balance at 1 August 2010 0.3 27.9 10.9 4.9 44.0

Reclassifications of part of ESOP reserves from prior years 1 – – (0.5) 0.5 –

Comprehensive income

Loss for year – – – (68.6) (68.6)

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gain on pension scheme valuations 33 – – – 10.5 10.5

Deferred tax on pension scheme valuations 16, 33 – – – (2.6) (2.6)

Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 20 – – 2.2 – 2.2

Currency translation differences 28 – – (0.5) – (0.5)

Total other comprehensive income – – 1.7 7.9 9.6

Total comprehensive income – – 1.7 (60.7) (59.0)
Transactions with owners

Share-based payments 29 – – – 0.7 0.7

Balance at 31 July 2011 0.3 27.9 12.1 (54.6) (14.3)

See note 28 for an analysis of other reserves.
1 Reclassification relates to a correction of the other reserves that were previously included in retained earnings 

ConSoLiDAteD AnD CoMpAnY StAteMent oF CHAnGeS  
in eQuitY
As at 31 July 2011
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Company

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Balance at 1 August 2009 0.3 27.9 9.8 309.9 347.9

Comprehensive income

Loss for the year – – – (51.5) (51.5)

Total comprehensive income – – – (51.5) (51.5)

Transactions with owners

Share-based payments – – – (0.5) (0.5)

Share-based payments granted to subsidiary employees – – – 0.3 0.3

Dividends – – – (6.8) (6.8)

Balance at 31 July 2010 0.3 27.9 9.8 251.4 289.4

Balance at 1 August 2010 0.3 27.9 9.8 251.4 289.4

Comprehensive income

Loss for the year – – – (201.3) (201.3)

Total comprehensive income – – – (201.3) (201.3)
Transactions with owners

Share-based payments granted to subsidiary employees – – – 0.7 0.7

Balance at 31 July 2011 0.3 27.9 9.8 50.8 88.8
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We have audited the financial statements of Mouchel Group Plc for 
the year ended 31 July 2011 which comprise the Consolidated Income 
Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheet, the Consolidated 
Cash Flow Statement, the Group and Parent Company Statements 
of Changes in Equity and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial 
statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set 
out on page 32, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us 
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards 
for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for 
the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.We do 
not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 
group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the 
financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and 
Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications 
for our report.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion: 

•	the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 July 2011 and of 
the group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended;

•	the group financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; 

•	the parent company financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006; and

•	the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 

Emphasis of matter - recoverability of the Group’s debts in 
respect of the BPR contract
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not 
modified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosures made in 
notes 3 and 17 to the financial statements concerning the recoverability 
of the Group’s exposure at 31 July 2011 of AED 72.5m (£12.0m) on the 
BPR contract in Abu Dhabi.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion: 

•	the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006;

•	the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

•	the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out 
on pages 38 to 39 with respect to internal control and risk 
management systems and about share capital structures is 
consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in 
our opinion: 

•	adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or 

•	the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or 

•	certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not 
made; or 

•	we have not received all the information and explanations we require 
for our audit; or

•	a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the 
parent company. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

•	the directors’ statement, set out on page 33, in relation to going 
concern;

•	the parts of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the 
company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code specified for our review; and

•	certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on 
directors’ remuneration.

John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
29 November 2011

inDepenDent AuDitoRS’ RepoRt to  
tHe MeMBeRS oF MouCHeL GRoup pLC
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1 Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
these Financial Statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, except for 
changes arising on the adoption of new accounting standards as 
described below.

a Basis of preparation 
These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union, International Financial Reporting Standards 
Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations and with those 
parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. The Financial Statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention except for the following items: cash flow 
hedges and retirement benefit obligations are fair valued. A summary 
of the more important Group accounting policies is set out below.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
In determining that this is an appropriate basis for preparing the 
financial statements, the directors have had regard to the factors 
affecting the future development, performance and financial position of 
the Group including its cash flows, liquidity position, borrowing facilities 
and the risks and uncertainties relating to its business activities. 

As set out in the Directors’ Report on page 33, the current restriction set 
out in the Company’s Articles of Association relating to the borrowing 
powers of the Group is no longer appropriate. The directors are 
requesting a sanction from the shareholders, by way of ordinary 
resolution of the Company, to vary the Company’s borrowing limit by 
introducing a specified maximum borrowing limit. The directors have 
considered the possibility of the shareholders not approving the 
resolution and consider this possibility to be remote. If not approved 
then the Company cannot fully access the revised facilities and would 
be required to repay its borrowings which it would be unable to do.

As disclosed in note 20 subsequent to the year end the Group 
renegotiated its banking facilities. As part of the renegotiation, careful 
consideration has been given to the budgeting and ongoing cash 
management within the business which have been subject to extensive 
internal and external review. This has included a review of customer and 
supplier terms of business. Notwithstanding the current economic 
climate, the directors are therefore satisfied that sufficient headroom 
exists within the new facilities. 

After considering these factors, the directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Group’s annual financial statements.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the 
amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ 
from those estimates.

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Income 
Statement and the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Parent 
Company are not presented as part of these financial statements. The 
Company has not presented its own cash flow statement as the 
Company does not maintain its own bank account. All transactions 

such as dividends and share issues are dealt with through subsidiary 
companies and settled via intercompany accounts.

b Changes in accounting policies
No new accounting standards having a material impact on the Group 
were mandatory for the financial year ended 31 July 2011.

The following new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the financial year 
ended 31 July 2011, but do not have a material impact on the Group’s 
results.

IFRS1 (amendment), ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards’ – additional exemptions and financial instrument 
disclosures 

IFRS2 (amendment), ‘Share-based payment’ – Group cash-settled 
share-based payment transactions

IAS32 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’ – 
classification of rights issues

IFRS IC15, ‘Arrangements for construction of real estates’

IFRS IC19, ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments’ 

c Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the Financial 
Statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company 
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the Consolidated Income Statement from the effective date 
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

On acquisition, adjustments are made to the Financial Statements of 
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used 
by other members of the Group.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation.

d Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase 
method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of 
the fair values, at the date control passes, of assets given, less liabilities 
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Any costs directly attributable to 
the business combination are written off to the Income Statement. 
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS3 (Revised), 
‘Business Combinations’ are recognised at their fair values at 
the acquisition date. 

e Interests in joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and 
one or more other parties undertake an economic activity that is 
subject to joint control. Joint control is when the strategic, financial and 
operating policy decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.
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continued

1 Accounting policies (continued)
e Interests in joint ventures (continued) 
The Group conducts its joint venture arrangements through both 
jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations. The Group’s 
interests in jointly controlled operations are reported using proportional 
consolidation. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses are combined with the equivalent items in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements on a line-by-line basis. The Group recognises 
the assets it controls and the liabilities it incurs in respect of its jointly 
controlled operations

f Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary recognised at the date 
of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is 
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS 
was tested for impairment at the transition date and was retained at its 
previous UK GAAP value. Positive goodwill arising on acquisitions prior 
to 1998 that was written off against reserves under UK GAAP has not 
been reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent 
profit or loss on disposal. 

g Foreign currencies
The individual Financial Statements of each Group entity are presented 
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the results and financial position of each entity 
are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of 
the Company and the presentation currency for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

(i) Individual entity Financial Statements 
Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on 
the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair 
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement or retranslation of 
monetary items are included in the Income Statement for the year. 
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary 
items carried at fair value are included in the Income Statement for the 
period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised 
directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity.

(ii) Consolidated Financial Statements 
The assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are 
expressed in pounds sterling using exchange rates prevailing at the 
balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 
fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 

Any exchange differences arising are classified as equity and 
transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation 
differences are recognised in the Income Statement in the period in 
which the foreign operation is disposed of.

h Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised in accordance with IAS18 ‘Revenue’ and 
represents the fair value of services provided in the case of time 
charge work and the value of services provided as a proportion of the 
total value of the contract in the case of fixed fee contracts. Revenue is 
net of value added tax. Under certain services contracts, the Group 
manages customer expenditure and is obliged to purchase goods 
and services from third-party contractors and recharge them on to the 
customer at cost. The amounts charged by contractors and recharged 
to customers are excluded from revenue and netted off within cost of 
sales. Receivables, payables and cash relating to these transactions 
are included in the consolidated balance sheet.

Revenue recognition on outsourcing contracts is determined by 
reference to the proportion of the annual service delivered to date. 
Where cash flows on such contracts varies year on year but the 
underlying annual service remains the same, revenue is recognised 
evenly over the length of the contract with over/under amounts 
represented in deferred or accrued income. Where the costs of 
obligations in relation to the non-renewal or termination of a contract 
are higher in the final period of the contract, a proportion of revenue 
is deferred each period to meet these anticipated costs.

Provision is made in full for estimated losses, if the costs of fulfilling 
the contract exceed the recoverable amount. Revenue is only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that it will be recoverable. 
Where the outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is 
recognised to the extent of costs incurred to date where it is 
probable that costs will be recoverable.

Where revenue that has been recognised is found to not be recoverable 
due to a dispute with the client, these amounts are charged against the 
revenue recognised. Where non-recovery is as a result of inability of a 
client to meets its obligations, these amounts are charged to 
administrative expenses.

As described above, revenue represents the fair value of services 
provided as a proportion of the total value of the contract. Unbilled 
revenue is the difference between the revenue recognised and the 
amounts actually invoiced to customers. Where invoicing exceeds 
the amount of revenue recognised, these amounts are included in 
deferred income.

Consumables are stated at cost. When consumables are used, a 
charge is made to cost of sales. 

i Pre-contract costs
The Group accounts for pre-contract costs on both time charge 
work and service contracts in accordance with IAS11 ’Construction 
Contracts’ as IAS18 ‘Revenue’ does not provide specific guidance 
for these costs. 

The markets in which the Group operates are characterised by formal 
procurement tendering processes. The Board considers that the date 
at which the contract (and resulting revenue flow) becomes virtually 
certain, is the date at which the Group is formally announced as the 
preferred bidder. 

Costs incurred before it becomes virtually certain that the contract 
will be awarded are charged directly to the Income Statement. Costs 
incurred after that point are recognised as an asset in the balance sheet 
and charged to the Income Statement over the duration of the contract. 
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
j Employee benefits
The Group operates several occupational pension schemes, of both 
the defined contribution and defined benefit type.

(i) Defined contribution pension schemes
Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense when they fall due. 
Employer pension contributions in respect of employees who 
transferred under TUPE to Mouchel, but who remain members of their 
respective councils’ defined benefit pension scheme are treated as 
being made to defined contribution schemes where under the terms of 
the contract the defined benefit liability effectively remains with the 
relevant council.

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that they 
result in either a cash refund or a reduction in future payments. 

(ii) Defined benefit pension schemes
The liability recognised in the balance sheet for the Group’s defined 
benefit pension schemes is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date as adjusted for unrecognised past 
service cost, less the fair value of scheme assets. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method and by discounting the estimated future cash flows 
using interest rates on high-quality corporate bonds that have terms to 
maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. Any 
asset resulting from this calculation is limited to unrecognised past 
service costs plus the present value of available refunds and reductions 
in future contributions to the scheme.

The pension expense for the Group’s defined benefit schemes is 
recognised as follows:

Within operating profit
Current service cost – representing the increase in the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the 
current period.

Past service cost – representing the increase in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in prior 
periods, which arises from changes made to the benefits under the 
scheme in the current period. To the extent that the changes to benefits 
vest immediately, past service costs are recognised immediately; 
otherwise they are recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period.

Gains and losses arising on settlements and curtailments – where the 
item that gave rise to the settlement or curtailment is recognised within 
operating profit.

Within finance costs
Interest cost on the liabilities of the scheme – calculated by reference to 
the scheme liabilities and discount rate at the beginning of the year and 
allowing for changes during the year.

Expected return on the assets of the scheme – calculated by reference 
to the scheme assets and long-term expected rate of return at the 
beginning of the year and allowing for changes during the year.

Within the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Actuarial gains and losses arising on the assets and liabilities 
of the scheme.

When a curtailment (reducing future obligations as a result of a 
material reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in 

future entitlement) occurs, the obligation and related plan assets are 
remeasured using current actuarial assumptions and the resultant 
gain or loss is recognised in the Income Statement during the period 
in which the curtailment occurs.

(iii) Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain 
employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair 
value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) at 
the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the 
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the 
shares that will eventually vest.

Save As You Earn (SAYE) options are treated as cancelled when 
employees who remain in employment cease to contribute to the 
scheme, resulting in an acceleration of the remainder of the related 
expense.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the 
employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a 
capital contribution.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is 
calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or 
otherwise of non-market conditions and hence the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. The movement in the cumulative 
expense since the previous balance sheet is recognised in the Income 
Statement.

For share options where there are no market-based vesting conditions, 
fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. For share 
options where there are market-based vesting conditions, the Monte 
Carlo simulation model is used for fair value measurement. 

k Taxation
Taxation in the Income Statement represents the sum of the tax 
currently payable and deferred tax on items charged or credited to the 
Income Statement.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable 
profit differs from net profit as reported in the Income Statement 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and 
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. 

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than 
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.



60 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011

noteS to tHe FinAnCiAL StAteMentS     
For the year ended 31 July 2011  

 
continued

1 Accounting policies (continued)
k Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the year when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax 
is charged or credited to the Income Statement, except when it relates 
to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Examples of items charged to 
equity are gains or losses in relation to pension scheme valuations and 
actual amounts received in respect of relief obtained in granting options 
to employees under share incentive schemes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

l Intangible assets 
(i) Computer software costs
The cost or valuation of assets acquired or created to fulfil customer 
contracts, less their estimated residual value, is written down in equal 
instalments over the life of the contract to which the assets relate.

Acquired computer software licences and software development 
costs are capitalised and amortised over their estimated useful lives 
of between three and eight years. 

The Group’s corporate information systems are treated as an 
intangible asset. Costs included are those directly attributable to the 
design, construction and testing of new systems (including major 
enhancements and internally generated costs) from the point of 
inception to the point of satisfactory completion where the probable 
future economic benefits arising from the investment can be assessed 
with reasonable certainty at the time the costs are incurred. 
Maintenance and minor modifications are expensed in the income 
statement as incurred. The corporate information systems are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
economic life of eight years.

(ii) Customer relationships
Customer relationships are measured as the present value of cash flows 
attributable to the relationship after deduction of appropriate 
contributory asset charges. The relationship is amortised over its 
expected useful life on a straight-line basis.

(iii) Assets in the course of construction
Capital software projects which are incomplete at the balance 
sheet date are included within this category of intangible assets until 
the projects are commissioned and transferred to computer software 
costs. Assets in the course of construction are not amortised.

(iv) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are acquired assets including trade names, 
non-compete agreements and specialist software and licences. The 
values of these assets are individually determined using appropriate 

valuation methods and deducting contributory asset charges as 
required. Further detail is given in note 12 of the Financial Statements

They are amortised over their expected useful lives on a straight-line basis.

m Property, plant and equipment
The cost or valuation of assets acquired or created to fulfil customer 
contracts, less their estimated residual value, is written down in equal 
instalments over the life of the contract to which the assets relate. Cost 
includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable 
to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

Assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are capitalised only when it is probable that they will 
result in future economic benefits flowing to the Group and when they 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenditure 
is charged to the Income Statement in the year in which it is incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to 
write off their cost less their residual value over their estimated useful 
lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements over the expected term of the lease
Plant and office equipment 3-10 years
Vehicles   3-5 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected 
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. Residual values and 
estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least 
at each financial year-end.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses arising on disposals are determined by comparing net 
sales proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognised in the 
Income Statement in the period of the disposal.

n Impairment of non-current assets
(i) Goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the 
cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination. 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested 
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication 
that the unit may be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the 
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and 
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 
subsequent period.

(ii) Other non-current assets (including investments)
At each balance sheet date, the Group/Company reviews the carrying 
amount of its non-current assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent, if any, of the impairment loss. 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
n Impairment of non-current assets (continued)
(ii) Other non-current assets (including investments) (continued)
An intangible asset with an indefinite life is tested annually for 
impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income 
Statement. 

A reversal of an impairment loss for non-current assets other than 
goodwill is recognised immediately in the Income Statement to the 
extent that the original impairment loss was recognised in the Income 
Statement.

(iii) Assets in the course of construction
As stated in note 1l(iii) incomplete capital projects are included within 
other intangible assets. They are not amortised. Once the project is 
complete and transferred to software it will be amortised in accordance 
with note 1l(i). 

o Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i) Finance leases
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group 
at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
charged to the Income Statement.

(ii) Operating leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Income 
Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an 
operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

A provision is made for all unavoidable costs arising on an onerous 
contract, where such costs exceed the economic benefits expected to 
be generated over the remaining life. Any such value ascribed is 
disclosed within provisions for liabilities and charges.

p Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance 
sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. There are no assets classified as at fair value through 
profit and loss.

(i) Trade receivables and unbilled revenue 
Trade receivables and unbilled revenue including contract retentions are 
initially measured at fair value, do not carry any interest, and are 
reduced by appropriate impairment provisions for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost.

Where recovery is anticipated as being greater than one year, the 
receivable is discounted.The unwinding of any such discount is 
reflected in Finance Income. 

A provision for impairment of trade receivables and unbilled revenue is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the customer, probability 
that the customer will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and 
default may be considered indicators that the trade receivable may be 
impaired. Delinquency of payments is an indicator that we consider 
when assessing whether the asset needs to be impaired. 

The amount of the impairment provision is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an impairment 
provisions account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
Income Statement within administrative expenses. When a trade 
receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the impairment 
provisions account for trade receivables.

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 
These comprise cash in hand and on demand deposits, and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(iii) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are not interest-bearing and are initially 
measured at their fair value. They are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.

(iv) Borrowings
Bank overdrafts and interest-bearing loans are initially measured at fair 
value and obligations under finance leases are dealt with in accordance 
with the Group’s policy on leases (note 1o). After initial recognition loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, taking 
into account issue costs.

(v) Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to 
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 

(vi) Derivative financial instruments
The derivative instruments used by the Group, which are used solely for 
hedging purposes (i.e. to offset interest rate risks) comprise interest rate 
swaps. Such derivative instruments are used to alter the risk profile of 
an existing underlying exposure of the Group, in line with the Group’s 
risk management policies.

The Group has designated these derivatives as cash flow hedges. 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that is 
designated and qualifies for hedge accounting is recognised as a 
separate component of equity. The ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the Income Statement. Amounts accumulated in equity 
are recycled to the Income Statement in the period in which the hedged 
item affects profit and loss.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required to 
document the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument. The Group is also required to document and demonstrate 
that the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument will be highly effective. The effectiveness test is reperformed 
at each period end to ensure that the hedge remained and will continue 
to remain highly effective.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
q Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required 
to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the 
balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the 
effect is material.

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the group has committed 
to a course of restructuring activity that will result in exceptional costs to 
complete. 

Insurance/claims provisions reflect management’s view of the likely 
outcome of insurance and other legal claims made against the group in 
connection with operational activities. 

Dilapidation provisions are recognised to provide for the expected costs 
of meeting dilapidation/reinstatement requirements for properties 
leased by the group when they are exited and these are provided for 
over the term of the lease. 

Onerous contract provisions are recognised where the unavoidable 
costs relating principally to property lease contracts is not expected to 
be fully recovered by the economic benefits expected to be derived 
from using those properties. 

r Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued 
operations are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. The assets are not depreciated.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale 
if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as 
having been met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset 
(or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition. The Directors must be committed to the sale, which should 
be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one 
year from the date of classification.

s Segmental reporting
Segment reporting requires a ‘management approach’ under which 
segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for 
internal reporting purposes. Operating segments are reported in a 
manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker has been 
identified as the Executive Directors. A geographical segment is 
engaged in providing services within a particular world location.

The four operating segments used by management to review the 
business are defined at the front of this report. These segments form the 
basis for reporting the Group’s primary segment information as they are 
the main segments used for internal reporting purposes. 

t Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

u Financial risk management
The Group has a limited number of overseas operations, significant 
cash balances and a revolving credit facility which expose the Group to 
the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, changes in 
interest rates and credit risk. The Group finance department manages 

these risks within a defined set of policies and procedures laid down by 
the Board. The Board has identified that the Group is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and price risk in 
varying degrees. 

The Group’s policy for managing these risks is set out in note 22. 

The Group hedges against interest rate risk on bank borrowings.

v Research and development
Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which it is incurred. Development costs are expensed in the period in 
which the costs are incurred unless the criteria for capitalisation are met.

w Dividends
Final dividends are recorded in the Group’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements in the period in which they are approved by the Group’s 
shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

x Exceptional items
As permitted by IAS1 ‘Presentation and Disclosure’ certain items are 
presented separately in the Income Statement as exceptional where, in 
the judgement of the Directors, they need to be disclosed separately by 
virtue of their nature, size or incidence in order to obtain a clear and 
consistent presentation of the Group’s underlying business 
performance.

Examples of material and non-recurring items which may give rise to 
disclosure as exceptional items include gains or losses on the disposal 
of businesses, costs of restructuring and reorganisation of existing 
businesses, integration of newly acquired businesses, asset 
impairments and pension fund curtailments.

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets is also treated as an 
exceptional item so that the underlying profit of the Group can be 
measured from year to year. Underlying operating profit is one of the key 
measures used by the Board to monitor the Group’s performance. 

y Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs, at the rate incurred, directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until 
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use 
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred.

z Key accounting estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies which are 
described above, management has made the following judgements 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the Financial Statements:

(i) Retirement benefit obligations
The calculation of retirement benefit obligations is dependent on 
material key assumptions including discount rates, future returns 
on assets and future contribution rates (see note 33). The value of 
retirement benefit obligations at the balance sheet date is £32.8m 
(2010: £53.0m). The sensitivity associated with assumptions is 
disclosed in note 33c.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
z Key accounting estimates (continued)
(ii) Goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the 
value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated. The value in use calculation involves an estimation of the 
future growth rates and future cash flows of cash-generating units and 
also the selection of appropriate discount rates, which involves 
judgement, to calculate present values (see note 11). The carrying value 
of goodwill is £64.4m (2010: £109.7m) at the balance sheet date.

(iii) Revenue recognition
The Group’s revenue recognition policy is stated in note 1h. In some 
cases, judgement is required to determine the appropriate proportion of 
the value delivered on the contract and the extent to which fees will be 
recoverable. The recoverability of fees in the cases where the fee has 
become the subject of a claim against the customer involves 
management judgement to be applied to the specific circumstances of 
each individual case.

(iv) Intangible assets 
As described in note 1l, the Group recognises certain intangible assets 
on acquisition. Judgements in respect of useful lives, discount rates 
and valuation methods affect the carrying value and amortisation 
charges in respect of these assets. These judgements are shown in 
note 12.

(v) Deferred tax and income taxes
Management has estimated the likely value of deferred tax assets in 
respect of trading losses. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.The Group 
recognises liabilities and assets for anticipated tax audit issues based 
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due (see note 7 and 
note 16).

The Group has open tax matters with a number of revenue authorities. 
The Group believes that it has made adequate provision for the liabilities 
likely to arise from open assessments. Where open matters exist the 
ultimate liability for such matters may vary from the amounts provided 
and is dependant on the outcome of negotiations with the relevant tax 
authorities or if necessary litigation proceedings. 

(vi) Share-based payment estimates
The Group’s accounting policy for share-based payments is stated in 
note 1j(iii). The fair value of equity settled share-based payments is 
partly determined from estimates of factors such as lapse rates and 
achievement of performance conditions.

aa New IFRSs not applied 
(i) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards 
that have been published as mandatory for later accounting periods but 
are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group are: 

New standards: 
IFRS7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Amendments enhancing 
disclosures about transfer of assets – effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

IFRS9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement-
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 

IFRS10 Consolidated Financial Statements – effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS11 Joint Arrangements – effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013, which will impact the accounts 
for the year ended 31 July 2014. Given the Group has a number of joint 
ventures which are currently proportionately consolidated it is possible 
that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s reporting 
as this will no longer be permitted (see note 14). 

IFRS12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS13 Fair Value Measurement – effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Amendments to existing standards: 
IAS24 Related Party Disclosures – Revised definition of related 
parties – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2011

IAS12 Income Taxes – Limited scope amendment (recovery of 
underlying assets) – effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2012 

IAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments to 
revise the way other comprehensive income is presented – effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

IAS19 Employee Benefits – Amended Standard resulting from the 
Post-Employment Benefits and Termination Benefits projects – 
effective accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Revised IAS27 Separate Financial Statements (as amended in 2011) –
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Revised IAS28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
(as amended in 2011) – effective for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013
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2 Segmental analysis 
Business segments
The Group’s operations are organised and managed separately, according to the nature of products and services provided. A description of each 
of the primary segments can be found in the Business Review on pages 4 to 9.

Analysis of results by business segment is as follows:

 Group

2011
Highways  

£m

Government
and Business

 Services  
£m

Management 
Consulting  

£m

Regulated 
Industries  

£m

Total  
Group  

£m

Underlying revenue 205.6 218.5 33.0 82.5 539.6
Exceptional revenue – – 11.8 – 11.8
Total Revenue 205.6 218.5 44.8 82.5 551.4

Underlying operating profit 4.5 7.4 1.8 2.0 15.7
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges (2.2) 1.3 (0.6) (2.7) (4.2)
Other exceptional items – 1.9 (3.9) (1.0) (3.0)
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (2.2) (1.3) (2.5) (0.4) (6.4)
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations – – (41.3) (4.0) (45.3)
Segment operating profit/(loss) 0.1 9.3 (46.5) (6.1) (43.2)
Other Group exceptionals (3.7)
Operating loss (46.9)
Interest receivable 1.1
Finance costs (19.0)
Loss before tax (64.8)
Taxation (3.8)
Loss for the year (68.6)

Assets by segment

Goodwill and other intangibles 29.6 59.8 12.6 13.0 115.0
Trade and other receivables 33.9 23.0 16.5 29.2 102.6
Other segment assets 7.3 17.5 1.2 5.3 31.3
Unallocated assets:

– deferred tax assets 14.3
– cash 47.3
Total assets 310.5

Liabilities by segment

Trade payables – current (2.9) (11.0) (3.1) (4.9) (21.9)
Other segment liabilities (41.6) (46.1) (4.9) (14.3) (106.9)
Unallocated liabilities:

– borrowings (135.1)
– current tax liabilities (12.2)
– deferred tax liabilities (6.1)
– retirement benefit obligations (32.8)
– derivative financial instruments (6.4)
– other unallocated liabilities (3.4)
Total liabilities (324.8)
Total net liabilities (14.3)
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2 Segmental analysis (continued)
Business segments (continued)

Group

2011
Highways  

£m

Government
and Business

 Services  
£m

Management 
Consulting  

£m

Regulated  
Industries  

£m

Total  
Group  

£m

Other segment items

Capital expenditure (intangible assets and property, plant and equipment) 1.6 2.2 0.2 0.4 4.4
Depreciation charge 1.3 3.5 0.1 0.8 5.7
Amortisation of intangible assets – software and other acquired intangibles 1.9 1.9 0.7 0.8 5.3
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 2.2 1.3 2.5 0.4 6.4

The financing of the Group’s activities is undertaken centrally and consequently net financing costs cannot be analysed segmentally. 
The unallocated net assets principally comprise items relating to the captive insurance company and the parent company. 

Group

2010
Highways  

£m

 Government
and Business 

Services  
£m

Management 
Consulting  

£m

Regulated 
Industries  

£m

Total  
Group  

£m

Revenue 254.6 231.3 59.1 87.6 632.6

Underlying operating profit 19.4 15.0 3.9 2.9 41.2

Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges (7.3) (8.2) (3.6) (17.4) (36.5)

Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (2.1) (1.3) (2.9) (0.5) (6.8)

Segment operating profit/(loss) 10.0 5.5 (2.6) (15.0) (2.1)

Other Group exceptionals (1.9)

Operating loss (4.0)

Interest receivable 0.2

Finance costs (10.9)

Loss before tax (14.7)

Taxation 1.2

Loss for the year (13.5)

Assets by segment

Goodwill and other intangibles 34.7 61.2 56.2 17.7 169.8

Trade and other receivables 41.0 29.3 9.8 33.1 113.2

Other segment assets 6.7 25.4 1.9 5.9 39.9

Unallocated assets:

– deferred tax assets 26.5

– cash 45.4

– other unallocated assets 4.9

Total assets 399.7

Liabilities by segment

Trade payables – current (8.3) (16.2) (5.3) (4.4) (34.2)

Other segment liabilities (23.0) (43.8) (6.7) (36.8) (110.3)

Unallocated liabilities:

– borrowings (126.7)

– current tax liabilities (12.3)

– deferred tax liabilities (8.3)

– retirement benefit obligations (53.0)

– derivative financial instruments (7.7)

– other unallocated liabilities (3.2)

Total liabilities (355.7)

Total net assets 44.0
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2 Segmental analysis (continued)
Business segments (continued)

Group

2010
Highways  

£m

Government
and 

Business 
Services  

£m

Management 
Consulting  

£m

Regulated  
Industries  

£m

Total  
Group  

£m

Other segment items

Capital expenditure (intangible assets and property, plant and equipment) 4.8 4.6 0.6 0.9 10.9

Depreciation charge 1.2 4.3 0.2 0.8 6.5

Amortisation of intangible assets – software and other acquired intangibles 0.4 4.0 0.4 0.1 4.9

Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 2.2 1.3 2.8 0.5 6.8

Geographical analysis
The table below represents revenue by geographical origin (the analysis by geographical destination is not materially different to that by origin) and 
the carrying amount of non-current assets1, split according to the geographical location of those assets.

Group

Revenue Non-current assets1

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

United Kingdom 512.4 612.0 127.4 185.9

Middle East 25.6 19.2 0.6 0.8

Australasia 11.9 – 0.1 –

Ireland and other overseas 1.5 1.4 – –

551.4 632.6 128.1 186.7

The Middle East revenue for the period to 31 July 2011 includes £11.8m relating to business process re-engineering for the municipalities in 
Abu Dhabi which is included within the Management Consulting business segment with the balance being included in Regulated Industries.
1 non-current assets exclude financial instruments, deferred tax assets and retirement benefit assets

Major Customers
Within the Highways segment revenue of £74.3m (2010: £85.8m) is derived from a single external customer. 

The Group does not consider various government agencies, whether local or national, to be a single customer under joint control as, whilst many 
such agencies are subject to the UK Governments Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) published in October 2010, each agency negotiates 
and manages its supplier contracts individually.
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3 Exceptional items 

Highways
£m

Government
and

Business
Services

£m

Management
Consulting

£m

Regulated
Industries

£m
Group

£m
2011  

£m
2010  

£m

Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in the Middle East1 – – – (0.1) – (0.1) (15.2)

Restructuring costs in the UK2 (2.2) 1.3 (0.6) (0.1) (1.6) (3.2) (22.5)

Recovery of prior year’s exceptional charges in Regulated Industries3 – – – 1.5 – 1.5 –

Bid defence costs 4 – – – – (2.1) (2.1) (0.7)

Pension settlement/curtailment gain from customer contract change5 – 1.9 – – – 1.9 –

Costs associated with planned business disposals6 – – – (1.0) – (1.0) –
Loss on Management Consulting’s Business Process Re-engineering 
contract in Middle East 7 – – (3.9) – – (3.9) –

Finance costs8 – – – – (7.2) (7.2) –

Provision regarding Holleran Mouchel joint venture9 – – – (4.0) – (4.0) –

Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations10 (2.2) (1.3) (2.5) (0.4) – (6.4) (6.8)

Impairment of goodwill (see note 11) – – (41.3) (4.0) – (45.3) –

Total exceptional items (4.4) 1.9 (48.3) (8.1) (10.9) (69.8) (45.2)

£0.8m of the above amounts relating to 2011 are included within provisions for liabilities and charges (note 25) and £4.8m is included within trade 
receivable and unbilled revenue provisions (note 17). 

Management use underlying profit to measure and manage the financial performance of the Group on a day-to-day basis.Underlying profit 
excludes material income and charges considered to be one-off or non-recurring in nature.Underlying profit also excludes the amortisation of 
intangible assets arising from business combinations.The Group presents these items as exceptional in a separate column in the Income 
Statement so that the underlying and statutory performance can be seen clearly. 
1  the economic slow down in Dubai resulted in the decision to close our Dubai operations following our significant presence reduction in 2009.As a result, the Group incurred 

restructuring charges of £0.1m (2010: £5.2m) mainly in respect of redundancies and surplus property provisions. no further asset impairment charges were recorded in the 
Middle east in the year (2010: £10.0m) 

2  Restructuring costs were incurred in 2010 and 2011, to ensure that we had the right organisational structure, staffing levels and office portfolio
3  Recovery of amounts provided for during the year ended 31 July 2009 as a result of a customer terminating our contract and that after protracted negotiations have been 

recovered in the year to 31 July 2011 
4 For the year ended 31 July 2011, costs relate to defences against unsolicited approaches from Costain, interserv and others during the second half of the year. For the year 

ended 31 July 2010, bid defence costs relate to the unsolicited approach in December 2009 from vt Group plc
5 pension scheme settlement/curtailment gain on the teesside pension Scheme arising from a customer contract change (see note 33)
6  Costs incurred to 31 July 2011 in relation to the potential disposal of non-core parts of Regulated industries, being the Middle east, Rail and energy businesses. Further costs will 

also be incurred in the first half of the new year 
7 the loss relates to a Business process Re-engineering project undertaken across four Municipalities in the united Arab emirates and involves the review of current business 

processes, identification and documentation of best practice processes, staff training and implementation. this project was entered into in April 2010 and represented a 
significant departure for the Group in that this was the first contract of its kind undertaken by the Group within the Middle east to establish a Middle eastern Consulting business. 
the project value is circa 86.4m AeD (approx £14.9m). the Group has decided to disband the unit and capability as this project completes. the project is substantially complete 
but a number of tasks remain to be finished. Contained within the loss reported are provisions to reflect further costs to complete. the Group has received some monies - 13.4m 
AeD (£2.3m) but there is 72.5m AeD (£12.0m) trade receivables and unbilled revenue outstanding on this project at 31st July 2011. in addition, the Group is reporting the trade 
receivables and unbilled revenue discounted to recognise that the monies are not expected to be received until the next calendar year (See note 17). Management believes the 
amounts will be recovered in full.However, there can be no certainty in this respect

8  Finance costs include the write off of unamortised loan issue costs in respect of the existing and old unsecured revolving credit facility (£3.6m and £2.2m respectively) and 
additional costs incurred in addressing potential covenant breaches (£1.4m) highlighted in the 31 July 2010 Annual Report and Accounts

9  the Group recorded £4.0m of provisions against unbilled revenue in the year relating to the joint venture with Holleran, as Holleran went into administration and has subsequently 
been liquidated making the recovery from the customers complicated and protracted 

10  the Group does not consider the amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations to be part of the underlying business performance and therefore treats 
them as exceptional costs 
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3 Exceptional items (continued)
The tax effect of the exceptional items is a credit of £1.8m (2010: £10.5m) in the Consolidated Income Statement. In both the years 2011 and 2010, 
this credit, which is at a lower rate than the standard rate of corporation tax, reflects management’s assessment in respect of the creation of 
deferred tax assets on carried forward losses.The credit from 2011 is also effected by exceptional items of expenditure, including the impairment of 
goodwill, which are not tax deductible.

4 Operating profit - analysis of costs by nature
Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Staff costs - excluding exceptional staff costs (note 6) 283.2 329.6

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 13) 5.7 6.5

Amortisation of software and other acquired intangibles (note 12) 5.3 4.9

Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (notes 3 and 12) 6.4 6.8

Impairment of goodwill (note 11) 45.3 –

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.1 –

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 0.2 –

Operating lease payments on property, vehicles, plant and equipment 16.8 16.8

Trade receivables and unbilled revenue impairment, including exceptional items (note 17) 9.0 14.2

Loss/(gain) on foreign exchange 0.4 (0.2)

Auditor’s remuneration
Services provided by the Group’s Auditors and its network firms were as follows:

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Audit services

Fees payable to the Company’s Auditors for the statutory audit of the Company’s and Group’s

consolidated annual Financial Statements1 0.5 0.5

Non-audit fees

Fees payable to the Company’s Auditors and its associates for the statutory audits of the Company’s

associates and for other services:

– the auditing of Financial Statements of the Company’s associates pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.1

– other services relating to taxation 0.3 0.1

– all other services 2 0.7 0.5

1.6 1.2
1 the fees payable in respect of the statutory audit of the Company were £20,000 (2010: £20,000)
2 Fees payable in respect of the post implementation review of the Group’s corporate information system, debt restructuring and corporate structure planning
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5 Finance income/(costs)
Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Interest income 0.4 0.2

Net interest receivable on retirement benefit obligations (note 33) 0.7 –

Interest receivable 1.1 0.2

Interest expense:

– interest payable on bank facilities (0.1) (0.1)

– interest payable on other loans – (0.1)

– interest payable on revolving credit facility and term loans (6.4) (5.5)

– amounts payable on interest rate hedges and recycled from equity (note 20) (3.6) (3.9)

– interest payable on bonds (0.4) (0.3)

– net interest payable on retirement benefit obligations (note 33) – (0.1)

Amortisation of loan issue costs (1.3) (1.1)

Less interest capitalised on intangible assets – 0.2

Finance costs (excluding exceptionals) (11.8) (10.9)

Exceptional finance costs relating to current and previous revolving credit facility (see note 3) (7.2) –

Finance costs (19.0) (10.9)

Net finance costs (17.9) (10.7)

There were no unamortised loan issue costs at 31 July 2011. 

6 Employees and Directors
Staff costs during the year were as follows:

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Wages and salaries 247.4 309.3

Social security costs 21.5 23.3

Other pension costs (note 33) 16.6 16.0

Share-based payments (note 29) 0.7 (0.2)

286.2 348.4

Staff costs include £3.0m (2010: £18.8m) relating to exceptional staff costs.

Staff costs exclude redundancy and other exit costs which have been charged against the provision brought forward (see note 25).

Staff costs include temporary staff.

The average number of people (including Executive Directors and temporary staff) employed during the year was as follows:

Group

2011
Highways  

Number

Government 
and 

Business 
Services  
Number

Management 
Consulting

Number

Regulated 
Industries  

Number

Group 
Functions  

Number
Total  

Number

Total staff 2,894 4,291 301 1,667 249 9,402
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6 Employees and Directors (continued) 

Group

20101 
Highways  

Number

Government
and 

Business 
Services  
Number

Management 
Consulting

Number

Regulated 
Industries  

Number

Group 
Functions  

Number
Total  

Number

Total staff 3,470 4,359 448 1,911 237 10,425

Group Company

Key management remuneration
2011  

£m
2010  

£m
2011  

£m
2010  

£m

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 2.3 2.2 1.2 1.1

Payments in lieu of notice 0.3 – 0.3 –

Post-employment benefits 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1

Share-based payments – – – –
1 2010 staff numbers have been restated. 

Key management comprises Executive and Non-Executive Directors and members of the Group Management Board. There were no other 
transactions with key management personnel during the year ended 31 July 2011 (2010: £nil).

More detailed information on the emoluments, pensions, option holdings and shareholdings for each Director is shown in the Remuneration Report 
on pages 40 to 50. The cost of options granted during the year to key management personnel, as disclosed in the Remuneration Report, is 
included in the figure above. Note 29 provides additional detail of factors affecting the fair value of grants and the expense measured in the year.

7 Taxation
a Analysis of tax charge for the year

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Corporation tax charge for the year (0.1) (0.4)

Adjustment in respect of prior years 2.5 0.1

Current tax credit/(charge) 2.4 (0.3)

Deferred tax (charge)/credit for the year (4.9) 2.2

Deferred tax charge arising from the change in rate on the opening balance (1.3) (0.7)

Total deferred tax (charge)/credit (6.2) 1.5

Tax (charge)/credit for the year (3.8) 1.2
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7 Taxation (continued)
b Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The tax charge for each year is different to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 27.33% (2010: 28%). The differences are explained 
below:

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Loss before tax (64.8) (14.7)

Loss multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 27.33% (2010: 28%) 17.7 4.1

Effects of:

– permanent differences (14.6) (1.0)

– change in future tax rate (1.3) (0.8)

– research and development – 0.9

– adjustment in respect of prior years 2.5 0.1

– losses utilised, previously unrecognised 1.2 0.5

– deferred tax asset brought forward considered irrecoverable (6.9) –

– overseas tax payable (0.1) –

– unrecognised losses (2.3) (2.6)

Tax (charge)/credit for the year (3.8) 1.2

c Tax on items charged to Other Comprehensive Income 
The income credited directly to equity during the year is as follows:

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Movement in pension scheme valuations (2.6) 0.2

Deferred tax on items (charged)/credited to Other Comprehensive Income (2.6) 0.2

d Net movement in deferred tax
Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Deferred tax on items (charged)/credited to equity (2.6) 0.2

Deferred tax – amount received from carry back of share-based payment charges to prior years (1.2) –

Deferred tax on items (charged)/credited to the Income Statement (6.2) 1.5

Total deferred tax (charge)/ credit (10.0) 1.7

Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 16.

The standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK changed from 28% to 26% with effect from 1 April 2011. Accordingly, the company’s profits for this 
accounting period are taxed at an effective rate of 27.33% and will be taxed at 26% in the future.In addition, a number of further changes to the UK 
Corporation tax system were announced in the March 2011 Budget Statement. Further reductions to the main rate of corporation tax are proposed 
to reduce the rate by 1% per annum to 23% by 1 April 2014.Apart from the reduction to 25% from 1 April 2012,these further changes had not been 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, are not included in these financial statements.

The proposed reductions to the main rate of corporation tax by 1% per annum to 23% by 1 April 2014 are expected to be enacted separately each 
year. The overall effect of the further proposed changes from 25% to 23%, if these are applied to the net deferred tax balance as at 31 July 2011, 
would be to reduce the net deferred tax asset by approximately £0.7m (being £0.4m recognised in 2013 and £0.3m recognised in 2014). 
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8 Results of the Parent Company
The Consolidated Income Statement consolidates the Income Statement of the Parent Company and subsidiary undertakings. As permitted by 
section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Income Statement and the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Parent Company are not 
presented as part of these financial statements. 

The Parent Company’s result for the financial year amounted to a loss of £201.3m (2010: loss of £51.5m) after impairment provisions of £200.0m 
(2010: £75.2m).

9 Dividends
Group and Company

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Final paid in respect of the previous year 0p (2010: 3.85p) – 4.3

Interim paid in respect of the current year 0p (2010: 2.25p) – 2.6

Less: dividend waived by employee share ownership trusts – (0.1)

Total dividends paid – 6.8

The Directors have not proposed an interim dividend nor a final dividend for the year to 31 July 2011 and as outlined in the Annual Report and 
Financial Statements to 31 July 2010 did not plan to resume dividend payments until there was evidence of a sustained increase in demand for our 
services and consequent improvement in performance. In addition, there are also restrictions contained within the new banking facilities, as 
disclosed in note 20 that prevent dividends from being paid until the banking facilities have been repaid in full. 

10 Earnings/(loss) per share
Group

2011 2010

Basic and diluted loss per share (61.7)p (12.1)p

Adjusted (loss)/earnings per share (0.5)p 18.9p

 

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Loss for the year (68.6) (13.5)

Loss for basic and diluted earnings per share (68.6) (13.5)

Adjustments:

– other exceptional costs (net of taxation) 17.9 29.7

– impairment of goodwill 45.3 –

– amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (net of taxation) 4.8 5.0

(Loss)/earnings for adjusted (loss)/earnings per share (0.6) 21.2

 

 
2011  

million
2010  

million

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 111.2 111.4

Dilutive share options – –

Dilutive Save As You Earn schemes – –

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares 111.2 111.4

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 111.2 111.4

Average number of shares held by the employee share trusts 1.2 1.4

Share options matured in respect of executive share option schemes – (0.4)

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares 112.4 112.4
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10 Earnings/(loss) per share (continued)
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of shares during 
the year.

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue on the assumption of conversion of all 
dilutive share options in issue and shares under Save As You Earn schemes. The share price used to calculate diluted earnings per share is based 
on a weighted average price of 102.75p (31 July 2010: 196.31p). Potential ordinary shares are not treated as dilutive when their conversion would 
increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share from continuing operations. As the Group reported a loss for the year the effects of 
1,968,000 (2010: 13,000) anti-dilutive share options were ignored when calculating earnings per share for 2011.

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated after adding back shares held by the employee share trusts to the weighted average number of shares. 
Earnings are adjusted to exclude exceptional items (net of taxation). The Directors believe that this additional measure provides a better indicator of 
the underlying trends in the business. 

11 Goodwill

2011
Group  

£m

Cost

At 1 August 2010 and 31 July 2011 121.9
Impairment

At 1 August 2010 12.2
Impairment in year 45.3
At 31 July 2011 57.5
Net book value

At 31 July 2011 64.4
At 31 July 2010 109.7

At 31 July 2011 the Board concluded that the carrying value of the goodwill in the Management Consulting segment (cash generating unit (CGU)) 
required full impairment of £41.3m. The need for full impairment arose as a result of the net present value of the CGU being less than the carrying 
value of the goodwill.This was caused by the combination of a 54% reduction in the underlying operating profits from 31 July 2010; exceptional 
charges booked arising from the restructuring exercises; future forecasts showing a challenging business environment and a substantial increase 
in the Group’s discount rate applied. 

At 31 July 2011 the Board also concluded that the carrying value of the goodwill of £4.0m associated with the acquisition of Gas Experts Limited, 
which is included within the Regulated Industries segment, required full impairment. The need for full impairment arose as a result of the net present 
value of the CGU being less than the carrying value of the goodwill as a result of its future projected earnings and a substantial increase in the 
Group’s discount rate. 

2010
Group  

£m

Cost

At 1 August 2009 and 31 July 2010 121.9

Impairment

At 1 August 2009 and 31 July 2010 12.2

Net book value

At 1 August 2009 and 31 July 2010 109.7
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11 Goodwill (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to the business segment.

A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below: 

2011 2010

Highways  
£m

Government 
and 

Business 
Services  

£m

Management 
Consulting

£m

Regulated 
Industries  

£m
Total  

£m
Highways  

£m

Government 
and Business 

Services  
£m

Management 
Consulting

£m

Regulated 
Industries  

£m
Total  

£m

United Kingdom 17.0 40.3 – 7.1 64.4 17.0 40.3 41.3 11.1 109.7

The recoverable amount of goodwill for each CGU has been based on value-in-use as represented by the net present value of future cash flows. 
Cash flows are projected forwards for four years based on the latest one-year board approved budget extrapolated for three future years,  
assumed operating margins, by a growth rate applicable to each unit; an appropriate terminal value based on a perpetuity calculation using 
long-term average growth rates is then added. They are then discounted using a pre-tax discount rate based on the Group’s nominal weighted 
average cost of capital of 10.0% (2010: 6.87%) per annum which has been applied consistently across each CGU based on their similar risk 
profiles.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows for both 2011 and 2010:

Highways  
%

Government 
and 

Business 
Services  

%

Management 
Consulting 

%

Regulated  
Industries  

%

Growth rate for years two to four 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0

Long-term average growth rate 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25

Management has considered the sensitivity on goodwill, with the other assumptions remaining unaltered, from an increase in the discount rate and 
impairment would be required for goodwill in the Highways’ segment if the discount rate used was greater than 18% and greater than 19% in both 
the Regulated Industries and Government and Business Services segments.
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12 Other intangible assets
Group

2011

Assets in the 
course of 

construction  
£m

Customer 
relationships  

£m

Other 
acquired 

intangibles  
£m

Software  
£m

Other  
intangibles  

£m
Total  

£m

Cost

At 1 August 2010 1.4 47.6 1.3 41.9 4.2 96.4
Additions 2.1 – 0.1 0.3 – 2.5
Disposals (0.2) – – (0.1) – (0.3)
Transferred to fixed assets (0.1) – – – – (0.1)
Transferred to software (0.2) – – 0.2 – –
At 31 July 2011 3.0 47.6 1.4 42.3 4.2 98.5
Accumulated amortisation 

At 1 August 2010 – 17.5 0.6 14.6 3.6 36.3
Charge for the year – 6.0 0.2 5.1 0.4 11.7
Disposals – – – (0.1) – (0.1)
Transfers – – – – – –
At 31 July 2011 – 23.5 0.8 19.6 4.0 47.9
Net book value

At 31 July 2011 3.0 24.1 0.6 22.7 0.2 50.6

Group

2010

Assets in the 
course of 

construction  
£m

Customer 
relationships  

£m

Other 
acquired 

intangibles  
£m

Software  
£m

Other  
intangibles  

£m
Total  

£m

Cost

At 1 August 2009 13.7 47.6 1.0 18.7 4.2 85.2

Additions 7.1 – 0.3 1.4 – 8.8

Disposals – – – (0.1) – (0.1)

Transferred from fixed assets 2.5 – – – – 2.5

Transferred to software (21.9) – – 21.9 – –

At 31 July 2010 1.4 47.6 1.3 41.9 4.2 96.4

Accumulated amortisation 

At 1 August 2009 – 11.5 0.3 10.0 2.8 24.6

Charge for the year – 6.0 0.3 4.6 0.8 11.7

Disposals – – – (0.1) – (0.1)

Transferred – – – 0.1 – 0.1

At 31 July 2010 – 17.5 0.6 14.6 3.6 36.3

Net book value

At 31 July 2010 1.4 30.1 0.7 27.3 0.6 60.1

At 1 August 2009 13.7 36.1 0.7 8.7 1.4 60.6

Assets in the course of construction are not amortised, in accordance with note 1l of the Financial Statements. They include costs associated with 
replacing the Group’s management reporting systems. Assets in the course of construction and software are internally generated.

Customer relationships brought forward have a useful life of between four and twelve years. The approximate remaining lives of these relationships 
are between three and seven years. The values of these relationships were arrived at by discounting attributable future cash flows. A discount rate of 
between 10% and 13% was used as appropriate, based on the weighted average cost of capital of the acquired entity. A customer attrition rate of 
between 7% and 15% was assumed.

Other acquired intangibles represent capitalised bid costs incurred in connection with successful bids for new business and are written off 
straight-line over the life of the contract concerned. 

Software costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of between three and eight years. All amortisation charges in the year have been charged 
through administrative expenses. Additions relating to the Group’s corporate information systems include £nil of interest capitalised (2010: £0.2m). 



76 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011

noteS to tHe FinAnCiAL StAteMentS     
For the year ended 31 July 2011  

 
continued

12 Other intangible assets (continued)
Other intangibles comprise non-compete agreements, specialist software acquired and a licence for the Contractors Assurance Case (CAC) which 
enables the groupto work on UK railways. The software was valued on a replacement cost basis and is amortised over five years. The values of the 
non-compete agreements were calculated using discounted cash flows on two base cases; one assuming employees did compete and 
comparing that with the values obtained if employees did not compete. Their useful lives are between two and three years; the same time span as 
the non-compete agreement is enforceable for. The CAC was originally valued on a replacement case basis. 

No intangible assets are pledged as security for liabilities (2010: nil).

13 Property, plant and equipment
Group

2011

Leasehold  
improvements  

£m

Plant and 
office 

equipment  
£m

Vehicles  
£m

Total  
£m

Cost 

At 1 August 2010 3.8 46.6 0.3 50.7
Additions 0.7 1.0 0.2 1.9
Disposals (0.4) (0.6) – (1.0)
Transfers within property, plant and equipment 1.0 (1.0) – –
Transfers from other intangible assets – 0.1 – 0.1
At 31 July 2011 5.1 46.1 0.5 51.7
Accumulated depreciation

At 1 August 2010 2.4 31.3 0.1 33.8
Disposals (0.3) (0.6) – (0.9)
Charge for the year 0.7 4.8 0.2 5.7
Transfers within property, plant and equipment 0.3 (0.3) – –
At 31 July 2011 3.1 35.2 0.3 38.6
Net book value

At 31 July 2011 2.0 10.9 0.2 13.1
At 31 July 2010 1.4 15.3 0.2 16.9

The net book value of assets held under finance leases was £nil (2010: £0.1m). Depreciation in the year on those assets was £0.1m (2010: £0.1m). 
All assets held under finance leases were categorised as plant and office equipment. 

No property, plant and equipment assets are pledged as security for liabilities (2010: nil)
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13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Group

2010

Leasehold  
improvements  

£m

Plant and 
office 

equipment  
£m

Vehicles  
£m

Total  
£m

Cost 

At 1 August 2009 5.0 51.0 0.1 56.1

Foreign exchange translation difference – 0.2 – 0.2

5.0 51.2 0.1 56.3

Additions 0.2 1.7 0.2 2.1

Disposals (1.2) (3.9) (0.1) (5.2)

Transferred to other intangible assets (0.2) (2.4) 0.1 (2.5)

At 31 July 2010 3.8 46.6 0.3 50.7

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 August 2009 2.8 28.5 0.1 31.4

Foreign exchange translation difference – 0.1 – 0.1

2.8 28.6 0.1 31.5

Disposals (1.1) (3.0) (0.1) (4.2)

Charge for the year 0.7 5.7 0.1 6.5

At 31 July 2010 2.4 31.3 0.1 33.8

Net book value

At 31 July 2010 1.4 15.3 0.2 16.9

At 31 July 2009 2.2 22.5 – 24.7

14 Investments in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiary undertakings

2011
Company  

£m

Cost

At 1 August 2010 333.6
Capital contributions 0.7
At 31 July 2011 334.3
Impairment

At 1 August 2010 75.2
Impairment in year 200.0
At 31 July 2011 275.2
Net book value

At 31 July 2011 59.1

2010
Company  

£m

Cost

At 1 August 2009 323.8

Additions 9.5

Capital contributions 0.3

At 31 July 2010 333.6

Impairment

At 1 August 2009 –

Impairment in year 75.2

At 31 July 2010 75.2

Net book value

At 31 July 2010 258.4
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14 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
In 2011 the Board concluded that as a result of further losses in the year and a substantial reduction in the Group’s share price that the carrying 
value of its Investment in its intermediary holding company, Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited, required impairment to the value of 
£200m. The investments were valued at their recoverable amount based on fair value using the last quarter’s average share price as a guide. 

In 2010 the Company subscribed for 1,050,000 additional £1 ordinary shares in its subsidiary Mouchel Insurance Limited, together with an 
increased investment of £8.4m in Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited.

In 2010 the Board concluded that the carrying value of Investments in Subsidiaries held in the books of Mouchel Group plc required impairment to 
the value of £75m in Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited and £0.2m in Mouchel International Limited. The investments were valued at 
their recoverable amount based on fair value less costs to sell using 2010 bid valuations as a guide. The need to impair the investments arose as a 
result of two years of disappointing results; exceptional charges booked arising from the restructuring exercise and amortisation of intangible 
assets and future forecast showing a challenging business environment.

Impairments booked in the Company do not impact the group results, but may decrease the reserves available for distribution to the Company 
shareholders under the Companies Act 2006 depending on the level of non-distributable reserves available.

Capital contributions were made to trading subsidiaries in respect of share based payments granted to employees of those subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries in which the Company had an interest at 31 July 2011, their country of incorporation and registration as well as ownership 
of their ordinary share capital, are listed below:

Company

Group
proportion of 

shares held (%)
Country of registration/ 

incorporation

Mouchel Limited1 100 England and Wales

Mouchel Rail Limited1 100 England and Wales

Mouchel Holdings Limited1,2 100 England and Wales

Parkman Consultants Limited1 100 England and Wales

Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited 100 England and Wales

Mouchel Finance Limited1 100 England and Wales

Mouchel Dormant Holdings Limited 100 England and Wales

Mouchel Ireland Limited1 100 Republic of Ireland

Mouchel Insurance Limited 100 Guernsey

Mouchel International (Jersey) Limited1 100 Jersey

Mouchel International Limited 100 Hong Kong

Mouchel Business Services Limited1 100 England and Wales

Mouchel Management Consulting Limited1 100 England and Wales
1 Held indirectly.
2  15.8% held directly.

All companies have a 31 July year-end. 

All the trading subsidiaries have the same principal activity as the Group except for Mouchel Holdings Limited and Mouchel Dormant Holdings 
Limited which are holding companies, Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited and Mouchel Finance Limited which are internal financing 
companies and Mouchel Insurance Limited which is a captive insurance company. 

All subsidiaries are included within the consolidated results of the Group.
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14 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
Joint ventures
The Group has interests in the following joint ventures:

Incorporated joint ventures:

Name
Country of registration/ 

incorporation
Equity proportion of joint 

interest held % Voting rights 

2020 Liverpool Limited1 England and Wales 80.1 50

2020 Knowsley Limited England and Wales 64.2 25

EnterpriseMouchel Limited England and Wales 50 50

Hackney Schools for the Future Limited England and Wales 40 40

Mouchel Babcock Education Services Limited England and Wales 50 50

Mouchel Babcock Education Investments Limited England and Wales 50 50

Mouchel South Africa (PTY) Limited South Africa 49 49

National Traffic Information Services Limited England and Wales 50 50

The Impact Partnership Limited (Rochdale Borough) Limited England and Wales 80.1 50

The Unity Partnership Limited England and Wales 67 67
1  the Group is only entitled to 50% of profits on distribution

Unincorporated joint ventures:

Name Country of operation
Proportion of joint interest 

held % Voting rights 

Downermouchel Australia 40 50

Holleran Mouchel (HM) Great Britain 50 50

Scotland Transerv Great Britain 30 50

Mouchel Fairhurst Great Britain 50 50

Rail Structures Midlands Great Britain 50 50

Southern Assessment Contract Great Britain 40 33

Westminster TranServ Great Britain 20 50

KMI+ Great Britain 7.5 25

Amey Mouchel Great Britain 25 50

Children First Great Britain 70 50

PeekMouchel Great Britain 50 50

WHIMS Great Britain 60 60

Both incorporated and unincorporated joint ventures are accounted for in accordance with the policy detailed in note 1e. 2020 Liverpool Limited, 
2020 Knowsley Limited, Hackney Schools for the Future Limited, Mouchel Babcock Education Services Limited, Mouchel Babcock Education 
Investments Limited,The Impact Partnership (Rochdale Borough) Limited and The Unity Partnership Limited have a 31 March year-end. Where joint 
venture entities do not have a 31 July year-end, management accounts for the period from 1 August to 31 July are used for consolidation purposes.

In relation to the Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities, the assets, liabilities, income and expenses recognised are shown below: 

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Non-current assets 4.4 4.2

Current assets 43.4 39.5

Current liabilities (40.8) (35.8)

Non-current liabilities (0.6) (0.7)

Net assets 6.4 7.2

Revenue 163.8 163.7

Expenses (159.2) (160.9)

Profit before tax 4.6 2.8

Taxation (1.3) (0.8)

Share of post-taxation results from jointly controlled entities 3.3 2.0
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15 Capital commitments
Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure 0.2 1.1

Company
The Company was not committed to any material capital expenditure as at 31 July 2011 or 31 July 2010.

16 Deferred tax
Group

2011

Share-
based 

payments 
£m

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£m

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 
£m

Losses and 
provisions 

£m
Total  

£m

Deferred tax assets

At 1 August 2010 2.4 6.6 14.8 2.7 26.5
Effect of reduction in future tax rate to 25% (0.2) (0.5) (1.0) (0.2) (1.9)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances – 0.1 – – 0.1
Actuarial gain on pension scheme valuations – – (2.6) – (2.6)
Timing differences on exceptional items – – – (0.6) (0.6)
Special contributions to retirement benefit schemes – – (2.4) – (2.4)
On curtailment of the Teesside Pension Scheme deficit – – (0.5) – (0.5)
Recovered from carry back of share-based payment charges to prior years (1.2) – – – (1.2)
Losses utilised in year (0.3) – – (1.4) (1.7)
Losses carried forward – – – 5.5 5.5
Deferred tax brought forward considered irrecoverable – (6.2) – (0.7) (6.9)
At 31 July 2011 0.7 – 8.3 5.3 14.3

Intangible 
assets  

£m
ESOP  

£m
Total  

£m

Deferred tax liabilities 

At 1 August 2010 (8.2) (0.1) (8.3)
Effect of reduction in future tax rate to 25% 0.6 – 0.6
Amortisation of intangible assets 1.6 – 1.6
At 31 July 2011 (6.0) (0.1) (6.1)
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16 Deferred tax (continued)

Group

2010

Share-
based 

payments 
£m

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£m

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 
£m

Losses and 
provisions 

£m
Total  

£m

Deferred tax assets

At 1 August 2009 3.6 – 16.5 8.7 28.8

Effect of reduction in future tax rate to 27% (0.3) – (0.6) (0.3) (1.2)

Depreciation in excess of capital allowances – 6.7 – – 6.7

Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations – – 0.2 – 0.2

Timing differences on exceptional items – – – 0.9 0.9

Special contributions to retirement benefit schemes – – (2.6) – (2.6)

Share-based payments (0.2) – – – (0.2)

Losses utilised in year – – – (6.4) (6.4)

Losses carried forward – – – 0.3 0.3

Reclassification (0.7) (0.1) 1.3 (0.5) –

At 31 July 2010 2.4 6.6 14.8 2.7 26.5

Intangible 
assets  

£m

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£m

ESOP  
£m

Freehold 
property 

£m
Total  

£m

Deferred tax liabilities 

At 1 August 2009 (10.5) (1.1) (0.1) (0.6) (12.3)

Effect of reduction in future tax rate to 27% 0.5 – – – 0.5

Amortisation of intangible assets 1.8 – – – 1.8

Depreciation in excess of capital allowances – 1.1 – – 1.1

Unwind of deferred tax liability – – – 0.6 0.6

At 31 July 2010 (8.2) – (0.1) – (8.3)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised as the Directors believe that there will be sufficient future profits within the relevant subsidiary accounts 
for the asset to be recovered.

Management estimate that £3.9m (2010: £7.6m) of the Group’s deferred tax asset and £1.6m (2010: £2.1m) of the Group’s deferred tax liability will 
unwind within one year with the remainder unwinding in more than one year. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets in relation to trading losses total £20.2m (2010: £19.4m). In addition there are unrecognised deferred tax assets 
in respect of non-trading losses and capital allowances of £27.1m (2010: £3.6m). These unrecognised deferred tax assets have no expiry date. 
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16 Deferred tax (continued)
The company had no deferred tax assets or liabilities at 31 July 2011. 

Company

2010

Share-based 
payments 

£m

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£m

Total  
£m

Deferred tax assets

At 1 August 2009 – 0.1 0.1

Depreciation in excess of capital allowances – (0.1) (0.1)

At 31 July 2010 – – –

Freehold 
property 

£m
Total  

£m

Deferred tax liabilities 

At 1 August 2009 (0.6) (0.6)

Unwind of deferred tax liability 0.6 0.6

At 31 July 2010 – –

17 Trade and other receivables
Group 

Gross  
2011  

£m

Impairment 
provision  

2011  
£m

Net  
2011  

£m

Gross  
2010  

£m

Impairment 
provision  

2010  
£m

Net  
2010  

£m

Trade receivables 77.6 (10.5) 67.1 74.4 (8.0) 66.4

Unbilled revenue 63.8 (30.0) 33.8 76.2 (26.0) 50.2

Other receivables 10.5 – 10.5 8.5 – 8.5

Prepayments and accrued income 9.4 – 9.4 16.0 – 16.0

161.3 (40.5) 120.8 175.1 (34.0) 141.1

Included within gross trade receivables and unbilled revenue is 72.5m AED (£12.0m) owed by the Department of Municipal Affairs in Abu Dhabi.As 
detailed in note 3, this debt has been discounted to recognise that the monies are not expected to be received until the next calendar year. There 
can be no certainty to this.

Company

Net  
2011  

£m

Net  
2010  

£m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 59.0 58.2

Intercompany loan note (note 21) 31.8 –

90.8 58.2

The Company receivables had £nil provisions for impairment in both the current and prior years.

As at 31 July 2011, trade receivables net of provisions of £18.6m (2010: £32.5m) were past due but not impaired. The ageing analysis of these trade 
receivables is as follows:

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Up to three months 5.3 10.2

Over three months 13.3 22.3

18.6 32.5

Included within trade receivables is £nil (2010: £0.2m) which is due after more than one year.
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17 Trade and other receivables (continued)
As at 31 July 2011 trade receivables and unbilled revenue of £40.5m (2010: £34.0m) have been impaired so as to reduce the value of contract 
receivables to the amounts the Group believes it should be able to collect. This includes the impairment charge of £nil (2010: £10.0m) made against 
receivables in Dubai, as explained in note 3, plus a decrease of £1.2m (2010: increase £1.2m) resulting from foreign exchange retranslation. The 
ageing of these receivables is as follows:

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Up to three months – –

Over three months 40.5 34.0

40.5 34.0

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables and unbilled revenue are as follows:

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

At 1 August 34.0 20.0

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (1.3) (1.4)

Provision released during the year (1.1) (0.6)

New impairment provisions made 10.1 14.8

Foreign exchange retranslation difference (1.2) 1.2

At 31 July 40.5 34.0

No amounts of collateral are held as security.

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in administrative expenses in the Income Statement. 
Amounts charged to the provisions account are generally written off when there is no expectation of cash recovery.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

18 Bank overdrafts 
The Group has an unsecured overdraft facility of up to £5.0m (2010: £5.0m) and overseas facilities of AED 1.5m (2010: AED 1.5m). Within the 
Group’s joint ventures there is also an unsecured overdraft facility of £0.5m (2010: £0.5m). At 31 July 2011 the amount drawn against these facilities 
was £nil (2010: £nil). 

19 Trade and other payables – current
Group Company

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Trade payables 21.9 34.2 – –

Amounts owed to Group undertakings – – 8.2 7.1

Intercompany loan notes (note 21) – – 52.9 –

Tax and social security payable 13.5 14.8 – –

Finance lease liability – 0.1 – –

Other payables 14.7 8.9 – –

Accruals 44.9 36.6 – –

Deferred income and customer advances 29.6 23.9 – –

124.6 118.5 61.1 7.1

The figure for trade payables as previously reported for 31 July 2010 was £47.7m which included £13.5m in respect of customer advances. This has 
now been reclassified to deferred income to reflect the more appropriate treatment and for consistency with the 31 July 2011 classification. 
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20 Borrowings
At 31 July 2010, the Group had credit facilities totalling £180.0m with the Royal Bank of Scotland, Lloyds TSB and Barclays. Of the £180.0m, 
£115.0m was in the form of revolving credit facilities, which were to reduce by £10.0m in March 2011 and 2012, with the remaining balances of 
£30.0m expiring on 1 August 2012, and £65.0m expiring on 31 October 2012. The balance of £65.0m was in the form of a term loan which also 
fell due for repayment on 31 October 2012.

Also drawn against the facility were bonds and guarantees as detailed in note 34.Interest under this facility was charged at LIBOR plus a margin. 
The margin ranged from 0.65% to 3.65% adjusted according to the ratio of net borrowings to earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and 
amortisation.

On 26 January 2011 the Group signed new medium-term banking facilities with its existing relationship banks. The key terms of the new facilities 
were: total facilities of £170.0m extending to 31 March 2014; interest above LIBOR on the facility of 3.1% – 4.0% dependent on ratios; two 
repayments each of £7.5m on 31 July 2012 and 31 July 2013; in the event that an additional voluntary repayment of £30.0m had not been made 
before 31 May 2012, an increase in margin of 2% and the issue of warrants at that time over 5% of the issued share capital of the Company at an 
issue price of the lower of 75p per share and 80% of the share price at that time; and a restriction on resuming dividend payments until the 
voluntary repayment of £30.0m had been made.

The financial covenants applying to this facility and as defined therein were: the ratio of net debt (including bonds) to EBITDA; the ratio of EBITDA 
to net interest payable; and debt service coverage (the ratio of free cash flow to interest and principal repayments). Covenants were tested on a 
quarterly basis.

The first two of these covenants would have been breached on the announcement of our results for the year ended 31 July 2011. However due to 
the amendments to the Group’s principal borrowing facilities referred to below, such breach has been avoided and no event of default has 
occurred. Consequently the amounts drawn down at 31 July 2011 totalling £135.0m are disclosed as due within one year. Also drawn against the 
facility are bonds and guarantees of £15.2m which are included in contingent liabilities in note 34.

On 29 November 2011, the Company agreed amendments to the terms of its principal banking facilities which now expire on 31 March 2014. 
The purpose of the amendments is to avoid a breach of the banking facilities which would otherwise have occurred upon publication of the 2011 
Accounts, to provide for a £16m increase in the facilities available to £180m and to amend covenants with a view to avoiding future financial 
covenant breaches which would otherwise be expected to arise prior to April 2013. The amended credit facilities comprise:

•	£129.0m term loan

•	a £35.0m revolving credit facility

•	an additional £16.0m revolving credit facility (the “Top-up facility” in place until 28 February 2013)

Pursuant to the amendments, the Company has agreed to pay an amendment fee of £2.25m on the earlier of 31 January 2013, and the date of 
a relevant restructuring, to issue warrants over 5% of the existing issued share capital of the Company at a subscription price of 0.25p per share, 
subject to standard anti-dilution provisions, which replace the existing contingent obligation to provide warrants to the lenders, and to pay an 
additional fee – the equity tracker fee – which is payable upon a change of control and that is the economic equivalent of 5% of the enlarged 
issued share capital of the Company.

As explained in the Chairman’s statement it is intended that a restructuring of the Group’s balance sheet would take place prior to the end of the 
current financial year in the interests of the Group and its stakeholders.This restructuring may include the injection of additional equity capital or a 
change of control (the “Restructuring”). If the Restructuring is achieved by 31 July 2012 then depending on the timing of the Restructuring, either 
no restructuring fee would be payable or a fee of between £1.5m and £3.0m would be payable. In the event that a Restructuring is not achieved by 
31 July 2012, an amendment fee of £8.0m would be payable. Such additional amendment fees shall be payable on the earlier of 31 January 2013 
or the date of the relevant Restructuring. Pending the repayment of the Group’s borrowing facilities in full, the restriction on dividend payments will 
remain in place.

The interest margin on the term loan will remain unchanged at 3.85%.The interest margin on the revolving credit facilities will be 6.5% apart from 
the margin on the Top-up facility which shall be at 10%. The provision that there will be an increase in the interest margin of 2% if an additional 
voluntary repayment of £30.0m has not been made by 31 May 2012 has been removed. Furthermore, the obligatory repayment of £7.5m due in 
31 July 2012 has been extended to 28 February 2013 when the Top-up facility shall also be repayable.

The Board believes that the facility amendments demonstrate the support of the Banks.The facilities have been constructed to provide the Board 
with time to right-size the Group balance sheet while providing economic incentives to achieve this right-sizing at the earliest practical opportunity.
The amendments provide the Company with critical time to identify and implement value creation initiatives to enhance value. While the Top-up 
facility is relatively expensive, the Group intends to use it sparingly, if at all but it provides the Group with critical working capital headroom.

The financial covenants applying to the new facility is a test of EBITDA on a quarterly basis until 31 January 2013. Thereafter the covenants revert 
to those in the facility signed on 26 January 2011.
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20 Borrowings (continued)
Loans are repayable as follows:

Group

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Obligations due within one year 135.1 0.7

Obligations due within one and two years – 0.1

Obligations due within two and five years – 128.7

Total loans due 135.1 129.5

Loan issue costs incurred (4.3) (4.5)

Amortisation of loan issue costs 4.3 1.7

Total borrowings 135.1 126.7

(Less)/add: Non bank borrowings and issue costs (0.1) 2.0

Deduct: cash and cash equivalents (note 32) (47.3) (45.4)

Net bank borrowings 87.7 83.3

At 31 July 2010, there were unamortised arrangement fees from the previous facilities of £2.8m of which £0.6m was amortised during the period to 
31 July 2011, as disclosed in note 5, with the balance of £2.2m being charged as an exceptional item, as disclosed in note 3.

Loan issue costs of £4.3m associated with the new banking facility were capitalised and were being amortised over the life of the loan. The resulting 
amortisation charge of £0.7m was included in finance costs (note 5). As a result of the requirement to disclose the Group’s banking facilities as due 
within one year, the amortisation charge was accelerated and £3.6m was included in exceptional finance costs (note 3). 

The Group has entered into agreements to partially hedge against the interest rate risk on the revolving credit facility above. The fixed interest rate 
hedges vary from 3.22% to 5.33% against the floating LIBOR rate. The expiry date of these hedges is between 17 December 2011 and 31 March 
2014.At 31 July 2011, the total fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges was a liability of £6.4m (2010: liability of £7.7m).The whole 
movement in the fair value is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity as the hedges are considered highly effective.

At 31 July 2010, there were two secured loans totalling £0.8m which were payable in instalments. The first loan on which interest was charged at 
6.84% was repaid in December 2010 and the second loan on which interest is charged at 7.44% finishes in October 2011. The balance outstanding 
at 31 July 2011 on the second loan is £0.1m.

21 Loan notes
Company

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Intercompany loan notes owed by Group undertakings 31.8 31.8

Intercompany loan notes owed to Group undertakings (52.9) (51.9)

The loan notes held as at 31 July 2010 arose on the Group restructuring that took place with effect from 1 August 2006. These loan notes, both 
payable and receivable, have a five year term and attract interest at a fixed rate of 6% per annum.

During the year, a new loan note for £1m, due from the company, was issued between the company and a subsidiary, Mouchel Finance Limited, as 
part of the Group’s treasury management process. This loan attracts interest at 2% above the 3 month Sterling LIBOR rate and is repayable on 
demand and no later than 23 November 2011, whichever is earlier.

For the year ended 31 July 2011, all the loan notes are classified as due within one year. For the year ended 31 July 2010, the loans are classified as 
due after more than one year. 
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22 Financial Risk Management including details of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The Group is exposed to risks arising from variations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit and liquidity. Those risks relating to foreign 
exchange and credit, given the nature of the customers, are relatively low with the provisions, recorded in note 17, mainly arising from specific 
customers in Dubai from previous years and amounts being disputed by the customers. The risk relating to liquidity is dependent upon the Group 
performing within its banking covenants and banking facilities as set out in note 20. The risks relating to variations in interest rates arise from 
long-term pounds sterling borrowings at variable rates. Group policy is to hedge a proportion of the drawn revolving credit facility. The Group has 
not undertaken hedging or complex financial instruments to mitigate risk other than interest rate risk. 

The financial instruments of the Group comprise bank loan facilities, internal cash resources and trade receivables and payables arising from 
trading activities. The Group’s policy is to manage the financial instruments centrally to provide both the working capital and the investment funds 
necessary for ongoing operations and future development. 

The financial instruments of the Company comprise fixed term inter company loan notes owed to and by other group companies. These are 
denominated in sterling and have a fixed interest rate (note 21). These are classified as loans and receivables. Additionally in the Company has 
financial instruments in the form of trading balances both payable and receivable with other group companies (note 36). These are classified as 
assets and liabilities at amortised cost. 

The majority of UK projects and contracts are in pounds sterling, and otherwise are in the currencies in which the majority of the costs are 
denominated. The Group’s principal overseas subsidiaries have arranged working capital facilities in their local currency and it is unusual for them 
to contract in currencies other than their own functional currency. Consideration is given to hedging against possible currency movements where 
considered appropriate. It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivatives.

In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments, Recognition and Measurement, the Group has reviewed all contracts for embedded derivatives 
that are required to be separately accounted for. None were identified as part of the review.

Classification of financial instruments
Group

At 31 July 2011

Loans and 
receivables 

£m

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging  

£m

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost  
£m

Total  
£m

Financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 100.9 – – 100.9
Cash and cash equivalents 47.3 – – 47.3

148.2 – – 148.2

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables – – 95.0 95.0
Bank borrowings 135.0 – – 135.0
Other loans 0.1 – – 0.1
Cash flow hedges – 6.4 – 6.4
Obligations under finance leases – – – –

135.1 6.4 95.0 236.5
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22 Financial Risk Management including details of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
Classification of financial instruments (continued)

At 31 July 2010

Loans and 
receivables 

£m

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging  

£m

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost  
£m

Total  
£m

Financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 116.6 – – 116.6

Cash and cash equivalents 45.4 – – 45.4

162.0 – – 162.0

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables – – 94.6 94.6

Bank borrowings 128.7 – – 128.7

Other loans 0.8 – – 0.8

Cash flow hedges – 7.7 – 7.7

Obligations under finance leases – – 0.1 0.1

129.5 7.7 94.7 231.9

The fair value of current borrowings equates to their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. Cash flow hedges are 
recognised in accordance with the provisions governing fair value hedge accounting; that is at amortised cost less the fair value of the hedged 
interest rate risk. Their fair values are determined using valuation techniques which use data from observable markets, and assumptions are based 
on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest 
rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this, the Group enters into interest rate 
swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by 
reference to an agreed upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated as a cash flow hedge to hedge underlying debt obligations. 
The Group’s policy is to hedge approximately 50% of floating rate borrowings.

The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 July shows payable amounts as follows:

At 31 July 2011

Within  
1 year  

£m

Between  
1-2 years  

£m

Between  
2-3 years  

£m

Between  
3-4 years  

£m
Total  

£m

Fixed rate:

 Other loans (0.1) – – – (0.1)
Floating rate:

 Bank borrowings (135.0) – – – (135.0)
 Cash in hand 47.3 – – – 47.3
 Cash flow hedges (interest rate swaps) (0.6) (4.2) (1.6) – (6.4)

At 31 July 2010

Within  
1 year  

£m

Between  
1-2 years  

£m

Between  
2-3 years  

£m

Between  
3-4 years  

£m
Total  

£m

Fixed rate:

 Other loans (0.7) (0.1) – – (0.8)

Obligations under finance leases (0.1) – – – (0.1)

Floating rate:

Bank borrowings – – (128.7) – (128.7)

 Cash in hand 45.4 – – – 45.4

 Cash flow hedges (interest rate swaps) (0.5) (1.5) (5.7) – (7.7)
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22 Financial Risk Management including details of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax 
and equity (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). 

Increase/
decrease in 
basis points

Effect  
on profit 

before tax £m
Effect on 

equity £m

2011 -/+ 0.25 -/+0.3m -/+0.5m
2010 -/+ 0.25 -/+ 0.3m -/+0.5m

Foreign exchange risk
The Group has operations where transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. In these operations, the working capital facilities are 
maintained in local currency with funds being remitted back to the UK to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk. The Group does not hedge 
against foreign currency exchange risk as balances in foreign currency are not significant to the Group. The extent of foreign currency exposure is 
monitored on an ongoing basis. All bonds and guarantees are funded out of the UK. 

At 31 July 2011, if the Euro had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the UK pound with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the 
year would have been £0.01m (2010: £0.02m) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of UK pound-
denominated trade receivables. Between 31 July 2010 and 31 July 2011 the Euro strengthened against the UK pound by 5%. 

At 31 July 2011, if the UAE dirham had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the UK pound with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for 
the year would have been £0.1m (2010: £0.1m) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of UK pound-
denominated trade receivables. Between 31 July 2010 and 31 July 2011 the UAE dirham weakened against the UK pound by 5%.

Credit risk 
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and unbilled revenue. The Group does not hold any 
collateral as security. The Group manages these risks through a number of measures. Counterparty risk on cash deposits is managed by adhering 
to the guidelines set by the Board. Currently the limits are that up to £5.0m of cash can be deposited with any one UK counterparty. 

Trade receivables and unbilled revenue are managed through set-up and authorisation policies for new customers. It is the Group’s policy that all 
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. An assessment of credit quality of the customer is made 
as appropriate taking into account their financial position, past experience, external agency ratings and other factors. Where possible, the risk is 
mitigated by use of advanced payments. Group policy is not to apply individual credit limits to trade and other receivables, although total exposure 
and payment performance are monitored monthly both at individual project and client level. The Group has a wide range of customers and in the 
view of management, excluding the Middle East as discussed in note 3 and note 17, there are no concentrations of credit risk that cause concern.

Counterparty

31 July  
2011  

Balance  
£m

31 July  
2010  

Balance  
£m

Local government 38.1 49.2

Central government 21.8 20.5

Regulated industries 15.1 14.4

Private sector companies 66.4 66.5

141.4 150.6

The table below shows the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balances at the year-end date classified according to the banks credit rating.

Rating
2011  

£m
2010  

£m

AA 4.8 1.0

AA- 1.6 1.4

A+ 40.7 32.1

A – 0.1

A- – 10.8

BBB+ 0.2 –

Cash and cash equivalents 47.3 45.4
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22 Financial Risk Management including details of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
Liquidity risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under 
committed credit lines. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (which comprises undrawn borrowing facility and cash and cash 
equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flow. In addition, the Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows and 
considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these and monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external 
regulatory requirements.

Details of the Group’s credit facilities and the amendments on 29 November 2011 to avoid a breach of the banking covenants are disclosed in 
note 20.

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities. Figures shown are undiscounted.

2011

On demand 
or within 

1 year 
£m

Between 
1-2 years 

£m

Between 
2-5 years 

£m

Over 
5 years 

£m

Finance leases – – – –
Trade and other payables 95.0 – – –
Bank borrowings and other loans 135.1 – – –

2010

On demand 
or within 

1 year 
£m

Between 
1-2 years 

£m

Between 
2-5 years 

£m

Over 
5 years 

£m

Finance leases 0.1 – – –

Trade and other payables 94.7 – – –

Bank borrowings and other loans 0.7 0.1 128.7 –

Price risk
The Group does not hold any equity securities that are available for sale and does not have any exposure to commodity price risk. 

Capital management
The Group funds its business through a mix of debt and shareholders’ equity. The Group’s capital employed was financed as follows:-

2011  
£m

2010  
£m

Current and non-current borrowings 135.1 126.7

Less cash and cash equivalents (47.3) (45.4)

Net debt 87.8 81.3

Shareholders’ equity (14.3) 44.0

Total Capital Employed 73.5 125.3

The Group manages its capital structure to reduce its cost of capital, ensure that it remains a going concern and provide returns for shareholders 
through providing benefits for other stakeholders. Adjustments are made through the loan facilities but also through issuing or buying back shares. 
In common with most other companies the level of debt that the Group can borrow is limited by the Company’s Articles of Association. Based on 
negative capital and reserves as at 31 July 2011 of £14.3m and a retirement benefit scheme deficit of £32.8m the limit of net debt was £55.5m.

To overcome the breach in the Company’s Articles of Association, as disclosed in the Directors’ Report, the Company is proposing to amend the 
Articles such that the borrowings are permitted up to £225.0m. 

The Group’s banking facilities, as described more fully in note 20, include a number of financial and non financial covenants.Compliance with these 
covenants is closely monitored.
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23 Lease obligations
Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments

Group

2011 2010

Property 
£m

Vehicles, 
plant and 

equipment 
£m

Property 
£m

Vehicles, 
plant and 

equipment 
£m

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases payable:

Within one year 8.4 4.5 9.3 6.7

Later than one year and within five years 17.3 5.5 19.2 9.5

After five years 3.4 0.3 6.9 0.4

29.1 10.3 35.4 16.6

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and 
renewal rights. The Group also leases vehicles, plant and machinery under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.

The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 31 July 2011 (2010: none).

At 31 July the Group had the following amounts receivable in respect of subleases on the above:

Group

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

Leases which expire:

Within one year 0.1 0.1

24 Non-current liabilities – trade and other payables
Group Company

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

Other payables and deferred income 0.1 0.2 – –
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25 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group

Restructuring 
provisions 

£m

Insurance/ 
Claims 

provisions 2  
£m

Dilapidation 
provisions 3 

£m

Onerous 
contracts 4 

£m
Total 

£m

Current 0.8 – 0.9 1.6 3.3
Between one and two years – – 0.4 0.1 0.5
Between two and five years – 1.9 0.7 – 2.6
Over five years – – 1.1 – 1.1
Non-current – 1.9 2.2 0.1 4.2
At 31 July 2011 0.8 1.9 3.1 1.7 7.5

Group

Restructuring 
provisions1 

£m

Insurance/ 
Claims 

provisions 2  
£m

Dilapidation 
provisions 3 

£m

Onerous 
contracts 4 

£m
Total 

£m

Current 17.3 – 0.9 2.7 20.9

Between one and two years – – 0.7 2.0 2.7

Between two and five years – 3.6 0.5 0.1 4.2

Over five years – – 1.2 – 1.2

Non-current – 3.6 2.4 2.1 8.1

At 31 July 2010 17.3 3.6 3.3 4.8 29.0

Group

Restructuring 
provisions1 

£m

Insurance/ 
Claims 

provisions 2  
£m

Dilapidation 
provisions 3 

£m

Onerous 
contracts 4 

£m
Total 

£m

At 1 August 17.3 3.6 3.3 4.8 29.0
Amounts provided for during the year 0.9 0.8 0.9 – 2.6
Amounts released to the income statement – (0.1) (0.7) – (0.8)
Amounts utilised during the year (17.4) (2.4) (0.4) (3.1) (23.3)
At 31 July 2011 0.8 1.9 3.1 1.7 7.5

1  Restructuring provisions principally relate to redundancy costs expected to be incurred at the balance sheet date as a result of communicated and committed 
restructuring plans. The majority of these provisions will unwind within one year. No reimbursement is expected for these provisions

2  Insurance/claims provisions reflect management’s view of the likely outcome of insurance and other legal claims made against the group in connection with operational 
activities. These provisions are held until utilised, by the settlement of a claim, or until such time as the claim is considered unlikely. Due to the very nature of these 
provisions it is uncertain when they may unwind as individual cases progress at unpredictable rates. Based on historic trends and given the nature of the items being 
provided against it is management’s judgment that they will largely settle within 2 to 5 years of the year end. No reimbursement is expected for these provisions

3  Dilapidation provisions relate to the expected costs of meeting dilapidation/reinstatement requirements for properties leased by the group when they are exited and these 
are provided for over the term of the lease. The lease expiry dates range between one and 10 years.No reimbursement is expected for these provisions

4  Onerous contract provisions relate principally to property lease contracts where the ongoing level of unavoidable costs is not expected to be fully recovered by the 
economic benefits expected to be derived from using those properties. The expectation is that this expenditure will be incurred over the remaining periods of the leases 
which range up to 2 years. No reimbursement is expected for these provisions
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26 Share capital
Group and Company

Number of 
shares

2011 
£m

Number of 
shares

2010 
£m

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 0.25p 158,682,800 0.4 158,682,800 0.4

Allotted, called-up and fully paid

Ordinary shares of 0.25p each at 1 August 112,369,719 0.3 112,369,719 0.3

Allotted under share option schemes – – – –

At 31 July 112,369,719 0.3 112,369,719 0.3

During the year the Company received £nil (2010: £nil) from shares allotted under share option schemes. 

27 Share premium
Group and Company

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

Balance at 1 August and 31 July 27.9 27.9

28 Other reserves

Capital 
redemption 

reserve  
£m

Share-
based 

payments 
and ESOP 

reserve  
£m

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve  

£m

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve  

£m
Total  

£m

At 1 August 2010 18.9 0.1 (7.7) (0.4) 10.9
Reclassification to retained earnings1 – (0.5) – – (0.5)
Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges – – 2.2 – 2.2
Currency translation differences – – – (0.5) (0.5)
Sale of own shares by employee share trusts – – – – –
At 31 July 2011 18.9 (0.4) (5.5) (0.9) 12.1

Capital 
redemption 

reserve  
£m

Share-based 
payments 
and ESOP 

reserve  
£m

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve  

£m

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve  

£m
Total  

£m

At 1 August 2009 18.9 – (4.4) (1.4) 13.1

Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges – – (3.3) – (3.3)

Currency translation differences – – – 1.0 1.0

Sale of own shares by employee share trusts – 0.1 – – 0.1

At 31 July 2010 18.9 0.1 (7.7) (0.4) 10.9
1 Reclassification relates to part of the ESOP reserve which was previously included in retained earnings

The Company’s other reserves of £9.8m (2010: £9.8m) are comprised of capital redemption reserve.
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29 Share-based payments
a Overview of schemes
Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Option Schemes (AES and UES)
Details of the Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Option Schemes terms and conditions can be found on page 45 of the Remuneration 
Report. The Executive Share Option Scheme applies to senior executives, including Executive Directors. For options granted, the option price is not 
less than the market value of an ordinary share, or the nominal value if higher. A performance condition has to be met before options can be 
exercised. 

During the financial year ended 31 July 2011 2,294,171 options were granted (2010: none). The terms and conditions of these Executive Share 
Options can be found on page 45 of the Remuneration Report. For approved options granted between March 1997 and November 2003, options 
are exercisable on condition that the Company’s adjusted earnings per share (EPS) increases by RPI +6% over a three-year period. 
For unapproved options granted between March 1997 and November 2003, options are exercisable on condition that the Company’s adjusted 
EPS increases by RPI +12% over a three-year period.

Co-Investment Plan
Details of the Co-Investment Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 44 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2011, there were 
conditional rights over 158,196 (2010: 311,413) ordinary shares outstanding under the Co-Investment Plan. 

Performance Share Plan
Details of the Performance Share Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 44 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2011, conditional 
rights over 2,470,393 (2010: 3,391,956) ordinary shares were outstanding under the Performance Share Plan.

Restricted Share Plan
Details of the Restricted Share Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 45 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2011, there were 
noconditional rights (2010: 7,978) on ordinary shares outstanding under the two-year Restricted Share Plan and conditional rights over 376,337 
(2010: 58,539) ordinary shares were outstanding under the three-year Restricted Share Plan.

Sharesave scheme
The Sharesave scheme is a savings plan whereby employees contract to save a fixed amount each month with a savings institution over a 
three-year period. At the end of the savings term, the employees are given the option to purchase shares at a price set before savings began. The 
option must be exercised within six months of maturity of the savings contract, otherwise it lapses. Participants leaving for a qualifying reason have 
six months within which to exercise their option up to their savings amount. Options over 833,885 (2010: 2,313,001) ordinary shares were granted 
under this scheme during the year, of which 833,885 (2010: 2,307,718) remain at 31 July 2011.

b Annual bonus schemes
The fair value per option granted in the current and previous year, and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

Scheme 
Grant date

PSP 
Jul 11

RSP 
Jul 11

AES 
Jul 11

Share price at grant date (p) 59.75 59.75 59.75

Exercise price (p) – – 60.0

Number of employees remaining in schemes at 31 July 2011 1 15 95

Shares under option at 31 July 2011 (number) 200,000 376,337 2,294,171

Vesting period (years) 3.00 3.00 3.00

Expected volatility 86.4 n/a 56.2

Option life (years) 3.00 3.00 10.00

Expected life (years) 3.00 3.00 6.00

Risk-free rate (%) 1.24 n/a 2.39

Expected dividends expressed as dividend yield (%) – – –

Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%) n/a n/a n/a

Expectations of meeting performance criteria (%) 100 100 100

Fair value per option (p) 20.28 59.75 32.44

Expected volatility has been calculated over a period commensurate with the remainder of the performance period applying to the PSP awards as 
at the grant date.
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29 Share-based payments (continued)
b Annual bonus schemes (continued)

Scheme
Date of 

grant

Options 
as at beginning 

of year

Granted 
during 

year

Exercised 
during 

year

Lapsed 
during 

year

Options 
as at end 

of year
Option 

price (p) Exercisable between

AES 11.2003 42,289 – – (26,418) 15,871 214.50 26.11.2006-26.11.2013

UES 11.2003 21,315 – – (21,315) – 214.50 26.11.2006-26.11.2010

PSP 04.2006 1,432 – – (1,432) – – 26.04.2009-25.10.2009

CIP 11.2006 2,459 – – (2,459) – – 24.11.2009-23.05.2010

PSP 11.2006 11,312 – (10,641) (671) – – 24.11.2009-23.05.2010

CIP 11.2007 128,958 – – (128,958) – – 23.11.2010-23.05.2011

PSP 11.2007 371,739 – – (371,739) – – 23.11.2010-23.05.2011

RSP 05.2008 7,978 – (7,978) – – – 23.05.2010-23.11.2010

RSP 05.2008 58,539 – (7,382) (51,157) – – 23.05.2011-23.11.2011

CIP 11.2008 179,996 – – (21,800) 158,196 – 21.11.2011-21.05.2012

PSP 11.2008 492,169 – – (106,496) 385,673 – 21.11.2011-21.05.2012

PSP 11.2009 2,497,036 – – (630,584) 1,866,452 – 16.11.2012-16.05.2013

PSP 05.2010 18,268 – – – 18,268 – 05.05.2013-05.11.2013

PSP 07.2011 – 200,000 – – 200,000 – 07.07.2014-01.07.2014

RPS 07.2001 – 376,337 – – 376,337 – 01.07.2014-07.07.2014

AES 07.2011 – 2,294,171 – – 2,294,171 60.0 01.07.2014-07.07.2021

3,833,490 2,870,508 (26,001) (1,363,029) 5,314,968

The weighted average share price during the year was 101.83p (2010: 196.31p). The weighted average life of the outstanding options at 31 July 
2011 was 1,944 days (2010: 845 days).

c Sharesave schemes
The fair value of Sharesave options granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

Grant date Jun 10 Jun 11

Exercise from 01.08.13 01.08.14

Exercise to 31.01.14 31.01.15

Share price at grant date (p) 177.00 75.25

Exercise price (p) 158.00 77.00

Number of employees remaining in schemes at 31 July 2011 645 633

Shares under option at 31 July 2011 (number) 1,211,960 833,885

Vesting period (years) 3.00 3.00

Expected volatility 50.01 72.10

Option life (years) 3.50 3.50

Expected life (years) 3.25 3.25

Risk-free rate (%) 1.49 1.39

Expected dividends expressed as dividend yield (%) 3.45 0.00

Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%) 75 65

Expectations of meeting performance criteria (%) 100 100

Fair value per option (p) 43.50 18.8

Expected volatility has been calculated over a period commensurate with the remainder of the performance period applying to the Sharesave 
awards as at the grant date.
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29 Share-based payments (continued)
d Share option movements
Awards outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

2011 2010

Range of exercise prices (p)

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (p)

Number of 
shares

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life: 

expected 
and 

contractual 
(days)

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (p)

Number of 
shares

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life: 

expected 
and 

contractual 
(days)

0 – 100 32.91 6,132,982 2,330.21 – 3,769,886 831.21

101 – 200 158.00 1,211,960 403.74 158.00 2,307,718 768.05

201 – 300 259.41 462,931 91.99 257.74 908,542 214.98

301 – 400 – – – 353.00 713 –

401 – 501 472.12 250,785 16.67 464.07 689,549 67.20

The weighted average share price during the period for options exercised over the year was nil (2010: nil).

Movements in the number of awards outstanding and their related exercise prices are as follows:

Number

AES 
Weighted 

average 
exercise 
price (p) Number

UES 
Weighted 

average 
exercise 
price (p) Number

CIP 
Weighted 

average 
exercise 
price (p) Number

PSP 
Weighted 

average 
exercise 
price (p) Number

Sharesave 
Weighted 

average 
exercise 
price (p) Number

RSP 
Weighted 

average 
exercise 
price (p)

Awards outstanding 
at 1 August 2010 42,289 214.50 21,315 214.50 311,413 – 3,391,956 – 3,842,918 235.60 66,517 –

Granted 2,294,171 60.00 – – – – 200,000 – 833,885 77.00 376,337 –

Exercised/
transferred – – – – – – (10,641) – – – (15,360) –

Lapsed (26,418) 214.50 (21,315) 214.50 (153,217) – (1,110,922) – (1,933,113) 247.70 (51,157) –

Awards outstanding 
at 31 July 2011 2,310,042 61.06 – – 158,196 – 2,470,393 – 2,743,690 178.88 376,337 –

The Group recognises an expense for employee services received that is settled by the issue of equity instruments. The expense is measured by 
an independent third party with reference to the fair value of the equity instruments settled at the date of grant and is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period. 

Adjustments are made as appropriate for leavers and non market vesting conditions to the number of shares expected to vest. Demanding non 
market conditions within the non all-employee schemes mean that even in the year of grant, no expense may be recognised for services if upon 
annual evaluation they are deemed unlikely to vest.

The accounting treatment applies to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as at 1 August 2004. The total 
expense recognised in the year for these schemes was £0.7m cost (2010: £0.2m release) (See note 6).
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30 ESOP reserves
The ESOP reserve arises because Mouchel Trustee Limited holds shares in Mouchel Group plc as agent for the trustees of the Mouchel 
Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust. Also, Halifax EES Trustees International Limited holds shares in Mouchel Group plc as trustee for the 
Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust. Shares held by the ESOP trusts are available for distribution to the employees of the Group 
at the discretion of the trustees. In accordance with SIC 12, the investment in own shares arising out of ESOP trusts has been shown as a reduction 
in the reserves of the Group and is included within other reserves.

As at 31 July the shareholding in own shares were as follows:

2011 Number
Cost 

£m

Nominal 
value 

£m

Market  
value1 

£m 

Mouchel Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 374,758 0.1 – 0.2
Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 823,451 0.3 – 0.5

2010 Number
Cost 

£m

Nominal 
value 

£m

Market  
value1 

£m 

Mouchel Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 374,758 0.1 – 0.5

Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 871,523 0.3 – 1.1

1 Based on a share price on 31 July 2011 of 57.75p per ordinary share (2010: 125.00p).

Movement on ESOP reserve
Group

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

Balance at 1 August (0.4) (0.5)

Sale of shares – 0.1

Balance at 31 July (0.4) (0.4)

31 Cash generated from operations
Group

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

Loss for the year before taxation (64.8) (14.7)

Adjustments for:

– depreciation 5.7 6.5

– gross loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 13) 0.1 – 

– gross loss on disposal of intangible assets (note 12) 0.2 –

– amortisation of intangible assets  – arising from business combinations 6.4 6.8

    – software and other acquired intangibles 5.3 4.9

– impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising from business combinations 45.3 –

– share based payments cost/(credit) (excluding tax) 0.7 (0.2)

– other exceptional costs 18.1 38.4

– Loss on foreign exchange 0.4 (0.2)

– interest receivable (1.1) (0.2)

– finance costs 11.8 10.9

Changes in working capital:

– decrease in trade and other receivables including unbilled revenue (before exceptional impairment charges) 14.7 34.2

– decrease in trade and other payables (3.5) (16.1)

Cash generated from operations before exceptional items 39.3 70.3

Exceptional receipt 1.5 -

Exceptional items (23.4) (17.6)

Cash generated from operations 17.4 52.7
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31 Cash generated from operations (continued)
Receipts and payments for the Company are received or paid by other Group companies. Therefore the Company has no cash flows and as a 
result no cash flow statement has been presented.

32 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are analysed as follows:

Group Company

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

Cash and cash equivalents 47.3 45.4 – – 

Of the above cash balances, £22.8m (2010: £23.3m) is restricted by virtue of it being held within our joint ventures and the Group’s captive 
insurance company.

33 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates several occupational pension schemes for its employees. These schemes are a combination of defined benefit, defined 
contribution and third-party defined benefit schemes. 

a Schemes accounted for on a defined contribution basis 
Cash contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are recognised as pension costs in the Consolidated Income Statement and no 
asset or liability is shown on the Consolidated balance sheet.

Some employees who transferred to the Group under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations (1981) as amended 
(TUPE) remain members of their previous schemes, which are pre-funded defined benefit schemes. Where under the terms of the contracts, the 
defined benefit liability effectively remains with the transferor, the Group accounts for these schemes as defined contribution schemes. Cash 
contributions are recognised as pension costs in the Consolidated Income Statement and no asset or liability is shown on the balance sheet.

During the year, as part of its pension review, the Group looked at the number of defined contribution pension arrangements it had in place to see 
how these could be streamlined. The majority of defined contribution members were on an age related structure where the Company paid 
contributions at twice the member rate. From 1 January 2011, a new defined contribution arrangement was launched which provided matching 
contributions on a grade related basis. This resulted in a reduction in both the number of defined contribution schemes and the amount of employer 
contributions.

b Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – third-party schemes 
MBS have admitted body status in the Teesside pre-funded defined benefit scheme, as employees of MBS who were previously employed by the 
local council remain members of the Teesside Pension Fund.  Up to 31 May 2011, the assets and liabilities of this scheme were identified under 
retirement benefit obligations on the Consolidated balance sheet and disclosed as third-party schemes in section d overleaf.  From 1 June 2011, as 
part of the renegotiated extension of the associated customer contract, the pension risk now rests with the original customer (transferor) and from 
this date the Teesside Scheme has been accounted for on a defined contribution basis under a above. The curtailment gain of £1.9m, arising from 
the elimination of the accounting deficit on this scheme at 31 May 2011, has been included within exceptional items, as disclosed in note 3. 

c Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – Group schemes
The Mouchel Business Services Limited Pension Scheme (MBS), the Mouchel Superannuation Fund (MSF) and the Mouchel Staff Pension 
Scheme (MSPS) are funded defined benefit schemes and are disclosed as Group schemes in section d overleaf. For these three principal defined 
benefit schemes the future liabilities for benefits are provided for by the accumulation of assets held externally to the Group in separate, trustee-
administered funds. The cost of these schemes is determined in accordance with the advice of independent, professionally qualified actuaries on 
the basis of formal actuarial valuations using the projected unit credit method. In line with normal business practice these valuations are undertaken 
on a triennial basis.

All schemes are closed to new entrants except for employees transferring to the Group under TUPE, where the Group is required to provide 
benefits which are broadly comparable to those provided under the Local Government Pension Scheme or another defined benefit scheme 
provided by the transferring employer. The Group schemes were closed to future accrual of benefit on 31 December 2010 for all non-public sector 
members with these members being offered entry to the Group’s defined contribution schemes from 1 January 2011.

Given the membership of the schemes, under the projected unit credit method the current service cost would be expected to increase as the 
members of the scheme approach retirement. 

The date of the last full actuarial valuation for each of the schemes was March 2010.
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33 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
c Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – Group schemes continued
Liverpool 2020 Limited has admitted body status in the Merseyside pre-funded defined benefit scheme, as employees of Liverpool 2020 
Limited who were previously employed by the local council remain members of the Merseyside Pension Fund. The pricing mechanism within the 
contract allows for the pension costs to be charged to the council on an annual basis and accordingly we have accounted for this pension scheme 
on a defined contribution basis. However, there is a risk, due to external factors between the 2010 actuarial valuation and the contract end date of 
30 September 2013, that the values advised by the actuaries to be recovered from the council are insufficient and a deficit arises at the end of the 
contract that cannot be recovered from the customer.

The key assumptions used in valuing the retirement benefit obligation at the end of the year were:

2011 
%

2010 
%

Discount rate 5.4 5.4/5.4
Expected rate of increase in pensionable salaries 3.4 2.6/3.0
Expected rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.4 2.3/3.0
Expected rate of price inflation (RPI) 3.4 3.0/3.0
Expected rate of price inflation (CPI) 2.9 –

Note: Data for 2011 is for Group schemes only but for 2010 Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes

2011 
Years 

2010 
Years

Life expectancy at age 65:

– current pensioners:  male 87.2 87.1/87.2
  female 90.0 90.0/90.1
– future pensioners: male 88.2 88.1/88.1
  female 91.0 90.9/90.9

Note: Data for 2011 is for Group schemes only but for 2010 Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes

The effect of the Government’s announcement that increases in future pensions will be in line with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) rather than the 
Retail Price Index (RPI) have, where appropriate, been taken into account in the calculation of the retirement benefit obligations.

The sensitivity associated with these assumptions is as follows:

Effect on deficit

Change

MouchelGroup 
scheme 

£m

MBS Group 
scheme 

£m

Discount rate -/+ 0.1% -/+ 4.4 -/+ 1.6

Expected rate of price inflation -/+ 0.1% -/+ 3.8 -/+ 1.5

Life expectancy -/+ 1 year -/+ 6.2 -/+ 2.5

The trustees of each scheme determine the investment strategy for the assets held by the scheme, in consultation with the principal employer.

The expected return on the scheme assets in the forthcoming year is as follows:

%

Equities and diversified growth funds (‘DGF’) 8.4%

Bonds, gilts and cash 4.4%

Property 6.4%

Note: Data is for Group schemes only

Equity and DGF returns are assumed to return 4.5% above gilts in the long term. Bonds are assumed to return in line with the discount rate (5.4%) 
and gilts and liability driven investments are assumed to return at the 20 year UK gilt yield rate (3.9%) which reflects the average life of the liabilities. 
Cash is assumed to return at the Bank of England base rate (0.5%) and property at gilt yield plus a risk premium of 2.5%.
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33 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
d Defined benefit pension schemes
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

Group

Group 
schemes 

2011
£m

Third-party 
schemes 

2011
£m

Total 
2011

£m 

Total 
2010

£m

Equities and diversity growth funds 185.7 – 185.7 216.5

Bonds and gilts 84.9 – 84.9 78.7

Cash 2.5 – 2.5 7.8

Property 11.5 – 11.5 13.1

Unpaid contributions – – – (0.7)

Fair value of plan assets 284.6 – 284.6 315.4

Present value of obligations (317.4) – (317.4) (368.4)

Liability in the balance sheet (32.8) – (32.8) (53.0)

Current liability (0.7) – (0.7) (0.7)

Non-current liability (32.1) – (32.1) (52.3)

Total liability in the balance sheet as above (32.8) – (32.8) (53.0)

Movements in the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

Group 
schemes 

2011 
£m

Third-party 
schemes 

2011 
£m

Total 
2011 

£m

Total 
2010 

£m

Retirement benefit obligations at the beginning of the year (303.9) (64.5) (368.4) (328.5)

Service cost (3.2) (1.0) (4.2) (6.4)

Interest cost (16.2) (2.7) (18.9) (19.9)

Employee contributions (1.3) (0.5) (1.8) (3.1)

Past service costs 3.9 3.8 7.7 –

Benefits paid 13.0 1.3 14.3 10.9

Actuarial loss (9.7) (8.0) (17.7) (21.4)

Elimination upon settlement/curtailment of scheme – 71.6 71.6 –

Retirement benefit obligation at the end of the year (317.4) – (317.4) (368.4)

Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

Group 
schemes 

2011 
£m

Third-party 
schemes 

2011 
£m

Total 
2011 

£m

Total 
2010 

£m

Plan assets at the beginning of the year 254.9 60.5 315.4 268.2

Expected return on plan assets 16.0 3.6 19.6 19.8

Company contributions 10.5 1.1 11.6 14.5

Employee contributions 1.2 0.5 1.7 3.1

Benefits paid (13.0) (1.3) (14.3) (10.9)

Actuarial gain 15.0 5.5 20.5 20.7

Elimination upon settlement/curtailment of scheme – (69.9) (69.9) –

Plan assets at the end of the year 284.6 – 284.6 315.4
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33 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
d Defined benefit pension schemes continued

Group 
schemes 

2011 
£m

Third-party 
schemes 

2011 
£m

Total 
2011 

£m

Total 
2010 

£m

Current service cost – included in cost of sales 2.8 0.9 3.7 5.8

Current service cost – included in administrative expenses 0.4 0.1 0.5 0.6

Total current service cost 3.2 1.0 4.2 6.4

Interest cost 16.2 2.7 18.9 19.9

Expected return on plan assets (16.0) (3.6) (19.6) (19.8)

Net finance (income)/cost 0.2 (0.9) (0.7) 0.1

Total recognised in the Income Statement pre exceptional items 3.4 0.1 3.5 6.5

Settlement/curtailment gain from customer contract change – (1.9) (1.9) –

Curtailment charges charged to exceptional restructuring costs (up to 31 May 2011) – 0.2 0.2 –

Total recognised in the Income Statement 3.4 (1.6) 1.8 6.5

The principal employer, after consulting with the actuaries, has agreed with the trustees of each of the schemes appropriate recovery plans.

The expected contributions payable, based on existing funding plans and contribution rates, to the defined benefit schemes for the forthcoming 
year is £5.6m.

Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are as follows:

Group 
schemes 

2011 
£m

Third-party 
schemes 

2011 
£m

Total 
2011 

£m

Total 
2010 

£m

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 15.0 5.5 20.5 20.7

Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities 6.1 4.6 10.7 –

Past service costs recognisedon RPI to CPI change 3.9 3.8 7.7 –

Effect of changes in assumptions on the present value of scheme liabilities (15.8) (12.6) (28.4) (21.4)

Actuarial gain/(loss) 9.2 1.3 10.5 (0.7)

Deferred tax on movement in scheme deficits (2.3) (0.3) (2.6) 0.2

Total recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 6.9 1.0 7.9 (0.5)

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income total £33.9m (2010: £44.4m).

Five-year summary
The amounts recognised in the balance sheets are as follows:

 
2007 

£m
2008 

£m
2009 

£m
2010 

£m
2011 

£m

Defined benefit obligation (188.7) (308.4) (328.5) (368.4) (317.4)
Fair value of plan assets 170.7 273.8 268.2 315.4 284.6
Retirement benefit obligation (18.0) (34.6) (60.3) (53.0) (32.8)

History of experience gains:

 
2007 

£m
2008 

£m
2009 

£m
2010 

£m
2011 

£m

Experience gain/(loss) on scheme assets (£m) 3.5 (39.3) (35.6) 20.7 20.5
Percentage of scheme assets 2.0% (14.4)% (13.3)% 6.6% 7.2%
Experience (loss)/gain on scheme liabilities (£m) (0.8) (6.5) – – 10.7
Percentage of scheme liabilities 0.4% 2.1% 0.0% 0.0% (3.4)%

On 6 August 2007, the Group acquired HBS Business Services Group Limited and became responsible for its defined benefit schemes. Assets increased 
by £102.0m and the defined benefit obligation increased by £115.3m as a result giving an increase in the retirement benefit obligation of £13.3m.
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33 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
e Defined contribution schemes 
Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are between 3% and 14% for the employer and between 2% and 10% for the employee. 
Contributions are dependent on age.

The pension charge for contributions payable to the defined contribution schemes was £12.4m (2010: £9.5m).

34 Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities at 31 July 2011 in respect of guarantees and indemnities in the normal course of business totalled £15.2m (2010: £21.5m) of 
which £1.5m has been released since the year end. Much of this arises from bonds issued by our bankers in support of specific contracts and 
which can be called at any time by the client who would ordinarily do so in the event of our poor contractual performance. No such calls were made 
during the year. No reimbursement would be expected if calls were made. 

In addition, bank overdrafts of subsidiaries were guaranteed at 31 July 2011 up to £0.2m (2010: £0.3m); the amount overdrawn at that date being 
£nil (2010: £nil). These overdrafts are unsecured.

The Company and various of its subsidiaries are, from time to time, parties to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of 
business. Provisions are maintained by the Group having regard to the size and nature of the claims and the Group’s best estimate of the likely 
settlement. The Directors do not believe that the outcome of these proceedings, actions and claims, either individually or in aggregate, will have a 
materially adverse effect upon the Group’s financial position.

The Group’s liabilities under the revolving credit facility detailed in note 20 is guaranteed, on a joint and several basis, by Mouchel Group plc, 
Mouchel Finance Limited, Mouchel Limited, Mouchel Ewan Limited, Mouchel Rail Limited, Mouchel Traffic Support Limited, Mouchel Holdings 
Limited, Mouchel Business Services Limited and Mouchel Management Consulting Limited.

35 Post-balance sheet events
Disposals
On 19 October 2011 the Group announced the disposal of the business and assets of Mouchel Rail, the UK-based provider of multi-disciplinary 
design, consultancy and project management services to the rail industry, to Sinclair Knight Merz (“SKM”).SKM paid £3.4m in cash to the group at 
completion, and the Group will retain net realisable assets (principally trade receivables and unbilled revenue) of a further £2.5m.  SKM will assist 
the group in the collection of Mouchel Rail’s trade receivable and unbilled revenue, and will receive a 5 per cent. administration fee on all unbilled 
revenue collected. The Group has also committed to fund certain work in respect of future project commitments under one contract up to a 
maximum of £0.75m, and expects that this will be recoverable upon completion of that contract. The transaction was completed on 31 October 
2011 upon the satisfaction of certain conditions relating to key employees and clients. Proceeds from the sale will be used to repay a portion of the 
group’s debt. For the year ended 31 July 2011, Mouchel Rail reported external revenue of £12.5m and underlying operating profit of £0.4m. This 
disposal business is reported within the Regulated Industries segment in note 2.

On 21 October 2011 the Group announced the disposal of its pipeline design business, the UK-based provider of design and project services to the 
gas engineering and wider energy markets, to Mott MacDonald Limited (“Mott MacDonald”). Mott MacDonald paid initial consideration of 
approximately £2.6m in cash for the share capital of Mouchel Energy Limited, a new company set up for the purpose of the disposal.  The 
transaction is also subject to post-completion adjustments (relating to certain net asset and unbilled revenue items), but for which additional cash 
consideration payable to the group under such adjustments is capped in aggregate at approximately £0.9m. The proceeds from the sale will be 
used to repay a portion of the group’s debt. For the year ended 31 July 2011, the pipeline design business reported external revenue of £3.8m and 
an underlying operating loss of £0.3m. This disposal business is reported within the Regulated Industries segment in note 2.

Bank Facilities 
On 29th November 2011 the company agreed amendments to the terms of its principal banking facilities which expire on 31 March 2014. These 
amendments are disclosed in note 20.
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36 Related party transactions
Group
The following transactions were undertaken with the joint venture entities to which the Group is party:

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

Sales to joint venture entities 21.1 20.9

Purchases from joint venture entities 0.5 0.8

Net amount due to the Group at the year-end 4.2 5.5

Loans to related parties:

2011 
£m

2010 
£m

Balance at 1 August 1.2 1.0

Loans advanced during the year 6.6 2.9

Loan repayments received (7.8) (2.7)

Balance at 31 July - 1.2

The loans to related parties are to joint venture companies.

The Group made contributions of £11.6m (2010: £14.5m) to the defined benefit pension schemes during the year.

No expense has been recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from any joint ventures in the year ended 31 July 2011 (2010: £nil) and no 
amount has been provided in relation to amounts outstanding at the year-end (2010: £nil).

Key management compensation is disclosed in note 6.

Company
During the year, the Company sold £nil (2010: £nil) worth of goods and services to subsidiaries. At the year-end, the Company owed £8.2m (2010: 
£7.1m) to subsidiary undertakings and was owed £59.0m (2010: £58.2m) by subsidiary undertakings. Loan notes are disclosed in note 21.

37 Corporate information
The Consolidated Financial Statements of Mouchel Group plc for the year ended 31 July 2011 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors on 29 November 2011. Mouchel Group plc is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales whose shares 
are publicly traded on the London Stock Exchange. Mouchel Group plc is domiciled in the UK.



103Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011

Five-YeAR FinAnCiAL SuMMARY      

Summarised Group Income Statement for the year ended 31 July
20072  

£m
20083  

£m 
20094  

£m 
20105 

£m 
20116  

£m

Underlying revenue 448.4 656.7 740.6 632.6 539.6
Exceptional revenue - - - - 11.8
Total group revenue 448.4 656.7 740.6 632.6 551.4

Underlying operating profit 33.0 41.7 47.3 41.2 15.7
Exceptional items (net) 15.7 (12.4) (53.5) (45.2) (62.6)
Profit before interest and tax 48.7 29.3 (6.2) (4.0) (46.9)
Net finance income/(costs) (0.6) (3.0) (7.3) (10.7) (17.9)
Profit/(loss) before tax 48.1 26.3 (13.5) (14.7) (64.8)

Underlying operating margin1 7.4% 6.4% 6.4% 6.5% 2.9%
Effective tax rate1 29.0% 26.7% 26.0% 30.4% 112.0%
Adjusted earnings/(loss) per share1 21.0p 25.7p 26.4p 18.9p (0.5)p
Basic earnings/(loss) per share1 31.5p 17.9p (11.7)p (12.1)p (61.7)p

Summarised Group balance sheet as at 31 July
20072  

£m
20083  

£m 
20094  

£m 
20105 

£m 
2011  

£m

Non-current assets 107.5 230.0 223.8 213.2 142.4
Current assets 141.4 219.2 235.4 186.5 168.1
Current liabilities (111.1) (133.7) (140.4) (153.1) (275.9)
Non-current liabilities (27.5) (196.5) (251.6) (202.6) (48.9)
Total equity 110.3 119.0 67.2 44.0 (14.3)

1 Underlying operating profit, underlying profit before tax, underlying operating margins, effective tax rate and adjusted earnings per share all exclude those items which 
the Group presents as exceptional items in the accounts – see note 3 of the Financial Statements for full details. Exceptional items include charges for the annual 
amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations of £2.4m in 2007, £5.7m in 2008, £7.4m in 2009, £6.8m in 2010, and £6.4m in 2011

2 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2007 included a net gain arising on 
retirement benefit changes of £18.2m

3 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, there were further exceptional costs of £6.8m in 2008. 
These costs principally comprised integration and transition costs arising as a result of acquisitions. The integration of the acquired companies resulted in a small number 
of staff redundancies, the closure of a loss making business and other transition costs

4 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2009 included impairment of goodwill 
and intangible assets arising from business combinations of £17.1m. A further £32.9m was incurred in respect of restructuring costs and asset impairment charges. The 
Group completed the sale of its freehold property in the year, giving rise to a net exceptional gain of £3.8m

5 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2010 included £37.8m in respect of 
restructuring costs and asset impairment charges and £0.7m in respect of bid defence costs arising from the unsolicited approach from VT Group plc

6 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2011 included impairment of goodwill 
and intangible assets arising from business combinations of £45.3m. A further £18.1m of exceptional items were incurred, which is disclosed in note 3
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E-communications
As an alternative to receiving documents through the post, Mouchel offers shareholders the option to receive communications from the Company 
electronically.

Please register with www.shareview.com and follow the instructions on screen.

If you require assistance with Shareview, please contact our Registrars, Equiniti, on 0845 300 0430.

ShareGift
If you hold only a few shares and feel that it would be uneconomical or not worthwhile to sell them, you could consider giving them to charity. 
ShareGift is a free service for shareholders wishing to give small holdings of shares to charitable causes. There are no capital gains tax implications 
on gifts of shares to charity and it is also possible to obtain income tax relief.

Further information can be obtained at www.sharegift.org or from our Registrars, Equiniti.

Duplicate accounts
If you receive two or more copies of the Annual Report and Accounts and/or multiple cheques for each dividend payment, it means that you have 
more than one shareholder account.

To receive just one Annual Report and Accounts and one cheque for each dividend payment, please contact Equiniti on 0845 300 0430 and ask for 
your accounts to be amalgamated.

Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
Single Company ISAs (both Maxi and Mini) for Mouchel are available from Equiniti. Further information and brochures may be obtained by calling 
0870 600 3970.

Unsolicited investment advice
Be wary if you receive unsolicited phone calls regarding your Mouchel shares. While some communications may be genuine, others may be an 
example of a ‘boiler room fraud’ specifically designed to elicit monies from you by convincing you to buy overpriced, untradable or non-existent 
shares.

To reduce the potential risk of fraud happening to you, please consider the following:

•	If you are buying or selling shares, only deal with brokers registered in the UK.

•	Ensure all your certificates are kept in a safe place.

•	Keep all correspondence from the Registrars which contains your shareholder reference number in a safe place. Destroy correspondence by 
shredding.

•	If you change your address inform the Registrars. If you receive a letter from the Registrars regarding a change of address and have not recently 
moved house, please contact them immediately. You may be the victim of identity theft.

•	Know when the dividends are paid. Consider having your dividend paid directly into your bank to reduce the risk of cheques being intercepted or 
lost in the post. If you change your bank account, inform the Registrar of the details of your new account. Respond to any letters the Registrar 
sends you about this.

SHAReHoLDeR inFoRMAtion            
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